RUSS BERRIE & CO INC Form DEF 14A June 13, 2008

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549 SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant p Filed by a Party other than the Registrant o Check the appropriate box:

- o Preliminary Proxy Statement
- o Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
- b Definitive Proxy Statement
- o Definitive Additional Materials
- o Soliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

Russ Berrie and Company, Inc.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

- b No fee required.
- Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
 - (1) Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
 - (2) Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
 - (3) Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
 - (4) Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
 - (5) Total fee paid:

•	Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.					
•	Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing. (1) Amount Previously Paid:					
	(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:					
	(3) Filing Party:					
	(4) Date Filed:					
	Persons who are to respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays a currently valid OMB control number.					

Table of Contents

RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC. 111 Bauer Drive Oakland, New Jersey 07436

June 12, 2008

Dear Shareholder:

It is my pleasure, on behalf of your Board of Directors, to extend to you a cordial invitation to attend our Annual Meeting of Shareholders, which will be held this year at the Company s corporate headquarters, 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey, at 10:00 a.m. on Thursday, July 10, 2008.

At the meeting, shareholders will be asked: (i) to elect eight directors, (ii) to approve the Company s Equity Incentive Plan, (iii) to approve the Company s 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and (iv) to transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

I look forward to greeting you at the meeting. Whether or not you expect to attend, I urge you to sign and return your proxy card immediately.

Sincerely,

RAPHAEL BENAROYA

Chairman of the Board of Directors

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SOME QUESTIONS YOU MAY HAVE REGARDING THIS PROXY STATEMENT

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

2007 GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

NON-EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN AWARDS

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND CHANGE-IN-CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS

2007 OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR END

2007 OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

2007 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

PROPOSAL 2 APPROVAL OF THE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

DESCRIPTION OF EI PLAN

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE EI PLAN

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN THE EI PLAN

PROPOSAL 3 APPROVAL OF THE 2009 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2009 ESPP

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE 2009 ESPP

INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN THE 2009 ESPP

NEW PLAN BENEFITS

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX B

RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC. 111 Bauer Drive Oakland, New Jersey 07436 NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS To Be Held Thursday, July 10, 2008

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. (the Company) will be held this year at the Company s corporate headquarters, 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey, on Thursday, July 10, 2008, at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

- 1. To elect eight directors to serve until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders and until their successors shall have been elected and qualified;
- 2. To approve the Company s Equity Incentive Plan;
- 3. To approve the Company s 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan; and
- 4. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on May 16, 2008 are entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MARC S. GOLDFARB

Corporate Secretary

Oakland, New Jersey

June 12, 2008

Please complete, date, sign and promptly return your proxy card in the enclosed envelope.

RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC. 111 Bauer Drive

Oakland, New Jersey 07436 PROXY STATEMENT

dated June 12, 2008

This Proxy Statement and the form of proxy will be mailed to shareholders on or about June 12, 2008. This Proxy Statement pertains to the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. (the Company), which will be held this year at the Company s corporate headquarters, 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey, on Thursday, July 10, 2008, at 10:00 a.m.

Some Questions You May Have Regarding this Proxy Statement

Q. Why am I receiving these materials?

A. This Proxy Statement and the enclosed proxy card are being furnished in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors (Board) of the Company of proxies for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company to be held on Thursday, July 10, 2008, at 10:00 a.m. (the 2008 Meeting), at the Company's corporate headquarters, 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey, 07436, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

Q. Who may vote at the meeting?

A. Shareholders of record at the close of business on May 16, 2008 will be entitled to one vote for each share of common stock of the Company, stated value \$0.10 per share (Common Stock), they then held on all matters to come before the meeting or any adjournments thereof. There were outstanding on that date 21,299,643 shares of Common Stock. The Company has no other class of stock outstanding.

Q. What proposals will be voted on at the meeting?

- A. There are three Company proposals to be considered and voted on at the meeting:
- (1) To elect eight directors to the Board, each to serve until the next annual meeting of shareholders and until his or her successor is elected and qualified (Proposal 1);
- (2) To approve the Company s new Equity Incentive Plan, which if approved by the shareholders at the 2008 Meeting will become effective as of the date of the 2008 Meeting (Proposal 2); and
- (3) To approve the Company s new 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which if approved by the shareholders at the 2008 Meeting will become effective January 1, 2009 (Proposal 3).

We will also consider other business that properly comes before the meeting in accordance with New Jersey law and our Bylaws.

O. How does the Board recommend I vote?

A. Please see the information included in this Proxy Statement relating to the proposals to be voted on. Our Board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees to the Board and FOR each of the other proposals set forth herein.

Q. What happens if additional matters are presented at the annual meeting?

A.

The Board knows of no business to be presented at the 2008 Meeting other than that set forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders. However, if other matters properly come before the meeting, or any adjournment thereof, the holders of the proxies intend to use their discretionary authority to vote the proxies in accordance with their best judgment on such matters.

1

Table of Contents

O. How do I vote?

A. If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, Registrar & Transfer Company, you are considered a shareholder of record, or record holder with respect to those shares, and the proxy materials and proxy card are being sent directly to you by the Company. To vote at the meeting, please bring the enclosed proxy card, or vote using the ballot provided at the meeting.

If you hold your shares through a stockbroker, bank or other nominee rather than directly in your own name, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, and the proxy materials are being forwarded to you by such nominee together with a voting instruction card. The organization holding your shares is considered the record holder for purposes of voting at the 2008 Meeting. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker or other nominee on how to vote your shares using the voting instruction card. To vote at the meeting, beneficial owners will need to contact the broker, trustee or nominee that holds their shares to obtain appropriate instructions and a valid proxy from such record holder.

Please carefully consider the information contained in this proxy statement and, whether or not you plan to attend the meeting, complete, date, sign and return the accompanying proxy card promptly so that we can be assured of having a quorum present at the meeting and so that your shares may be voted in accordance with your wishes even if you later decide not to attend the annual meeting.

Q. What constitutes a quorum, and why is a quorum required?

A. A quorum is required for the Company shareholders to conduct business at the meeting. The presence at the meeting, in person or by proxy, of the *holders of a majority of the shares entitled to vote at the 2008 Meeting will constitute a quorum*, permitting us to conduct the business of the meeting.

Q. How are directors elected?

A. Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast by holders of shares entitled to vote thereon at the 2008 Meeting (in person or by proxy). Only shares that are voted in favor of a particular nominee will be counted toward such nominee s achievement of a plurality. Shares present at the meeting that are not voted for a particular nominee or shares present by proxy where the shareholder properly withheld authority to vote for such nominee (including broker non-votes, see below) will not be counted toward such nominee s achievement of a plurality, but will be counted for quorum purposes.

Q. What vote is required to approve (i) the Equity Incentive Plan and (ii) the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan?

A. The affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by holders of shares entitled to vote thereon at the 2008 Meeting (in person or by proxy) is required for approval of each of the Equity Incentive Plan and the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. See below for a discussion of the effect of abstentions and broker non-votes.

Q. How are other matters decided?

A. In general, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast by holders of shares entitled to vote thereon at the 2008 Meeting (in person or by proxy) is required for a particular matter to be deemed an act of the shareholders. For certain corporate actions, New Jersey law may require a greater percentage of affirmative votes in order to be effective.

Q. What if I don t vote or abstain? How are broker non-votes counted?

A. *Broker Non-Votes*: If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by another nominee, you are considered the beneficial owner of shares held in street name, and these proxy materials are being forwarded to you by your broker or nominee (the record holder) along with a voting instruction card. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your record holder how to vote your shares, and the record holder is required to vote your shares in accordance with your instructions. A broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner does not vote on a particular proposal because the nominee has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner and does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that

2

Table of Contents

matter. Under NYSE rules, brokers or other nominees may exercise discretionary voting power with respect to the election of directors, but may not exercise discretionary voting power on certain matters, including the authorization of the Equity Incentive Plan and the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan described in detail in Proposal 2 and Proposal 3 herein.

Effect of Abstentions and Broker Non-Votes: If your shares are treated as an abstention or broker non-vote, your shares will be included in the number of shares represented for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. However, abstentions and broker non-votes will not be considered in determining the number of votes cast in connection with non-discretionary matters. Therefore, with respect to any matter requiring the approval of the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the same effect as a vote against the matter, and, with respect to the election of directors, abstentions and broker non-votes will be excluded when calculating the number of votes cast on the matter.

Q. If my shares are held in street name by my broker, will my broker vote my shares for me?

A. Your broker will vote your shares only if the proposal is a matter on which your broker has discretion to vote (such as the election of directors, but not the equity plans discussed in Proposals 2 and 3 hereof), or if you provide instructions on how to vote by following the instructions provided to you by your broker.

Q. Can I revoke my vote after I have delivered my proxy?

A. Yes. An executed proxy may be revoked at any time by written notification to the Corporate Secretary of the Company at the Company's corporate headquarters if such notice is actually received by the Corporate Secretary before such proxy is exercised, by signing a later-dated proxy card that is actually received prior to the meeting, or by attending and voting at the meeting in person. Remember that if you are a beneficial owner of shares, you may not vote your shares in person at the 2008 Meeting unless you request and obtain a valid proxy from your broker, bank or other nominee. Proxies in the accompanying form which are properly executed by shareholders, duly returned to the Company and not revoked will be voted in the manner specified. If no specification is indicated, the proxy will be voted FOR the nominees for director named in this Proxy Statement, FOR the approval of each of the Company's Equity Incentive Plan and 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and in accordance with the discretion of the proxy holders on any other matters properly presented at the 2008 Meeting.

Q. Who will count the votes?

A. A representative of our transfer agent will judge voting, be responsible for determining whether or not a quorum is present and tabulate votes cast by proxy or in person at the 2008 Meeting.

Q. Who will bear the cost of soliciting votes for the meeting?

A. The cost of solicitation will be borne directly by the Company.

Q. Whom should I call with other questions?

A. If you have additional questions about this Proxy Statement or the 2008 Meeting or would like additional copies of this document or our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as amended, please contact: Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07426, Attention: General Counsel, Telephone: (201) 337-9000.

This proxy statement is accompanied by the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, as amended (the 2007 10-K), including financial statements and financial statement

schedules, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), but excluding exhibits. Exhibits to the 2007 10-K will be provided upon request and payment of the Company's reasonable expenses in connection therewith. Any such request should be addressed to the Company at 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

3

PROPOSAL 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our current Bylaws permit the Board to have no fewer than three and no more than nine directors, and the Board has resolved to set the number of directors of the Company at eight. Our Board currently consists of eight members, including two Prentice Directors and two Laminar Directors (each as defined below). Each of the current members of the Board has been nominated for election at the 2008 Meeting to hold office until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders and until their respective successors are elected and qualified.

As of August 9, 2006, investment entities and accounts managed and advised by Prentice Capital Management, L.P. (Prentice) purchased 4,399,733 shares of the Common Stock of the Company from The Russell Berrie Foundation (the Foundation), pursuant to a share purchase agreement with the Foundation. Also as of August 9, 2006, D. E. Shaw Laminar Portfolios, L.L.C. (Laminar) purchased 4,399,733 shares of Common Stock from the Foundation pursuant to a share purchase agreement with the Foundation. The total of 8,799,466 shares of Common Stock purchased by the Prentice entities and Laminar as described above (collectively, the Purchases), represent approximately 41% of the Company soutstanding shares of Common Stock. The Company was not a party to either share purchase agreement nor did it receive any of the proceeds from the Purchases.

In connection with the Purchases, as of August 10, 2006, the Company entered into an Investors Rights Agreement (as amended, the IRA), with Prentice Capital Partners, LP, Prentice Capital Partners QP, LP, Prentice Capital Offshore, Ltd., GPC XLIII, LLC, S.A.C. Capital Associates, LLC, PEC I, LLC, Prentice Special Opportunities Master, L.P. and Prentice Special Opportunities, LP (collectively, the Prentice Buyers) and Laminar. Pursuant to the IRA, and subject to the limitations set forth therein, the Company has generally agreed, among other things, to nominate for election with respect to all stockholders meetings or consents concerning the election of members of the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board), two persons designated by Prentice (Prentice Directors), and two persons designated by Laminar (Laminar Directors), provided, that the number of Prentice Directors and Laminar Directors shall be decreased as set forth in the IRA if the number of shares of Common Stock held by Prentice or Laminar, as applicable, decreases to specified levels set forth therein; and provided further, that at any time that Prentice shall have the right to designate more than one Prentice Director, at least one of such designees shall be an Independent Director, and at any time that Laminar shall have the right to designate more than one Laminar Director, at least one of such designees shall be an Independent Director (defined generally as (i) independent for purposes of the governance rules of the New York Stock Exchange and (ii) independent under such rules if Prentice and Laminar were the listed company with respect to which independence is being determined). The Company has waived the requirement set forth in clause (ii) above for Laminar until February 2008 and for Prentice during a portion of 2007 and for 2008. Messrs. Zimmerman and Ciampi are the current Prentice Directors; and Mr. Schaefer and Ms. Krueger are the current Laminar Directors.

The election of directors requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a plurality of the shares of Common Stock voting at the meeting. It is intended that proxies in the accompanying form which do not withhold the authority to vote for any or all of the nominees will be voted for the election as directors of all of the persons named below. All of the persons named below are currently directors of the Company. Messrs. Zimmerman and Ciampi were recommended by Prentice to be the Prentice Directors; and Mr. Schaefer and Ms. Krueger were recommended by Laminar to be the Laminar Directors. Mr. Daniel Posner was a Laminar Director during 2007, but resigned from the Board as of February 14, 2008. Subject to the terms of the IRA, should any nominee become unable or unwilling to serve as a director, the proxies will be voted in favor of the remainder of those named and may be voted for substitute nominees nominated by the Board in place of those who are not candidates. At this time, the Board knows of no reason why any nominee might not be a candidate at the 2008 Meeting.

4

Table of Contents

The information set forth below concerning the nominees has been furnished by them to the Company. Age and other information is as of May 30, 2008.

Name Raphael Benaroya(2)(4)	Age 60	Director Since 1993	Principal Occupation; Other Public Directorships* Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of United Retail Group, Inc., which operates a chain of retail specialty stores, from 1989 until its sale in October 2007 to Redcats USA, a division of PPR, a French public company, and continued as President and Chief Executive Officer thereafter until March 2008. Since April 1, 2008, Mr. Benaroya has been acting as a consultant for D. E. Shaw & Co., L.P., which is an affiliate and investment advisor of Laminar, a private investment fund, relating to certain of Laminar s portfolio companies.(7) Mr. Benaroya is also Managing Director of American Licensing Group, L.P., a company specializing in consumer goods brand name licensing, and a member of the Board of Managers of Biltmore Capital, a financial company which invests in secured debt.
Mario Ciampi (1)	47	2007	Mr. Ciampi is currently a partner of Prentice(7), a New York-based private investment firm. From October 2004 to May 2006, he served as President of Disney Store North America, a division of The Children's Place Retail Stores, Inc., a specialty retailer of children's merchandise. From 1996 to September 2004, he served in various capacities for The Children's Place, most recently as Senior Vice President Operations. Mr. Ciampi was elected to the Board of the Company at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
Bruce G. Crain(4)(5)	47	2007	As of December 4, 2007, Mr. Crain became President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Also as of such date, pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company, Mr. Crain was duly elected to the Board to fill the vacancy created by the retirement of Mr. Gatto. Since March 2007 until such appointment, Mr. Crain had provided consulting services to the Company. Previously, Mr. Crain served in various executive capacities for Blyth, Inc., a NYSE-listed multi-channel designer and marketer of home decor and gift products, from 1997 to September 2006, including Senior Vice President (Corporate) from 2002 to 2006, a member of the Chairman's Office Executive Committee from 2004 to 2006, Group President of the worldwide Wholesale Group segment from 2004 to 2006, President of the Home Fragrance Group from 2002 to 2004 and President of the European Affiliate Group from 1999 to 2001.

Name Frederick J. Horowitz(1)(3)	Age 44	Director Since 2006	Principal Occupation; Other Public Directorships* Since 2001, Mr. Horowitz has been the Chairman and CEO of A.P. Deauville, a value brand personal care company. Mr. Horowitz was elected to the Board of the Company on June 29, 2006.
Lauren Krueger (1)(2)(4)	33	2006	Ms. Krueger joined the D. E. Shaw group in 2003, and since 2006, has served as a vice president in D. E. Shaw group s credit-related opportunities unit, and a vice president of D. E. Shaw & Co., L.P., which is an affiliate and investment advisor of Laminar.(7) Ms. Krueger was an associate in the restructuring group at Lazard Freres & Co. LLC, an investment bank, from 2002 to 2003. Ms. Krueger was elected to the Board of the Company on October 5, 2006. Ms. Krueger also serves as a director of The Parent Company, a commerce (toys, baby products and electronics), content and new media company for growing families, which is controlled by Laminar, and The Boyds Collection, Ltd., a manufacturer of gifts and collectibles, also controlled by Laminar.
Salvatore M. Salibello(2)(3)	62	2006	Mr. Salibello founded Salibello & Broder LLP, a certified public accounting firm, in 1978, and is currently the firm s managing partner. He is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the New York State Society of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Salibello currently sits on the Board of Directors of three closed-end mutual funds (Gabelli Dividend and Income Trust Fund, Gabelli Global Utility and Income Trust, and Gabelli Global Gold Nat 1 Rest. Inc. Trust). Mr. Salibello was elected to the Board of the Company on June 29, 2006.
John Schaefer (3)	49	2008	From December 2007 to the present, Mr. Schaefer has been a board member and special consultant to the Board of Pierre Foods, Inc., a producer of food and bakery products. From February 1998 through April 2007, Mr. Schaefer has held various positions, including that of President and Chief Executive Officer (April 2005 April 2007), President, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Director (July 2004 to April 2005), and Chief Financial Officer (April 2001 July 2004), with Cornerstone Brands, Inc., a family of catalog companies for the home, leisure and casual apparel, including Ballard Designs, Frontgate, Garnet Hill, Improvements, and Smith+Noble. Prior thereto, he was Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Eastbay, Inc. (August 1992 - February 1998), a direct marketer of athletic footwear and apparel. Mr. Schaefer is also a director of The Parent Company, a commerce (toys, baby products

Name	Age	Director Since	Principal Occupation; Other Public Directorships*
Michael Zimmerman(2)(4)	38	2006	and electronics), content and new media company for growing families, which is controlled by Laminar(7). Mr. Schaefer became a member of the Board of the Company on February 14, 2008. Mr. Zimmerman founded Prentice (7) in May 2005 and has been its Chief Executive Officer since its inception. Prior thereto, he managed investments in the retail consumer sector for S.A.C. Capital, a Connecticut-based hedge fund, from 2002-2005. Mr. Zimmerman also serves as a director of The Wetseal, Inc., a national specialty retailer of contemporary apparel and accessory items. Mr. Zimmerman was elected to the Board of the Company on October 5, 2006.

- * The directorships listed with respect to Mr. Benaroya are with privately-held companies.
- Member of
 Compensation
 Committee of the Board.
- (2) Member of Nominating/Governance Committee of the Board.
- (3) Member of Audit Committee of the Board.
- (4) Member of the Executive Committee of the Board. Mr. Crain is an ex officio member of this committee.
- (5) Member of the Executive Management Committee. This committee provides the Chief Executive Officer with a platform to discuss and receive input with respect to business strategies, product development, sourcing of products and other matters related to

the affairs of the Company.

- (6) In accordance with the employment agreement between the Company and Mr. Crain, Mr. Crain may terminate his employment with the Company for good reason for any failure to nominate him as a member of the Board during his employment under such agreement.
- (7) See Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners table herein.

7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

I. Independence Determinations

The Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) undertakes a review of director independence each year, and conducted such a review in February 2008 (the February Review). During the February Review, the Board considered transactions and relationships between (i) each then-director, entities with which such director is affiliated and/or any member of such director s immediate family and (ii) the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The purpose of this review was to determine whether any such relationships or transactions were inconsistent with a determination that such director is independent in accordance with applicable rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange (the NYSE), applicable law, and the rules and regulations of the SEC. The Board based its determinations primarily on a review of the responses of such persons to questions regarding employment and compensation history, affiliations and family and other relationships between the Company, the directors, and entities with which such directors are affiliated, discussions and analyses with respect to the foregoing, and the recommendations of the Nominating/Governance Committee.

As a result of the February Review and similar reviews conducted prior thereto, the Board affirmatively determined that all persons who served as directors of the Company during any part of the 2007 calendar year, and all nominees for director set forth herein, were and are independent for purposes of Section 303A of the Listed Company Manual of the NYSE, with the exception of Bruce Crain and, while he remained a member of the Board, Andrew Gatto (who resigned as a member of the Board as of December 3, 2007). Each current member of the Company s Compensation Committee, Nominating/Governance Committee and Audit Committee is independent is accordance with such standards as well. Mr. Crain is not independent as a result of his employment as President and CEO of the Company prior to Mr. Gatto was not independent as a result of his employment as President and CEO of the Company prior to Mr. Crain.

In determining that each of the other directors and nominees is or was (for the period that such individual was a director) independent, in addition to confirming that none of the automatic disqualifications required by the NYSE are (or were) applicable to such directors, the Board also affirmatively determined that each such person has (or had) no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries. In making these determinations, the NYSE has noted that as its concern is independence from management, it does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an independence finding. Note also that as the Purchases were consummated in August of 2006, relationships with the Foundation and/or other Berrie entities were relevant in 2007 only for the NYSE automatic disqualifications (which in certain instances have a 3-year look back period). As stated above, none of the automatic disqualifications were applicable to any individuals who were directors during 2007 or any current nominees. Certain directors and nominees have relationships with other directors and/or stockholders of the Company and the Company from time to time has relationships with entities with which certain of such persons are affiliated. All such relationships were considered by the Board in making its independence determinations, whether or not expressly prohibited by the NYSE.

The Board's specific determinations with respect to material relationships for each individual who was a director at any time during 2007 (for such period that such individual was a director, as applicable) and all nominees, are set forth below. Mr. Weston is not included in the following analysis because he retired from the Board effective January 2, 2007, the first business day of such year.

Mr. Benaroya (*current director and nominee*): Relevant Facts: Chairman, President and CEO of United Retail Group, Inc. (United Retail) until its sale in October of 2007, continuing as President and Chief Executive Officer thereof until March 2008. United Retail is an occasional customer of the Company. Since April 1, 2008, Mr. Benaroya has been acting as a consultant for D. E. Shaw & Co., L.P., which is an affiliate and investment advisor of Laminar.

Determination: Due to the insignificant amount of Company inventory purchased by United Retail, this relationship was deemed immaterial. Mr. Benaroya s relationship with D. E. Shaw does not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). In connection with his acting as a consultant of an affiliate of Laminar, which owns approximately 20% of the Company s outstanding stock and is a party to the IRA, he may be deemed to have an indirect relationship with the Company, but as the NYSE does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an

8

Table of Contents

independence finding, the Board determined that Mr. Benaroya s position with D. E. Shaw did not affect its determination that he is independent.

Mr. Ciampi (current director, Prentice designee and nominee): Relevant Facts: Mr. Ciampi is a partner of Prentice. Determination: Mr. Ciampi s relationship with Prentice does not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). As a partner of Prentice, which owns approximately 20% of the Company s outstanding stock and is a party to the IRA, he may be deemed to have an indirect relationship with the Company, but as the NYSE does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an independence finding, the Board determined that Mr. Ciampi s position with Prentice did not affect its determination that he is independent.

Mr. Epstein (director until May 18, 2007): Relevant Facts: Messrs. Epstein and Klatskin and Ms. Berrie serve on the board of the same not-for-profit nursing home, to which members of the Berrie family and the Foundation contribute funds.

Determination: This is not a direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). In addition, the Purchases were consummated in August of 2006. As a result, Mr. Epstein was deemed independent.

Mr. Horowitz (current director and nominee): As Mr. Horowitz has no direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group), he was deemed independent.

Mr. Klatskin (*director until May 18, 2007*): Relevant Facts: Mr. Klatskin is on the board of the not-for-profit nursing home discussed above with Mr. Epstein and Ms. Berrie. From time to time, Mr. Klatskin or his firm acts as a real estate broker with respect to additional space for the Company or the renewal of leases. In addition, in November 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with Klatskin Associates, pursuant to which Klatskin Associates acts as the exclusive broker for the sublease of certain property leased by the Company in Cranbury, New Jersey. Mr. Klatskin is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Klatskin Associates.

Determination: As (i) the not-for-profit relationship is not a direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and (a) the Company has no parents in a consolidated group, and (b) the Purchases were consummated in August of 2006) and (ii) neither Mr. Klatskin (nor any of his affiliated firms) has received compensation for acting as a broker in at least the last several years (including under the November 2005 Agreement), these relationships were deemed irrelevant and immaterial, respectively, and Mr. Klatskin was deemed independent.

Mr. Kling (director until May 18, 2007): As Mr. Kling had no direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group), he was deemed independent.

Ms. Krueger (*current director; Laminar designee and nominee*): Relevant Facts: Ms. Krueger is a vice president of D. E. Shaw group s credit-related opportunities unit and a vice president of D. E. Shaw & Co. LP, which is an affiliate and investment advisor of Laminar.

Determination: Ms. Krueger s relationship with the D. E. Shaw entities does not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). As an officer of an affiliate of Laminar, which owns approximately 20% of the Company s outstanding stock and is a party to the IRA, she may be deemed to have an indirect relationship with the Company, but as the NYSE does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an independence finding, the Board determined that Ms. Krueger s position with the D. E. Shaw entities did not affect its determination that she is independent.

Mr. Landman (*director until June 7*, 2007): Relevant Facts: One of the Berrie family trusts holds illiquid minority investments in vehicles in which Mr. Landman serves as general partner; the Company pays insurance premiums with respect to one of its former executive officers, and CMS Companies (of which Mr. Landman is an executive) was the broker for such insurance coverage.

9

Table of Contents

Determination: (i) the relationship between the Berrie family trusts and Mr. Landman is not a direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and (a) the Company has no parents in a consolidated group, and (b) the Purchases were consummated in August 2006), and (ii) with respect to the insurance brokerage, as a result of its indirect nature (the Company did not pay any brokers fees) and the fact that the amount of fees is insignificant, Mr. Landman was deemed independent.

Mr. Posner (*director until February 14, 2008*): Relevant Facts: Mr. Posner is managing director of D. E. Shaw & Co. LP, which is an affiliate and investment advisor of Laminar, and an employee of D. E. Shaw & Co., the sole managing member of Laminar.

Determination: Mr. Posner s relationship with the D. E. Shaw entities did not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). As an officer of an affiliate of Laminar, which owns approximately 20% of the Company s outstanding stock and is a party to the IRA, he may be deemed to have an indirect relationship with the Company, but as the NYSE does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an independence finding, the Board determined that Mr. Posner s position with the D. E. Shaw entities did not affect its determination that he is independent.

Mr. Salibello (*current director and nominee*): As Mr. Salibello has no direct or indirect relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group), he was deemed independent.

Mr. Schaefer (current director; Laminar designee and nominee): Relevant Facts: Mr. Schaefer serves on the board of directors of a company controlled by Laminar.

Determination: As his relationship with the affiliate of Laminar is not a relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group), he has no direct relationship with the Company. In addition, as only a director of an affiliate of Laminar, he was deemed independent.

Mr. Wahle (director and Prentice designee until May 18, 2007): Relevant Facts: his firm (Wahle Enterprises) had a consulting agreement with Prentice pursuant to which he was nominated as a Prentice Director (such agreement terminated effective January 31, 2007). Mr. Wahle was also president of a significant customer of the Company from 2002-2004.

Determination: Mr. Wahle s previous relationship with the customer did not constitute a relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). Mr. Wahle s relationship with Prentice did not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries. In addition, the Board determined that Mr. Wahle s position with Prentice did not affect its determination that he was independent.

Mr. Zimmerman (current director; Prentice designee; nominee): Relevant Facts: Mr. Zimmerman is the Managing Member of the general partner of Prentice and the Chief Executive Officer of Prentice. According to the Prentice Schedule 13D (defined in footnote (1) to the Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners chart herein), Mr. Zimmerman may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of the shares of Common Stock purchased by the Prentice Buyers (although he disclaims beneficial ownership of such shares).

Determination: Mr. Zimmerman s relationship with Prentice does not constitute a direct relationship with the Company or its subsidiaries (and the Company has no parents in a consolidated group). As an executive officer of Prentice, which owns approximately 20% of the Company s outstanding stock and is a party to the IRA, he may be deemed to have an indirect relationship with the Company, but as the NYSE does not view ownership of even a significant amount of stock, by itself, as a bar to an independence finding, the Board determined that Mr. Zimmerman s position with Prentice did not affect its determination that he is independent.

II. Board Meetings and Committees; Annual Meeting Attendance

The Board held seventeen (17) meetings during 2007. In 2007, no incumbent director attended fewer than 75% of the aggregate number of meetings of (i) the Board and (ii) any committees of the Board on which such director served (in each case, during the periods that such director served). It is the policy of the Company for Board members to attend the Company s annual meeting of shareholders. Eight of the then-nine Board members were

10

Table of Contents

present at the Company s 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. See the 2007 Director Compensation table herein and subsequent narrative for a description of the compensation paid to directors in 2007.

The Board maintains, among other committees, a standing audit committee (the Audit Committee), compensation committee (the Compensation Committee) and nominating/governance committee (the Nominating/Governance Committee). Links to the current charters for each such committee can be found on the Company s website located at www.russberrie.com under Corporate Governance and such charters are available in print to any shareholder who makes a written request therefor to the Company at 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, held eight (8) meetings during 2007. The Audit Committee currently consists of Messrs. Salibello (Chair), Mr. Horowitz and Mr. Schaefer. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. The Audit Committee s function is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility by monitoring (1) the integrity of the financial statements of the Company, (2) the compliance by the Company with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the independence, qualifications and performance of the Company s independent auditors, (4) the performance of the Company s internal audit function, (5) the investments made by the Company, and (6) any transactions between related parties (including, without limitation, officers, directors and principal shareholders) and the Company, other than normal and usual employment compensation arrangements with the Company. The Board has affirmatively determined that each current member of the Audit Committee (and each individual who served on such committee at any time during 2007 for the period that such individual so served, is independent (as defined in Section 303A of the listing standards of the NYSE and Section 10A(m)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10A-3 promulgated thereunder) and may serve on the Audit Committee. Mr. Ciampi, who was independent at the time of his appointment to the Audit Committee, was removed from such position after the Company became aware that he had become a partner of Prentice. The Board has affirmatively determined that the Chair of the Audit Committee, Mr. Salibello, is an audit committee financial expert, as that term is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K, and, as described above, is independent for purposes of the listing standards of the NYSE. The report of the Audit Committee is set forth in this Proxy Statement.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee, which held sixteen (16) meetings during 2007, currently consists of Messrs. Horowitz and Ciampi and Ms. Krueger. Each current member of the Compensation Committee (and each individual who served on such committee at any time during 2007 for the period that such individual so served) is independent, as independence for such members is defined in the listing standards of the NYSE. The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. The function of the Compensation Committee is to (i) review and approve remuneration arrangements for the Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officers of the Company (including annual base salary level, annual incentive opportunity level, long-term incentive opportunity level and any employment agreements, severance arrangements, and any change in control agreements/provisions) and make recommendations to the Board with respect to the compensation of directors, and all incentive compensation and equity based plans; (ii) to review and discuss with the Company s management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) and to determine whether to recommend to the Board that the CD&A be included in the Company s applicable regulatory filings; and (iii) to produce an annual Compensation Committee Report for inclusion in the Company s applicable regulatory filings. The report of the Compensation Committee is set forth in this Proxy Statement. In accordance with its charter, the Compensation Committee may form and delegate authority to subcommittees when appropriate, but has not done so to date.

Processes and Procedures

The Compensation Committee is responsible for annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO and executive officer (including NEO) compensation, evaluating their performance in light of those goals and objectives, and setting their compensation levels based on this evaluation. In assessing performance against the objectives, the Compensation Committee considers actual results against the specific deliverables associated with each objective for each executive officer (including the CEO), the extent to which such

11

Table of Contents

objective was a significant stretch goal for the Company and/or the individual, and whether significant unforeseen obstacles or favorable circumstances altered the expected difficulty of achieving the desired results. See the CD&A below for a detailed discussion of how various elements of compensation for our executives is determined. In evaluating executive officers other than the CEO, the Compensation Committee receives significant input from the CEO, whose recommendations weigh heavily in the Committee s overall annual assessment for each such executive. Such executive assessment is used by the Committee in determining or approving, as applicable, base salary adjustments, equity award amounts, as well as cash incentive compensation awards and performance goals, objectives and initiatives for the coming year. At the time of such executive assessments, the Compensation Committee also reviews and makes recommendations to the Board with respect to each element of the compensation of directors and all incentive-compensation plans and equity-based plans. The analysis of director compensation is based on a number of considerations, including prior practice, the recommendations of our compensation consultants (discussed below) and competitive market and industry information. Management is not involved in determining the amount or form of director compensation.

The Compensation Committee s charter grants it the sole authority to retain and terminate any compensation consultant used to assist in the evaluation of executive compensation (and grants the Compensation Committee sole authority to approve the consultant s fees and other retention terms). Although we do not put a premium on benchmarking, the Compensation Committee engaged James F. Reda and Associates, LLC (REDA) in 2007 to provide information and assist in the establishment of the overall compensation package for the Company s NEOs and certain other key executives for 2007 and 2008. REDA was instructed to prepare an analysis of the cash compensation, short-term and long-term incentive compensation of such executives at peer companies comparable in size and industry to ours. The peer companies used in this analysis were: Blyth, Inc., Boyds Collection Ltd., Build-A-Bear Workshop, Inc., CSS Industries, Inc., Enesco Group, Inc., Lenox Group, Inc., Libbey Inc., Lifetime Brands, Inc., RC2 Corp., Vermont Teddy Bear Co., Inc., and Yankee Candle Co., Inc. These particular companies were chosen because they are in similar or related businesses or are similar in size to us. In connection with the preparation of such analysis, REDA spoke with members of our Compensation Committee, certain of our executive officers and other employees in our human resources and legal department to obtain historical data and insight into previous compensation practices. At the direction of the Compensation Committee, REDA also reviewed briefing materials prepared by management and advised the Compensation Committee on matters included in the materials, including the consistency of proposals with its compensation philosophy and comparisons to programs at the companies discussed above and comparisons to other broad-based market surveys. Our Compensation Committee took REDA s recommendations into consideration when setting executive compensation for fiscal 2007, however, REDA s recommendations constituted only one of the many factors considered by the Committee in its overall determination. In addition, the Committee did not attempt to maintain a specific target percentile with respect to a specific list of benchmark companies, but instead used the analysis of peer group companies discussed above to determine whether the Company s compensation program is generally competitive with that of others in similar industries. See BENCHMARKING in the CD&A below. Director compensation has not been changed to date from the arrangements approved in May of 2005, other than compensation for temporary special committees formed on an as-needed basis from time to time. If the Company s Equity Incentive Plan is duly approved by the Company s shareholders at the 2008 Meeting, it is the current intention of the Board to grant to each Non-Employee Director, on the date of the 2008 Meeting and on the date of each Annual Meeting of Shareholders thereafter and immediately following which such Non-Employee Director is serving on the Board, awards under such plan with an aggregate value on the date of grant consistent with the Board s then-current policy, to the extent such awards are available for issuance under such plan. See the sections captioned How We Choose Amounts for Each Element of Our Compensation Program and Role of Management in the CD&A below for a detailed description of the factors considered by the Compensation Committee in establishing the compensation of our key executives, as well as the role of management with respect thereto. The Compensation Committee has also directly engaged independent legal counsel to advise on various legal issues affecting compensation programs and processes.

Nominating/Governance Committee

The Nominating/Governance Committee, which held two (2) meetings in 2007, consists of Messrs. Benaroya, Salibello, Zimmerman and Ms. Krueger. Each current member of the Nominating/Governance Committee (and each individual who served on such committee at any time during 2007 for the period that such individual so served) is independent, as independence for such members is defined in the listing standards of the NYSE. The Nominating/Governance Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board. The function of the

12

Table of Contents

Nominating/Governance Committee is to develop corporate governance principles applicable to the Company and oversee the evaluation of the Board and the management of the Company. In addition, the Nominating/Governance Committee identifies and recommends to the Board individuals who are qualified, consistent with criteria approved by the Board, to be selected as nominees for election as a director of the Company, as well as members of the various committees of the Board.

Minimum Qualifications for Board of Directors Nominees

The Board seeks a diverse group of candidates who possess the background, skills and expertise to make a significant contribution to the Board. Accordingly, Board candidates will be considered by the Nominating/Governance Committee based upon various criteria, including, but not limited to, their broad-based business and professional skills and experiences, concern for the long-term interests of the shareholders, and their reputation, personal integrity and judgment. In addition, directors must have sufficient time available to devote to Board activities and to enhance their knowledge of the consumer goods and related industries. Qualified candidates will be considered without regard to race, color, religion, sex, ancestry, national origin or disability. *Identification and Evaluation Process Related to Director Nominations*

The Nominating/Governance Committee will recommend to the full Board the slate of directors to be nominated for election at the annual meeting of shareholders and shall recommend additional candidates to fill vacancies as needed, in accordance with the procedures set forth below. In the case of incumbent directors whose terms of office are set to expire, the Nominating/Governance Committee reviews such directors overall service to the Company during their term, including the number of meetings attended, level of participation and quality of performance. In the case of new director candidates, the Nominating/Governance Committee first determines whether the candidate must be independent as defined by applicable securities laws, the rules and regulations of the SEC and the listing standards applicable to the Company. The Nominating/Governance Committee will identify potential candidates and may also engage, if it deems appropriate, a professional search firm, but has not done so to date. The Nominating/Governance Committee will then meet to discuss and consider such candidates qualifications in light of the overall composition of the Board, the operating requirements of the Company, the long-term interests of the shareholders and the criteria for nominee selection approved by the Board. Contact will be initiated with preferred candidates, including, to the extent the Nominating/Governance Committee deems necessary, the requirement of the completion of informational questionnaires provided by the Nominating/Governance Committee to the candidate, as well as personal interviews of such candidates. After such procedure is complete, the Nominating/Governance Committee will meet to approve final candidates for recommendation to the full Board as set forth in its charter. The Nominating/Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended by shareholders provided the published procedures established by the Company for such recommendations are followed by submitting shareholders. (See Shareholder Recommendations for Director below for such procedures and relevant provisions of the IRA.) The Nominating/Governance Committee does not intend to alter the manner in which it evaluates candidates based on whether the candidate was recommended by a shareholder.

In accordance with the employment agreement between the Company and Mr. Crain, Mr. Crain may terminate his employment with the Company for good reason for any failure to nominate him as a member of the Board during his employment under such agreement.

Shareholder Recommendations for Director

The Nominating/Governance Committee will consider qualified candidates for director who are recommended by the Company s shareholders in written submissions to the Corporate Secretary, 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436. Written submissions of recommendations from a shareholder must be received at least 120 days before the date of release of the Company s proxy statement to shareholders in connection with the previous year s annual meeting (or if the current meeting has been moved by more than 30 days from the previous year s meeting, or if no annual meeting was held during the previous year, at least 120 days before the date of release of the Company s proxy materials in connection with the current year s annual meeting) to be considered for the current year s annual meeting, and should include the nominee s qualifications and other relevant biographical information, including age, employment history with employer names and a description of the employer s business, whether such individual can read and understand basic financial statements, and board memberships (if any). The submission must be

accompanied by a written consent of the individual to stand for election if nominated by the Board and to serve if 13

Table of Contents

elected by the shareholders. Recommendations received after the 120 day period specified above will be considered for nomination at the next succeeding annual meeting of shareholders. The Nominating/Governance Committee will consider director candidates recommended by shareholders provided the procedures set forth above are followed by shareholders in submitting recommendations. The Nominating/Governance Committee retains discretion in the recommendation of nominees to the Board, and has no obligation to nominate a candidate recommended by a shareholder or to include such candidate in the Company s proxy materials. Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to the IRA, and subject to the limitations set forth therein, the Company has generally agreed, among other things, to nominate for election with respect to all stockholders meetings or consents concerning the election of members of the Board, two Prentice Directors and two Laminar Directors (subject to decrease as specified therein), provided further, that at any time that Prentice shall have the right to designate more than one Prentice Director, at least one of such designees shall be an Independent Director, and at any time that Laminar shall have the right to designate more than one Laminar Director, at least one of such designees shall be an Independent Director (defined generally as (i) independent for purposes of the governance rules of the New York Stock Exchange and (ii) independent under such rules if Prentice and Laminar were the listed company with respect to which independence is being determined). The Company has waived the requirement set forth in clause (ii) above for Laminar until February 2008 and for Prentice during a portion of 2007 and for 2008. In addition, the Company shall not be obligated to cause to be nominated for election to the Board or to recommend to the stockholders the election of any designee of Prentice or Laminar (i) who fails to submit to the Company on a timely basis such questionnaires as the Company may require of its directors generally and such other information as the Company may reasonably request or (ii) if the Board or the Nominating/Governance Committee determines in good faith that such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties or applicable law; provided, that in such event, the Company shall promptly notify Prentice or Laminar, as applicable, of the basis for such belief and, to the extent that the Board or the Nominating/Governance Committee continues to believe that such action is inconsistent with its fiduciary duties, shall permit Prentice or Laminar, as applicable, to provide an alternate nominee or nominees sufficiently in advance of the meeting of the stockholders called with respect to such nominees. In connection with the foregoing, Prentice designated Messrs. Zimmerman and Ciampi as the Prentice Directors and Laminar designated Mr. Schaefer and Ms. Krueger as the Laminar Directors, each of whom were considered and recommended by the Nominating/Governance Committee to the Board and accepted for inclusion as nominees for election as directors at the 2008 Meeting.

Communication with the Board of Directors

Any interested party who would like to communicate directly with the Company s Board, including any individual director, the Chairman of the Board and/or the presiding director, a committee of the Board or the non-management directors as a group, may do so: (1) electronically by sending an e-mail to the following address: theboard@russberrie.com; or, (2) by writing to: Board of Directors, Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, Attention: Corporate Secretary. All such communications, via e-mail or in writing, will be forwarded by the Corporate Secretary to the appropriate Board member(s).

Corporate Governance Guidelines

The Company has adopted a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines, a current version of which can be located on the Company s website as follows: www.russberrie.com under Corporate Governance. Such guidelines are available in print to any shareholder who makes a written request thereof to the Company at 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

Executive Sessions of Non-Management Directors

Pursuant to the Company s Corporate Governance Guidelines, non-management Board members will meet without management present at least quarterly at regularly scheduled executive sessions. Non-management directors are all those who are not Company officers. Non-management directors include such directors, if any, who are not independent by virtue of a material relationship with the Company, former status or family membership, or for any other reason. The Chairman of the Board presides at such meetings unless the Chairman is not a non-management director, or if the Board has no Chairman, in which case the presiding director will be chosen by the non-management directors. Currently, Raphael Benaroya, the Chairman of the Board, is the presiding director.

Table of Contents

Codes of Ethics

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for the Principal Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers, as well as a more general Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. You can find links to current versions of each of these codes on the Company s website located at www.russberrie.com under Corporate Governance and such codes are available in print to any shareholder who makes a written request thereof to the Company at 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436, Attention: Corporate Secretary.

15

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Committee as used in this section refers to the Compensation Committee of the Board. Named executive officers or NEOs refer to the individuals set forth in the Summary Compensation table below, and CEO or CEOs refers to our President and Chief Executive Officer at the relevant date of determination (Mr. Gatto through December 3, 2007 and Mr. Crain thereafter).

COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY AND OVERVIEW

We feel that the overall compensation levels of our executives (including our NEOs) should be sufficiently competitive to attract talented leaders and motivate those leaders to achieve superior results. At the same time, however, we believe that compensation should be set at responsible levels, reflecting our continued focus on improving sales and margins, controlling costs and creating value for our shareholders. At the core of our compensation philosophy is our belief that compensation should be linked to performance. We believe that offering a competitive total compensation package to executives that incorporates a reward-for-performance philosophy helps achieve these objectives. As a result, a significant portion of the compensation of our executive officers is based upon achievement of corporate objectives as well as individual performance goals and initiatives. We also believe that total compensation and accountability should generally increase with position and responsibility. Consistent with this view, opportunities under our incentive compensation program typically represent an increasing portion of total compensation as position and responsibility increase, as individuals with greater responsibility have greater ability to influence the Company s achievement of targeted results and strategic initiatives. Similarly, equity-based awards generally represent a higher portion of total compensation for persons with higher levels of responsibility, making a significant portion of their total compensation dependent on long-term stock appreciation.

ELEMENTS OF 2007 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

We designed our 2007 executive compensation program to support our specific business strategies and operational plans. Different elements of our compensation program are geared to short and longer-term performance measures with the ultimate goal of increasing stockholder value over the long term. We believe that the mix and level of compensation for an executive should also recognize the importance of the executive to the Company and competition for that executive stalent.

The material elements of our 2007 executive compensation program (which includes the compensation of our NEOs) were: (i) base salary, (ii) annual cash incentive compensation and (iii) awards of stock options and restricted stock. Our Equity Incentive Plan, if duly approved by the shareholders of the Company at the 2008 Meeting, will give the Committee even greater flexibility to grant other types of equity-based awards, including stock appreciation rights, stock units, performance awards, dividend equivalent rights and non-restricted stock, in order to meet our changing competitive landscape and respond to the regulatory, tax and accounting environment in which we operate. See Proposal 2 herein.

WHY WE CHOOSE TO PAY EACH ELEMENT

We provide cash compensation in the form of base salary and annual incentive compensation. The objective of base salary is to provide current compensation that reflects job responsibilities, value to the Company and individual performance, while maintaining market competitiveness.

The objective of cash incentive compensation is to assure that a significant portion of total compensation is based on a reward of superior performance with respect to specific objectives, initiatives and strategic goals. The opportunity for a more significant award increases when both the Company or a specific operating group and the executive achieve high levels of performance. Commencing in 2005, we initiated our Incentive Compensation Program for specified employees (the IC Program). The IC Program was established to provide designated employees of the Company and its subsidiaries with an opportunity, in each year that the IC Program is in effect, to earn substantial cash remuneration beyond their base salary based on: (i) the attainment of specified operating objectives by the Company (or specified divisions thereof), (ii) fulfillment of specified individual goals and objectives established for specified participants, and (iii) fulfillment of: (x) individual initiatives established for

Table of Contents

specified participants and (y) initiatives to be mutually agreed upon by such participants and their direct supervisors. The objectives of the IC Program are to, among other things, (1) more closely align participants interests with those of shareholders, (2) reward participants for contributing to the short and long-term growth of the business, (3) provide participants with a more meaningful role in the attainment of maximum compensation levels, (4) provide a competitive platform for compensation vis-à-vis the marketplace, and (5) serve as a recruitment and retention tool. Incentive compensation awards under the IC Program are based on specified percentages of base salary. The determination of such percentages is discussed below, and with respect to our named executive officers in 2007, ranged from a maximum potential payment of approximately 60% to 120% of base salary in the event that the maximum targets and the highest level of individual objectives and initiatives were achieved. See *Operation of the* 2007 IC Program below for a detailed discussion of potential and actual cash incentive compensation awarded to the NEOs in 2007.

Awards of stock options and restricted stock are used to provide our executives with upside opportunity with the improvement of the Company s stock price and to provide incentives for retention, as such awards vest over time. In addition, we feel that option awards align the interests of our executives with those of our shareholders, support the Company s pay-for-performance philosophy (e.g., all the value received by the recipient from a stock option is based on the growth of the stock price above the option price, and correspondingly, the recipient is both incentivized to perform in a manner designed to increase shareholder value and exposed to the risk of the effect of negative performance on the Company s stock price), foster employee stock ownership, and focus the management team on increasing value for the shareholders. As a result, a substantial portion of most equity awards takes the form of stock options. In addition, stock options help to provide a balance to the Company s overall compensation program, as the IC Program focuses on the achievement of annual performance targets, objectives and initiatives, whereas the vesting period of stock options generally encourages executive retention and creates incentive for increases in shareholder value over a longer term. See the section captioned ACCOUNTING CONSIDERATIONS below for information with respect to the acceleration of the vesting of certain options. We use restricted stock awards to help align the interests of executives with those of the stockholders, foster employee stock ownership, contribute to the focus of the management team on increasing value for the stockholders, and encourage executive retention (through a multi-year vesting period).

HOW WE CHOOSE AMOUNTS FOR EACH ELEMENT OF OUR COMPENSATION PROGRAM

We structure the size of the various elements awarded to all of our executives (including the NEOs) by balancing the interests of shareholders with the competitive need to provide an attractive overall compensation program. Although we do not have an exact formula for allocating among the different elements of our executive compensation program, including the division between cash and non-cash compensation and short and long-term incentives, we do ensure that a significant percentage of any executive s aggregate compensation package (including that of the NEOs) is contingent upon either Company or operating group results as well as individual behavior, as is more fully discussed below.

We believe that the various components of our compensation package together provide a strong link between compensation and performance on both the individual and Company level. We do not believe that compensation should be based on the short-term performance of our stock, whether favorable or unfavorable, because we feel that the price of our stock will, in the long-term, reflect our operating performance, and ultimately, the management of the Company by our executives. Similarly, as we constantly strive for improved Company performance, amounts realizable from compensation awarded or earned in the past are treated as one factor of many considered in setting other elements of compensation.

The particular amount of each element of our executives—compensation (including that of the NEOs) for a particular year is determined by or with the approval of the Committee, which uses the following—considerations—, among others, in making such determinations: (i) the performance of the Company or the relevant operational group, (ii) the results of an annual executive assessment for each executive for the previous year; (iii) the anticipated difficulty of achieving stated goals and objectives in the coming year; (iv) the value of each executive—s unique skills and capabilities to support long-term performance of the Company; (v) the contribution of each executive as a member of the executive management team; (vi) the scope and relative complexity of the individual—s responsibilities; (vii) competitive market

and industry information, including periodic reports on performance versus a peer group of companies; (viii) the recommendations of our compensation consultant, if any; (ix) the contributions

17

Table of Contents

of such executive beyond his or her immediate area of responsibility; and (x) internal pay equity. Certain of these considerations are given greater weight depending on the element of compensation under consideration, as is discussed with respect to each element below.

Although we do not put a premium on benchmarking, the Compensation Committee engaged REDA in 2007 to provide information and assist in the establishment of the overall compensation package for the Company s NEOs and certain other key executives for 2007 and 2008. See Compensation Committee above for a description of the instructions to REDA and a discussion of the peer companies used in its analysis. Our Compensation Committee took REDA s recommendations into consideration when setting executive compensation for fiscal 2007, however, REDA s recommendations constituted only one of the many factors considered by the Committee in its overall determination. In addition, the Committee did not attempt to maintain a specific target percentile with respect to a specific list of benchmark companies, but instead used the analysis of peer group companies discussed above to determine whether the Company s compensation program is generally competitive with that of others in similar industries. See BENCHMARKING below.

In addition to the foregoing, in making decisions with respect to any element of an executive s compensation, the Committee considers the total compensation that may be awarded to such individual. The goal of the Committee is to set aggregate compensation levels that are reasonable, when all elements of potential compensation are considered. To aid in this analysis, the Committee uses tally sheets for each executive officer detailing such officer s base salary, annual cash incentive award opportunity and payout, equity-based compensation, perquisites and other benefits. The tally sheets also show holdings of the Company s Common Stock by such executive, as well as amounts payable upon termination of employment under various circumstances, including: (i) normal and early retirement; (ii) death and disability; (iii) voluntary termination; (iv) involuntary (not for cause) termination; (v) termination for cause; and (vi) termination following a change in control. The 2007 tally sheet amounts differ from the amounts set forth in the Summary Compensation Table because, among other things: (i) base salary reflects current amounts, whereas the Summary Compensation Table reflects the base salary amount during the entire year (base salaries may have increased during the year), (ii) annual incentive cash compensation amounts include potential awards, while the Summary Compensation Table reflects the actual amount earned in 2007, and (iii) annual equity awards are valued at full grant date value instead of the amount required to be included in the Summary Compensation Table. The Committee uses these tally sheets to estimate the total annual compensation of our executives, to review, in one place, how a change in the amount of each compensation component affects each NEO s total compensation, and to provide perspective on payouts under a range of termination scenarios.

As a general matter, if the Committee determines that the wealth accumulation of a particular executive and/or the potential payout resulting from the termination of his or her employment is excessive and/or unjustified, unless limited by contract, the Committee may use its discretion to adjust one or more elements of compensation for such executive. The Committee did not determine that any downward adjustments were required with respect to any NEO compensation packages or elements for 2007.

In general, we choose base salaries that are competitive relative to similar positions at companies of comparable size in our industry, in order to provide us with the ability to attract, retain and motivate employees with a proven record of performance. However, we do not benchmark base salaries (see *BENCHMARKING* below). Amounts attainable under our IC Program are meant to assure that a significant portion of total compensation is based on a reward of superior performance with respect to specific objectives, initiatives and strategic goals. Our policy for allocating between long-term and currently paid compensation is to establish adequate base compensation to attract and retain personnel, while providing sufficient incentives to maximize long-term value for our shareholders. As discussed above, the Company weights compensation for the executives with more responsibility (including the NEOs) more toward variable, performance-based compensation elements than for less senior employees. Based on the Summary Compensation Table below, 2007 compensation for the NEOs was allocated as follows:

Base Salary	69.6%
Short-Term Incentives:	24.8%
Long-Term Incentives:	1.0%*

Other 4.6%** 18

Note that as equity grants to NEOs were made on December 27. 2007, an extremely small portion of the grant date fair value of such awards is reflected in the Summary Compensation Table for 2007 (had these equity grants been made on January 1, 2007, instead of December 27, 2007, compensation expense for the NEOs in the aggregate would have been 14.9% of total **NEO** compensation as set forth in the Summary Compensation Table for 2007). See the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table below for the grant date fair value of restricted stock and option awards in 2007. Previous stock options granted to the NEOs

were all deemed

vested as of December 28, 2005.

Note that for the purposes of this chart, the Other category excludes severance amounts paid or accrued on behalf of Messrs. Gatto and O Reardon (in order to avoid the distorting effect of such payments for 2007).

We feel that the foregoing mix of long and short-term incentives provides sufficient rewards in the short-term to motivate near-term performance, while at the same time providing significant incentives to keep our executives (including the NEOs) focused on longer-term corporate and divisional goals that drive increasing shareholder value. *ONGOING PROCESS*

Evaluation of executive performance and consideration of our business environment are year-round processes which culminate in the annual executive assessments discussed above. In addition to the involvement of the Committee in the determination of performance targets and objectives, meetings of the Committee or the full Board over the course of the year include reviews of financial reports on year-to-date performance versus budgeted performance and prior year performance, review of information on each executive s stock ownership and option holdings and estimated grant-date values of stock options, and review of tally sheets setting forth the total compensation of the named executive officers.

ROLE OF MANAGEMENT

Senior management plays an important role in our executive compensation decision-making process, due to its direct involvement in and knowledge of the business goals, strategies, experiences and performance of the Company and its various operational units. With respect to our executive incentive compensation program (which is described in detail below), the Committee engages in active discussions with the CEO concerning: (i) who should participate in the program and at what levels, (ii) which performance metrics should be used in connection with different operational groups, and (iii) the determination of performance targets, as well as individual goals and initiatives for the coming year, where applicable, and whether and to what extent criteria for the previous year have been achieved. The CEO is advised by the other senior executives of the Company in recommending and determining the achievement of individual goals and initiatives for those executives that do not report directly to him. With respect to equity grants, the CEO makes recommendations to the Committee as to appropriate grant levels for executives. In making these recommendations, the CEO is advised by the other senior executives with respect to those executives that do not report directly to him. The Committee reviews the appropriateness of the recommendations of the CEO with respect to the foregoing and accepts or adjusts such recommendations in light of the considerations applicable to the relevant element of compensation (discussed with respect to each element below). In addition, the senior executives of the Company are involved in the compensation-setting process through: (i) their evaluation of employee performance used in connection with the annual executive assessments, and (ii) their recommendations to the CEO and/or Committee with respect to base salary adjustments. Senior executives also prepare meeting information for the Committee upon request.

ANALYSIS OF DECISIONS WITH RESPECT TO OUR 2007 COMPENSATION PROGRAM Base Salaries

A minimum base salary for the CEOs and Mr. Cappiello was determined by each of their respective employment agreements. See the section captioned Employment Agreements and Arrangements following the Summary Compensation Table for a description of the material terms and considerations with respect to such employment agreements. The Committee annually reviews and approves base salary adjustments for the named executive officers as part of the annual executive assessments, and at the time of any promotion or other change in

19

Table of Contents

responsibilities. In this context, the Committee does not rely on predetermined formulas or a limited set of criteria, however, the following considerations factor most heavily in the determination of base salary adjustments: (i) the results of the executive assessment for such executive for the previous year; (ii) the value of such executive s unique skills and capabilities to support long-term performance of the Company; (iii) competitive market and industry information, including a review of national and regional compensation surveys with respect to base salary increases for the year; (iv) the nature and responsibility of the executive s position, (v) the importance of retaining the individual along with the competitiveness of the market for the individual stalent and services, (vi) the recommendations of our compensation consultant, if any, and (vii) the consumer price index increase for the applicable geographic region for the applicable year. In recognition of cost of living increases, the fact that base salary increases were generally not provided to the NEO s for 2006, and the substantial success of our Profit Improvement Program (PIP) during 2006, but counterbalanced by our ongoing focus on cost-containment measures, increases of approximately 5% were made to the base salaries of our NEOs for 2007 (other than Mr. Gatto, whose base salary remained level, Mr. Bialosky, who had received a base salary increase in connection with a promotion in December 2006, and Mr. Crain, whose employment commenced in December of 2007). See the Summary Compensation Table below for base salaries of our named executive officers during 2007. With respect to 2008, base salaries for all domestic executives (other than Mr. Crain) were increased 3.2%, representing a cost of living adjustment, discounted by approximately 20% from prevailing broad-based market increases for executives for the year.

2007 Cash Incentive Compensation

The IC Program was in effect for 2007 and will be in effect for 2008 as well. Mr. Gatto was included in the IC Program in 2006 and 2007 in lieu of certain incentive compensation provisions of his employment agreement, which were similar in operation to the IC Program. Mr. Crain s incentive compensation program is discussed under Employment Contracts and Arrangements below, and commences in 2008. Mr. Bialosky did not participate in the IC Program in 2007 because, as detailed in the IC Program, members of the Company s sales force are generally not eligible to participate therein. As described below, however, Mr. Bialosky was eligible to receive a cash bonus in 2007 based upon various performance metrics associated with: (i) sales, (ii) gross margins, (iii) direct selling expenses and (iv) inventory, in each case with respect to our domestic gift business, which are Mr. Bialosky s principal areas of responsibility. Although Mr. O Reardon retired prior to the payment of amounts for 2007 in respect of the IC Program (and was therefore not entitled to receive any amounts with respect thereto), as a result of his employment for most of 2007, his service to the Company for over 26 years, and his continuing efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, the Committee used its discretion to award Mr. O Reardon approximately 83% of the IC Award to which he would have otherwise been entitled for 2007. See Employment Contracts and Arrangements below.

Operation of the 2007 IC Program

(a) General

Subject to certain specified exclusions set forth in the IC Program, participants consist of senior employees who work in specified operational groups of either the Company or its subsidiaries selected on an annual basis by the CEO in his sole discretion in consultation with the heads of business units and certain senior executives of his choice, in each case as approved by the Committee. Participants generally have the rank of vice president or above, but titles are not determinative. The operational groups in 2007 consisted of: (i) corporate participants, (ii) gift participants, (iii) Sassy participants and (iv) Kids Line participants. The corporate participants for 2007 consisted of all NEOs other than Mr. Crain, who is not eligible for cash incentive compensation until 2008, Mr. Bialosky, who does not participate in the IC Program, and Mr. Robinson. For 2007, gift participants were divided into three separate participation groups: domestic gift participants, specified senior-level international gift participants (two individuals in 2007, including Mr. Robinson), and remaining international gift participants. In 2006, as a result of the events described in the *Special Considerations for 2006* section of the Proxy Statement with respect to the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the 2007 Proxy Statement), there was one worldwide gift participant group. Due to the completion or inapplicability of such factors during 2007, the Committee determined that this amalgamation was no longer necessary or appropriate.

Participants are eligible to participate in the IC Program at specified levels (expressed as a percentage of annual base salary). The percentage for each participant (such participant s Applicable Percentage) was

Table of Contents

recommended for 2007 by Mr. Gatto and approved by the Committee. We believe the levels chosen are appropriate to ensure that a significant portion of all of our executives total compensation is contingent upon the achievement of specified corporate objectives, as well as individual performance goals. Towards that end, the Applicable Percentages of all participants in the IC Program range from 15% to 100% of base salary. Unless a specified percentage is set forth in an employment agreement (as in the case of Mr. Gatto and Mr. Crain), approval of a participant s Applicable Percentage is based primarily on the following considerations: (i) the results of the annual executive assessment for such executive for the previous year; (ii) the anticipated difficulty of achieving stated goals and objectives in the coming year, (iii) the value of such executive s unique skills and capabilities to support long-term performance of the Company; (iv) the contribution of such executive as a member of the executive management team; (v) the contributions of such executive beyond his immediate area of responsibility; and (vi) the importance of retaining the individual along with the competitiveness of the market for the individual stalent. NEOs, as a result of their higher responsibility levels and greater ability to impact Company performance, generally have Applicable Percentages in excess of those of less senior executives. During 2007, the Applicable Percentage and operational group for each named executive officer (other than Messrs. Crain and Bialosky) was as set forth in the table in paragraph (b) below (of the participating NEOs, only Mr. Goldfarb s Applicable Percentage increased from his 2006 level, in recognition of his performance and increased responsibilities resulting from his promotion to Senior Vice President during 2006 and his assumption of managerial responsibility for the Human Resources department in addition to the Legal department).

Each participant s annual base salary multiplied by such participant s Applicable Percentage equals a number (the IC Factor) that is used to determine such participant s total incentive compensation which may be earned for the relevant year. As is explained below, however, the maximum amount of compensation that can be earned under the IC Program is greater than the IC Factor in the event that stretch goals are achieved by the Company.

With respect to the 2006 IC Program, potential incentive compensation for corporate participants was comprised of two separate components: a corporate performance component and a combined individual goals, objectives and initiatives component. In response to the view of the Committee that measures of corporate performance are more appropriate for corporate participants than for participants in other operational groups, however, for 2007, the Company eliminated the individual goals and initiatives component of the IC Program for such participants. The purpose of this change was to: (i) incentivize the corporate participants to pursue those objectives that are determined by the Board to be in the Company s best interests throughout the year, (ii) encourage team-building and pursuit of common objectives that directly impact shareholder value and de-emphasize individual performance, and (iii) link the bonus of corporate participants more directly to overall corporate performance. In order to provide a modest opportunity for the Committee to reward extraordinary individual performance in the absence of the achievement of specified corporate objectives, a discretionary bonus pool for 2007 of up to an aggregate maximum of \$150,000 was made available to be awarded to corporate participants by the Committee in its sole discretion, after consultation with the CEO or Board/Committee members, as applicable. This discretionary bonus pool was not utilized for 2007. For all other participant groups (other than the specified international gift participants including Mr. Robinson), compensation under the IC Program for 2007 was comprised of three separate components: a corporate component, an individual goals and objectives component and an individual initiatives component. Basing a portion of awards on individual goals, objectives and initiatives allows the Committee to play a more proactive role in identifying performance objectives beyond purely financial measures, including, for example, exceptional performance of an individual s functional responsibilities as well as leadership, innovations, creativity, collaboration, growth initiatives and other activities that are critical to driving long-term value for shareholders. Each component may entitle a participant to earn a specified percentage of the IC Factor, as described below.

(b) Establishing Corporate Objectives and Calculating the Corporate Component

Corporate objectives for each operational group consist of three separate levels of achievement (Targets) with respect to one or several specified measures of operating performance each year, such as operating income, EBITDA, etc. (the Chosen Metric). Both the Chosen Metric and the Targets required are recommended by the CEO on an annual basis and approved by the Committee. The Chosen Metric for all participant groups during 2007 (and until such time as they are changed) was EBITDA (either consolidated or that of a specified operating group, as applicable), which is

defined for this purpose as net income before net interest expense, provision for income taxes, depreciation, amortization and other non-cash, special or non-recurring charges (as determined by the Company). The Committee believes EBITDA to be an appropriate metric by which to measure performance in recognition of

21

Table of Contents

the flexibility needed to counterbalance special circumstances that affect the Company from time to time. There is no requirement that the Targets be based on or refer to budgeted levels of operating performance, or to any other plan or projection with respect to the Company s business, although the Targets are typically based on budgets for the relevant year. Targets are calculated to include a reserve to fund IC payments. We have not disclosed target levels for the corporate component of the IC Program because we believe such disclosure will cause competitive harm to the Company with regard to various short-term business strategies and goals. The Targets were set at amounts that exceeded 2006 results.

The Targets are based on consolidated Company performance for corporate participants. Targets with respect to the corporate component for (i) domestic gift participants were based on worldwide gift EBITDA, (ii) the remaining international gift participants (none of the NEOs in 2007) were based on various measures of international gift EBITDA, and (iii) the two specified international gift participants (including Mr. Robinson) were based on the gift EBITDA of distinct geographic areas to encourage them to work towards the achievement of results within and beyond their immediate areas of responsibility. Targets for the corporate component for Sassy and Kids Line participants are based on Sassy and Kids Line EBITDA, respectively. Mr. Robinson s incentive compensation is discussed below.

For all participant groups during 2007 (other than corporate participants and the two specified international gift participants as discussed below), 50% of such participant s IC Factor was designated the Part A Amount . The Targets consist of the following: (i) a specified minimum level of achievement in the Chosen Metric (the Minimum Target) required to earn an amount equal to 20% of a participant s Part A Amount, (ii) a specified level of achievement in the Chosen Metric in excess of the Minimum Target (the Target) required to earn an amount equal to 100% of a participant s Part A Amount, and (iii) a specified level of achievement in the Chosen Metric in excess of the Target (the Maximum Target) required to earn an amount equal to 200% of a Participant s Part A Amount (or 100% of the IC Factor). In general, the Minimum Target was established to reward achievement of a significant percentage of budgeted performance targets. Achievement of the Target would generally represent a slight stretch, representing how the Company would perform if it achieved budgeted amounts, recognizing that the budgets are generally set at slightly optimistic levels, whereas the Maximum Target was designed to be a true stretch goal for the Company or the relevant operational group. From 2005 (the first year that the IC Program was in effect) through 2007, with respect to the corporate objectives, we achieved performance as follows: (i) for 2005, gift and Sassy participants did not achieve the Minimum Target and Kids Line participants reached the Target, (ii) for 2006, corporate and Kids Line participants achieved results in excess of the Target, worldwide gift participants reached the Minimum Target but not the Target, and Sassy participants did not reach the Minimum Target, and (iii) for 2007, corporate participants and the two specified international gift participants reached the Minimum Target but not the Target, all other gift and Kids Line participants reached the Target, and Sassy participants did not reach the Minimum Target. The Maximum Target was not achieved by any participant group in any of these years. From 2005 through 2007, maximum payout percentages for the current named executive officers with respect to the corporate objective ranged from zero percent to 82.5% percent of the participant s total award opportunity. Generally, the Company seeks to maintain the relative difficulty of achieving the target levels from year to year. As a result of the elimination of each of the individual goals and objectives and individual initiatives for corporate participants, corporate participants in 2007 (all NEOs other than Mr. Crain, Mr. Bialosky and Mr. Robinson) were eligible to earn 20% of their IC Factor in the event of achievement of the Minimum Target, 100% of their IC Factor in the event of achievement of the Target, and 200% of their IC Factor in the event of achievement of the Maximum Target.

Amounts earned for achievement of results between (i) the Minimum Target and the Target, and (ii) the Target and the Maximum Target, are in each case determined by a straight-line interpolation. No amounts are paid for achievement of results in excess of the Maximum Target. No amounts are paid for achievement of results below the Minimum Target. The Chosen Metric may change from year to year, different measurements may be used for different operating groups within the same year, and the Targets are expected to change each year. In determining whether any of the Targets were achieved for the year, the Committee may exercise its judgment whether to reflect or exclude the impact of changes in accounting principles and extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring events reported in the Company s public filings that it believes were not driven by the current performance or that otherwise

had a distorting positive or negative impact relative to the performance of our executives. With respect to 2007, the Committee, recognizing the substantial achievements in the Company s gift segment (which significantly outperformed its Target) utilized this discretion to award each of Messrs. Cappiello and Goldfarb an additional

22

Table of Contents

\$75,000, based on such individuals substantial efforts in achieving the Company s goals with respect to the ongoing restructuring efforts in such segment. To the extent appropriate, the CEO or a participant s direct supervisor, as applicable, also considers the nature and impact of unusual or extraordinary events in the context of ascertaining whether and to what extent the individual goals, objectives and initiatives discussed below have been achieved, although no such discretion was applied with respect to 2007.

Mr. Robinson s 2007 Incentive Compensation

For purposes of the following discussion, note that although Mr. Robinson s compensation is determined in British Pounds Sterling, we have converted all such amounts to U.S. dollars by application of a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal 2007.

Like the corporate participants, for 2007, Mr. Robinson s incentive compensation arrangement did not include individual goals and objectives or individual initiatives (for similar reasons, in that as a business unit head, the Committee wanted to encourage team-building and the pursuit of common objectives that directly impact shareholder value, as well as emphasizing his contribution to corporate performance, as he is responsible for European gift operations, in addition to oversight of the Company s global gift business other than domestic gift operations). In addition, the Committee s objective for 2007 was to create a reward opportunity for Mr. Robinson that would encompass each geographic area that could be influenced by his performance. As a result, Mr. Robinson s incentive compensation arrangement for 2007 was based upon achievement of specified EBITDA levels in three distinct geographic areas of the Company s gift business: (i) international gift EBITDA, (ii) worldwide gift EBITDA, and (iii) European gift EBITDA. Mr. Robinson has an Applicable Percentage of 60%, for an IC Factor of \$205,495. 50% of Mr. Robinson s IC Factor was designated the International Determinative Amount ; 30% of Mr. Robinson s IC Factor was designated the Worldwide Determinative Amount; and 20% of Mr. Robinson s IC Factor was designated the European Determinative Amount . Three different targets for each of the three geographic areas set forth above consisted of the following: (i) a specified minimum level of achievement (the Minimum Robinson Target) required to earn an amount equal to 20% of each of the International Determinative Amount, the Worldwide Determinative Amount and the European Determinative Amount, as applicable; (ii) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Minimum Robinson Target (the Robinson Target) required to earn an amount equal to 100% of each of the International Determinative Amount, the Worldwide Determinative Amount and the European Determinative Amount, as applicable; and (iii) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Robinson Target (the Maximum Robinson Target) required to earn an amount equal to 200% of each of the International Determinative Amount, the Worldwide Determinative Amount and the European Determinative Amount, as applicable. The Minimum Robinson Targets were established to reward achievement of a significant percentage of budgeted performance in each geographic area. Achievement of the Robinson Targets would represent achievement of budgeted amounts for each geographic area, recognizing that the budgets were set at slightly optimistic levels, whereas the Maximum Robinson Target was designed to be a true stretch goal for each geographic area. Each of the targets were established by the CEO, with the approval of the Committee. We have not disclosed target levels because we believe such disclosure will cause competitive harm to the Company with regard to various short-term business strategies and goals. As this arrangement was established in 2007, there is no historical information to report. Mr. Robinson was awarded an aggregate of \$110,094 in respect of his incentive compensation arrangements for 2007 (resulting from the achievement of the Robinson Target with respect to two of the geographic areas discussed above).

23

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth information with respect to potential and actual awards under this portion of the IC Program for the named executive officers (other than Mr. Crain and Mr. Bialosky) during 2007:

	Participant	App.	Potential Award for Min.	Potential Award for	Potential Award for	Amt	% of Base
NEO	Group	дрр. %	Target	Target	Max Target	Awarded	Salary
Andrew Gatto	Corporate	40%	\$52,000	\$260,000	\$520,000	\$164,451	25.3
Anthony							
Cappiello**.	Corporate	50%	\$34,100	\$170,700	\$341,300	\$116,905	56.2
Marc S. Goldfarb**	Corporate	50%	\$31,500	\$157,500	\$315,000	\$107,896	58.1
James J. O Reardon	,						
Jr.*	Corporate	40%	\$20,000	\$100,000	\$200,000	\$ 56,694	22.7
Chris Robinson***	Specified						
	International						
	Gift	60%	\$41,035	\$205,575	\$410,949	\$110,094	33.3

Mr. O Reardon was no longer employed by the Company at the time of payment of amounts earned under the IC Program for 2007, and as a result, was not entitled to any payment thereunder, Based upon Mr. O Reardon s employment for most of 2007, his many years of dedicated service to the Company and his continued efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, however, Mr. O Reardon was awarded an amount equal to 83% of the IC Award to which

he would

otherwise have been entitled had his employment continued. Note that as this award was made at the discretion of the Committee, this amount is reported in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table.

Excludes an additional \$75,000 awarded at the discretion of the Committee to each of Messrs. Cappiello and Goldfarb, based on such individuals substantial efforts in achieving the Company s goals with respect to the ongoing restructuring efforts in the Company s gift segment during 2007. Such additional award, although earned in 2007, is payable in 2008 at the CEO s discretion, but in no event later than August 1, 2008. Note that as this award

was made at the

discretion of the Committee, it is reported in the Bonus column of the Summary Compensation Table.

*** As is described more fully in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis above, whereas a single threshold, target and maximum exists for corporate participants in the IC Program, Mr. Robinson s incentive compensation arrangement includes a threshold, target and maximum for each of three different geographic areas. For purposes of this table, with respect to Mr. Robinson, the amount in the Threshold column assumes achievement of the threshold amount in all of the relevant geographic areas, the amount in the Target column assumes achievement of

> the target in all of the relevant geographic

areas, and the amount in the Max column assumes achievement of the maximum amounts in all of the relevant geographic areas. Numbers in the table for Mr. Robinson have been converted from **British Pounds** Sterling to U.S. dollars at a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007 (Pounds Sterling to U.S. dollars).

(c) Calculating the Individual Goals and Objectives Component

The individual goals and objectives for each participant for each year are determined by the CEO in his sole discretion in the event that the CEO is the participant s direct supervisor or, in the event that the CEO is not the direct supervisor of the participant, by the CEO in consultation with the participant s direct supervisor, and may be modified mid-year. For 2007, the individual goals and objectives were eliminated for corporate participants and Mr. Robinson, and modified for the other specified international gift participant. With respect to the remaining participants in the IC Program for 2007, the individual goals and objectives were based primarily upon individual performance and activities within each participant s primary areas of responsibility that the Company wished to incentivize.

Each participant s individual goals and objectives are evaluated by the participant s direct supervisor, who recommends in his/her sole discretion whether and to what extent such goals and objectives have been achieved and what, if any, percentage of the IC Factor has been earned, as approved by the Committee. Subject to the forfeiture

24

Table of Contents

provision discussed below, such participant could have earned between 0% and 30% of such participant s IC Factor with respect to this component. Not all goals and objectives are given equal weight in such determination. The individual goals and objectives are intended to be difficult to achieve, representing exemplary performance in areas within and outside of each participant s daily activities. The particular payout level awarded, if any, in each case will depend on the assessment of the applicable supervisor and the Committee as to the degree of achievement attained, and will account for the difficulty of the particular goal, the scope of responsibility of the applicable individual and the complexity of the required tasks.

The IC Program for 2007 was modified to provide that eligibility for 50% of the potential earnings under the individual goals and objectives component for all participants to whom this component relates would be forfeited if the relevant Minimum Target were not reached (however, the Committee used its discretion to apply this forfeiture only to corporate and worldwide gift participants, making it inapplicable to any participant group in 2007). This provision was added because, although the Company rewards superior individual behavior apart from corporate performance, it was deemed inappropriate to award individuals the maximum potential payout under the IC Program in the event that a minimum level of corporate performance for the year was not achieved. As the Minimum Target was reached in 2007 for all participant groups whose incentive compensation contained this component, this forfeiture provision was not triggered. This component was not applicable to the incentive compensation of any NEO during 2007.

(d) Calculating the Individual Initiatives Component

The individual initiatives, which reflect a specific participant s contributions that favorably affect sales, gross margin, profitability, expenses and/or other efficiencies, are determined by the CEO in his sole discretion in the event that the CEO is the participant s direct supervisor or, in the event that the CEO is not the direct supervisor of the participant, by the CEO in consultation with the participant s direct supervisor, and may be modified mid-year. Individual initiatives also include initiatives which have been mutually agreed upon by the participant and his/her direct supervisor.

Each participant s individual initiatives are evaluated by the participant s direct supervisor, who recommends in his/her sole discretion whether and to what extent such initiatives have been achieved and what, if any, percentage (subject to the forfeiture discussed below, from 0% to 20%) of the IC Factor has been earned, as approved by the Committee. Not all initiatives are given equal weight in this determination. The individual initiatives, like the individual goals and objectives, are intended to be difficult to achieve, representing exemplary performance. Award levels, if any, are ascertained in the same manner as the individual goals and objectives described above. Similar to the treatment of the individual goals and objectives component, the IC Program for 2007 was modified to provide that eligibility for 50% of the potential earnings under the individual initiatives component would be forfeited if the relevant Minimum Target was not achieved, but as discussed above, this provision was not applied in 2007. This component was not applicable to the incentive compensation of any NEO during 2007.

See the Summary Compensation Table for total amounts of incentive compensation earned by the named executive officers under the IC Program and otherwise during 2007.

Further Modifications to the IC Program for 2008

The Committee is currently in the process of finalizing its IC Program for 2008, and expects that it will operate in a manner substantially similar to 2007, although certain corporate participants may be provided with individual goals and objectives in addition to the corporate component.

2007 Incentive Compensation for Mr. Bialosky

For 2007, Mr. Bialosky s incentive compensation arrangement was based upon achievement in four areas under his responsibility pertaining to the Company s domestic gift business: (i) sales volume, (ii) gross margin percentage, (iii) direct selling expense as a percentage of sales, and (iv) gross inventory as a percentage of sales. Using similar concepts to the IC Program, Mr. Bialosky was given an Applicable Percentage of 50%, for an IC Factor of \$172,500. 25% of Mr. Bialosky s IC Factor was designated the Determinative Amount . Four different targets were established for *each* of the four areas set forth above, and consisted of the following: (i) a specified minimum level of achievement (the Minimum Bialosky Target) required to earn an amount equal to 80% of the

Table of Contents

Determinative Amount, (ii) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Minimum Bialosky Target (the Bialosky Target) required to earn an amount equal to 100% of the Determinative Amount, (iii) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Bialosky Target (the Stretch Target) required to earn an amount equal to 150% of the Determinative Amount, and (iv) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Stretch Target (the Maximum Bialosky Target) required to earn an amount equal to 200% of the Determinative Amount. The Minimum Bialosky Targets were established to reward achievement of a significant percentage of budgeted performance in each metric. Achievement of the Bialosky Targets would represent achievement of budgeted amounts for each metric, recognizing that the budgets were set at slightly optimistic levels. Achievement of the Stretch Targets would represent performance well in excess of budgeted levels, whereas the Maximum Bialosky Targets were designed to be a true stretch goal for each performance metric. In the event that none of the Minimum Bialosky Targets were achieved but the Company s worldwide gift business reached its Target level (under the IC Program), Mr. Bialosky would be entitled to an award equal to the Determinative Amount. Each of the targets were established by the CEO, with the approval of the Committee. We have not disclosed target levels because we believe such disclosure will cause competitive harm to the Company with regard to various short-term business strategies and goals. As this arrangement was established in 2007, there is no historical information to report. Mr. Bialosky was awarded an aggregate of \$203,679 in respect of his incentive compensation arrangement for 2007 (resulting from the achievement of the Minimum Bialosky Target in one metric, the Bialosky Targets in two of the metrics and the Maximum Bialosky Target in another metric). 2008 Incentive Compensation for Mr. Crain

In accordance with the employment arrangement between Mr. Crain and the Company, commencing in 2008, Mr. Crain will be eligible for an annual cash incentive compensation opportunity in an amount not less than 75% of his base salary at target and 130% at maximum. Mr. Crain s performance goals in respect of such incentive compensation opportunity, which will be established by the Committee annually in consultation with Mr. Crain, will not be established at levels that are more difficult to achieve than for other bonus participants who have identical performance measures.

For 2008, the Compensation Committee has determined that 50% of Mr. Crain s incentive compensation opportunity for 2008 will be based upon achievement by the Company of specified consolidated EBITDA levels, and 50% shall be based on achievement in three distinct categories of personal goals.

With respect to consolidated EBITDA, the targets for Mr. Crain consist of the following: (i) a specified minimum level of achievement (the Minimum Crain Target) required to earn an amount equal to 7.5% of his annual base salary, (ii) a specified level of achievement (the Crain Target) in excess of the Minimum Crain Target required to earn an amount equal to 37.5% of his annual base salary, and (ii) a specified level of achievement in excess of the Crain Target (the Maximum Crain Target) required to earn an amount equal to 65% of his annual base salary. The Minimum Crain Target was established to reward achievement of a significant percentage of budgeted performance. The Crain Target was established to represent a slight stretch, representing how the Company would perform if it achieved budgeted amounts, recognizing that the budgets are generally set at slightly optimistic levels, whereas the Maximum Crain Target was designed to be a true stretch goal for the Company. We have not disclosed target levels because we believe such disclosure will cause competitive harm to the Company with regard to various short-term business strategies and goals. As this arrangement was established in 2008, there is no historical information to report. Amounts earned for achievement of results between (i) the Minimum Crain Target and the Crain Target, and (ii) the Crain Target and the Maximum Crain Target will be determined by a straight-line interpolation. No amounts will be paid for achievement of results in excess of the Maximum Crain Target. No amounts will be paid for achievement of results below the Minimum Crain Target. In determining whether any of the Crain Targets were achieved for the year, the Committee may exercise its judgment whether to reflect or exclude the impact of changes in accounting principles and extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring events reported in the Company s public filings that it believes were not driven by the current performance or that otherwise had a distorting positive or negative impact on Company performance.

With respect to Mr. Crain s personal goals, three different categories (each with a target and a maximum level of achievement) were created as follows: (i) structural/integration goals, which will entitle Mr. Crain to receive 18.75% of his annual base salary at the target level and 32.50% of annual base salary at the maximum level of achievement;

(ii) organizational goals, which will entitle Mr. Crain to receive 9.375% of annual base salary at the 26

Table of Contents

target level and 16.25% of annual base salary at the maximum level of achievement, and (iii) strategic goals, which will entitle Mr. Crain to receive 9.375% of annual base salary at the target level and 16.25% of annual base salary at the maximum level of achievement. The Committee will determine in its sole discretion Mr. Crain s level of achievement of each of these personal goals during 2008. The particular payout level awarded, if any, in each case will depend on the assessment of the Committee as to the degree of achievement attained, and will account for the difficulty and complexity of the particular goal. No bonus will be payable for a particular category if the Committee determines that the target level of achievement for that category has not been achieved, and no amounts will be payable in excess of the maximum incentive compensation opportunity for that category. Failure to achieve the Minimum Crain Target or any category of the three personal goals targets will not, however, preclude incentive compensation from being paid if targets for other categories are achieved.

Potential amounts payable to Mr. Crain with respect to his incentive compensation program for 2008 are as follows:

	Target	Maximum
EBITDA	\$ 206,250*	\$357,500
Structural/Integration	\$ 103,125	\$178,750
Organizational	\$51,562.50	\$ 89,375
Strategic	\$51,562.50	\$ 89,375

* Achievement of the Minimum Crain Target would entitle Mr. Crain to a payment of \$41,250.

See Employment Contracts and Arrangements below.

Stock Options and Restricted Stock

The specific amount of an equity grant to an executive depends on the individual sposition, scope of responsibility, ability to affect profits and shareholder value and the individual shistoric and recent performance, the value of stock options in relation to other elements of total compensation, as well as the performance of the Company or the relevant operational group. Other than the Severance Policy and our 401K plan (each defined below), and similar plans for certain foreign subsidiaries, we do not maintain any supplemental retirement plans for executives or other executive programs that reward tenure. We consider that stock options and the resulting stock ownership (as well as grants of restricted stock) are our method of providing for a substantial part of an executive s retirement and wealth creation. Since stock options are our primary contribution to an executive s long-term wealth creation, we determine the size of the grants with that consideration in mind. We intend that our executives will share in the creation of value in the Company but will not have substantial guaranteed benefits at termination if value has not been created for stockholders.

The Company decided not to grant equity awards to NEOs (or other employees) while the events described in the *Special Considerations for 2006* section of the 2007 Proxy Statement were continuing, and as a result, no restricted stock or option awards were made to executives in 2006. Because the events described therein were completed or largely inapplicable by the end of 2007, and as a result of the significant improvement in the operating results of the gift segment, however, the Company made equity awards on December 27, 2007 to specified individuals, consisting of the senior management of each of the Company and specified domestic subsidiaries (15 individuals in total, including the NEOs other than Mr. Crain, whose equity awards to date were the result of the commencement of his employment with the Company, and Messrs. Gatto and O Reardon, who were no longer employed by the Company at the time of such grant). These awards were made in recognition of their significant contributions to, among other things: (i) with respect to corporate participants, the successful implementation of the Company s Profit Improvement Program during such period, the successful refinancing of the Company s credit facility, the completion of the

Foundation sales, the correction of the material weakness in the finance group s internal control over financial reporting, and overall corporate performance, (ii) with respect to the corporate and domestic gift participants, the revitalization of the domestic gift segment s product development and improved financial results during the period, and (iii) with respect to the Sassy and Kids Line participants, the continued growth and success of the Company s infant and juvenile segment. The December 2007 awards were somewhat

27

Table of Contents

larger than grants in prior years, not only as a result of the achievement of the factors described above, but also in recognition of the fact that a general equity grant to executives had not been made since May of 2005, as well as the results of a comparative study provided by REDA.

Of the total grants made in December of 2007, 25% of each award was in the form of restricted stock and 75% of the award was options. The Company elected to include restricted stock as a portion of the grants because such grants create less dilution to shareholders (fewer shares of restricted stock as compared to stock options need to be granted to achieve a specified value), retain their incentive characteristics regardless of movements in the price of the stock and are increasingly becoming a standard part of comprehensive equity awards at other companies with whom the Company may compete for talented executives. In making this determination, the Committee relied in part on the report of REDA, which recommended the award numbers eventually granted (using the 25%/75% split). The Committee felt that the amounts awarded represented a significant and appropriate level of long-term compensation for 2007 in light of the other elements of the 2007 executive compensation program. The specific percentages utilized were determined using a combination of factors, including market comparables provided by REDA, and the scope of each individual s responsibilities and performance throughout the year.

See the Outstanding Awards at Fiscal Year End table and accompanying footnotes below for a description of the material terms and amounts of outstanding stock options held as of December 31, 2007 by the named executive officers.

As a result of the evolution of regulatory, tax and accounting treatment of equity incentive programs and because it is important to us to retain our executive officers and key employees, we realize that it may become necessary or desirable in the future to utilize forms of equity awards other than stock options and restricted stock as and when we may deem necessary. As a result, the Board has approved the Company s Equity Incentive Plan, which if duly approved by the shareholders of the Company at the 2008 Meeting, will give the Committee greater flexibility to grant a broader range of equity-based awards. See Proposal 2 herein.

OTHER ELEMENTS OF COMPENSATION AND RELATED BENEFITS Perquisites

We limit the perquisites that we make available to our executive officers. Executives are entitled to few benefits that are not otherwise available to all of our employees. The perquisites provided to executives other than the CEOs (whose perquisites are described in the section captioned Employment Agreements and Arrangements below) during 2007 included a car allowance and no more than two week s extra annual vacation time. The Company s health and insurance plans are the same for all employees. See the Summary Compensation Table below for a description of the perquisites provided to the CEOs and the other named executive officers during 2007.

40l(k) Plan and U.K Plan

The Company offers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in a retirement plan (the 401(k) Plan) that is based on employees pretax salary deferrals with Company matching contributions pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code). The Company matches a portion (one-half of any amount up to 6% of salary contributed) of the compensation deferred by each employee. The Company s matching contribution is fully vested after four years of employment at the rate of 25% per year of employment. See the section captioned

Termination of Employment and Change in Control Arrangements below for a more detailed description of the 401(k) Plan. See the Summary Compensation Table for amounts contributed by the Company to the named executive officers under the 401(k) Plan during 2007. The objective of this program is to help provide financial security into retirement, and to reward and motivate tenure and recruit and retain talent in a competitive market.

The retirement benefit attributable to Mr. Robinson relates to The Russell Berrie (UK) Ltd. Personal Pension Plan (which is similar to the 401(k) Plan), which is available to all employees of Russ Berrie (UK) Ltd. Contributions to the plan are made by both the employee and the employer in defined percentages of gross salary. The contributions of the plan are invested in market funds through the plan administrators. The value of each individual s retirement fund is returned as a cash sum upon retirement with which the employee can purchase an annuity to provide income during retirement.

28

Table of Contents

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Under the Company s Amended and Restated 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP), eligible employees, including the NEOs, are provided the opportunity to purchase the Company s common stock at the lesser of 85% of the closing market price of the Company s common stock on either the first trading day or the last trading day of the plan year. We feel that offering the opportunity to purchase our stock at a discount to our employees (including our executives) encourages the alignment of their interests with those of our stockholders. Options are granted to participants as of the first trading day of each calendar year, and may be exercised as of the last trading day of each plan year, to purchase from the Company the number of shares of common stock that may be purchased at the relevant purchase price with the aggregate amount contributed by each participant. In each plan year, an eligible employee may elect to participate in the plan by authorizing a payroll deduction of up to 10% (in whole percentages) of his or her compensation. No participant shall have the right to purchase Company common stock under this plan that has a fair market value in excess of \$25,000 in any plan year. If an employee does not elect to exercise his or her option, the total amount credited to his or her account during that plan year is returned to such employee without interest, and his or her option expires. The Board has approved a substantially similar plan for fiscal 2009 through 2013, which will be subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company at the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. See Proposal 3 herein.

Special Bonus Plan

On April 19, 2007, the Committee approved a bonus plan providing for the payment of cash bonuses to specified key executives of the Company upon the consummation of certain corporate transactions (the Bonus Plan). The amount payable, if any, under the Bonus Plan would be based upon the terms of the transaction(s). There can be no assurance as to whether a transaction that would call for the payment of a bonus will occur or as to the terms thereof. The Company believes that the aggregate amount payable, if any, under the Bonus Plan will not exceed approximately \$500,000, which aggregate amount will be payable to three specified NEOs. The Company established this plan in order to motivate the most senior management of the Company to remain with the Company despite the uncertainty and dislocation that may arise out of certain significant corporate transactions not governed by the Company s change in control plan, and to help eliminate from any decision-making process potential distractions caused by concerns over personal financial and employment security.

POST-TERMINATION BENEFITS

Change-in-Control Plan

Arrangements below, participants in the Company s change in control plan are entitled to specified benefits in the event of defined terminations in connection with a change in control. Under this plan, a change in control will generally be deemed to have occurred: (A) where any person or group, other than specified individuals and entities, becomes the beneficial owner of 25% or more of the voting power of the Company, (B) as a result of specified events, a defined group of directors (including certain newly-elected directors) ceases to be a majority of the Board, (C) consummation of specified business combinations, sales of assets or recapitalizations or similar transactions involving the Company, or (D) approval by the shareholders of a plan of liquidation or dissolution of the Company. We adopted this plan because we deemed it prudent and reasonable to provide this benefit in order to help ensure the cooperation and continuity of management should any of the aforementioned events occur, and to help eliminate from any decision-making process potential distractions caused by concerns over personal financial and employment security. The elements of the change in control definition were chosen to cover a diverse range of circumstances where either the ownership or leadership of the Company changes to a degree sufficient in our view to warrant the provision of protections to participants whose employment is terminated by the Company in order to encourage participants to continue their employment through a change in control to ensure a smooth transition when and if required. See the

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control table and subsequent narrative below for a description of the potential amounts payable pursuant to this plan to our named executive officers (other than the CEOs, who are not participants in this plan) under specified assumptions.

Table of Contents

Severance Policy

The Company s severance policy, applicable generally to employees who are domestic vice presidents or above and who are designated as participants in the plan by the Committee (other than the CEOs, who are not participants in this plan), described in further detail in the section captioned Termination of Employment and Change in Control **Arrangements** below, generally provides that in the event of a termination by the Company without cause (as defined in the Change in Control Plan), participants will be granted specified severance benefits. In addition, effective March 30, 2007, the severance policy specifies that in the event that the employment of eligible vice presidents is terminated in connection with the consummation of certain corporate transactions, the severance payments and benefits applicable to such terminated individual will be extended by an additional 4 months up to a maximum severance period of 12 months, and in the event that a participant is due payments and benefits under both the Severance Policy and the Change in Control Plan, such participant will receive the greater of the benefits and payments, determined on an item-by-item basis. This trigger was deemed appropriate to capture situations not always governed by the Company s change in control plan, and to provide a limited degree of income protection to our executives in the event of a termination of employment by the Company other than for cause. We feel that the amounts provided pursuant to this plan are appropriately based on years of service and are reasonable in the context of our total compensation program. See the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control table and subsequent narrative below for a description of the potential amounts payable pursuant to this plan as of the end of 2007 to participating named executive officers under specified assumptions.

CEO COMPENSATION

Mr. Gatto

In determining the various components of Mr. Gatto s compensation package at the time of the commencement of his employment, the Committee reviewed a variety of factors it deemed appropriate, including, but not limited to, Mr. Gatto s prior responsibilities and experience, most current compensation, scope of the position and then-current challenges and future plans of the Company. As a result of this analysis and negotiations between Mr. Gatto and the Company, on April 9, 2004, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Gatto to become President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company effective June 1, 2004, at an annual base salary of \$650,000 (which salary could not be decreased during the term of his agreement). This base salary remained in effect until his retirement as of December 3, 2007. See *Internal Pay Equity* below.

In 2006 and 2007, Mr. Gatto was included in the IC Program in lieu of specified incentive compensation provisions included in his employment agreement as originally executed, which were similar in operation to the IC Program. Due to losses in our gift segment and related restructuring activities, targets with respect to the merit bonus and one-time super bonus described in Mr. Gatto s employment agreement were never set.

In addition, pursuant to his employment agreement, the Company provided Mr. Gatto with specified equity grants and perquisites. See the section captioned Employment Agreements and Arrangements for a description of the material provisions of Mr. Gatto s employment agreement, including equity grants, perquisites, post-termination benefits and excise tax provisions. See the Summary Compensation Table for a description of the elements of Mr. Gatto s compensation during 2007, including amounts paid or accrued to him resulting from his departure from the Company as of December 3, 2007.

Mr. Crain

In determining the various components of Mr. Crain s compensation package at the time of the commencement of his employment, the Committee again reviewed a variety of factors it deemed appropriate, including, but not limited to, Mr. Crain s prior responsibilities and experience, most current compensation, scope of the position, completion of the Special Considerations for 2006 described in the 2007 Proxy Statement, the current operational position of the Company (as compared to such position as of the commencement of Mr. Gatto s employment), the recommendations of REDA as well as the Company s current challenges and future plans. As a result of this analysis and negotiations between Mr. Crain and the Company, as of December 4, 2007, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Crain as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, at an annual base salary of \$550,000 (which salary cannot be decreased during the term of his agreement). See *Internal Pay Equity* below.

Table of Contents

In addition, pursuant to his employment agreement, and as further inducement to his joining the Company, the Company made specified equity grants to Mr. Crain, and agreed to provide Mr. Crain with specified incentive compensation opportunities and perquisites. See the section captioned Employment Agreements and Arrangements for a description of the material provisions of Mr. Crain s employment agreement, including incentive compensation, equity grants, perquisites and post-termination benefits. See the Summary Compensation Table for a description of the elements of Mr. Crain s compensation during 2007.

OTHER COMPENSATION POLICIES AND CONSIDERATIONS

Periodic Review

We periodically review each element of our compensation program described above to ensure that each such element continues to meet our stated objectives.

Internal Pay Equity

We believe that internal equity is one factor of many to be considered in establishing compensation for our executives. We have not established a policy regarding the ratio of total compensation of the CEO to that of the other executive officers, but do review compensation levels to ensure that appropriate equity exists. The difference between the Chief Executive Officer s compensation and that of the other named executive officers reflects the significant difference in their relative responsibilities. The CEO s responsibilities for management and oversight of a global enterprise are significantly higher than those of the other executive officers. As a result, the market pay level for our CEO is substantially higher than the market pay for other officer positions. We intend to continue to review internal compensation equity and may consider the adoption of a formal policy in the future if we deem such a policy to be appropriate.

Timing of Stock Option (and Other Equity) Grants

Our practices with respect to equity grants include the following:

- (i) except for inducement grants for new executives, we plan stock option and other equity grant dates well in advance of any actual grant (regarding usual grants, the timing of each grant is determined at least several weeks in advance to coincide with a scheduled meeting of the Board and the Committee);
- (ii) except for inducement awards, the grant date for all awards is made an appropriate period in advance of or is deferred until after the Company has released earnings for the fiscal year or latest relevant fiscal quarter (with respect to inducement awards, such awards are usually made some period after the commencement of employment, typically between one and ninety days after announcement or commencement); grants are typically made to all employees receiving awards (other than inducement awards) at the same time;
 - (iii) the Company s executives do not determine the grant date of equity awards;
 - (iv) the grant date of equity awards is generally the date of approval of the grants;
- (v) the exercise price with respect to grants of stock options is the market closing price of the underlying common stock on the grant date;
- (vi) if at the time of any planned equity grant date any member of the Board or senior executive is aware of material non-public information, we would not generally make the grant; and
- (vii) regarding the grant process, the Committee does not delegate any related function, however, as is described above, the Committee receives significant input and recommendations from the CEO with respect to appropriate grant levels. See Role of Management above.

ACCOUNTING CONSIDERATIONS

Our stock option grant policies have been impacted by the implementation of SFAS No. 123R, which we adopted in the first quarter of 2006. This accounting pronouncement requires the costs resulting from all share-based

31

Table of Contents

compensation transactions to be recognized in the financial statements at their fair values. Effective December 28, 2005, we amended all outstanding stock option agreements pertaining to options with exercise prices in excess of the market price for the underlying stock at the close of business on December 28, 2005 which had remaining vesting requirements. As a result of these amendments, all such options, which represented all outstanding options, became fully vested and immediately exercisable at the close of business on December 28, 2005. Prior to such amendments, all such options were subject to ratable vesting schedules over periods ranging from one to five years. Prior to such amendments, options to purchase 1,769,804 shares of our Common Stock were outstanding, of which 273,138 such options were vested. As a result of such amendments, the remaining 1,496,666 options became vested in full. Because these options were priced above the then current market price on December 28, 2005, the acceleration of vesting of these options did not result in any expense being recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. The purpose of the accelerated vesting of stock options was to enable us to avoid recognizing compensation expense associated with these options in future periods (including 2007) as required by SFAS 123(R), estimated at the date of acceleration to be \$1.6 million (pre-tax) in 2006 and in subsequent years through 2010 of approximately \$3.7 million (pre-tax).

TAX CONSIDERATIONS

Section 162(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 generally disallows a tax deduction to public companies for compensation in excess of \$1 million paid to the CEO or any of the four other most highly-compensated officers. Performance-based compensation arrangements may qualify for an exemption from the deduction limit if they satisfy various requirements under Section 162(m). Although the Company considers the impact of this rule when developing and implementing its executive compensation programs, tax deductibility is not a primary objective of our compensation programs. In our view and the view of the Committee, meeting the compensation objectives set forth above is more important than the benefit of being able to deduct the compensation for tax purposes. Accordingly, the Company has not adopted a policy that all compensation must qualify as deductible under Section 162(m).

If an executive is entitled to nonqualified deferred compensation benefits that are subject to Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, and such benefits do not comply with Section 409A, then the benefits are taxable in the first year they are not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. In such case, the executive is subject to regular federal income tax, interest and an additional federal income tax of 20% of the benefit includible in income. Our plans that are subject to Section 409A are generally designed to comply with the requirements of such section so as to avoid possible adverse tax consequences that may result from noncompliance with Section 409A.

BENCHMARKING

We do not believe that it is appropriate to establish compensation levels primarily based on benchmarking. Therefore, we do not attempt to maintain a specific target percentile with respect to a specific list of benchmark companies in determining compensation for NEOs or other executives. Nevertheless, we do believe that information regarding pay practices at other companies is useful in two respects. First, we recognize that our compensation practices must be competitive in the marketplace. Second, this marketplace information is one of the considerations used by the Committee in assessing the reasonableness of compensation. Accordingly, the Committee reviews compensation levels for our named executive officers and other key executives against compensation levels at companies in our industry or industries similar to ours, and the Company does factor in the results of compensation surveys and the periodic recommendations of compensation consultants in establishing compensation for our NEOs and other key executives.

STOCK OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

Although we encourage stock ownership in the Company by our executives and directors, we have not established a formal policy regarding such stock ownership. We may explore whether the adoption of such a policy in the future would be appropriate.

FINANCIAL RESTATEMENT

To the extent permitted by governing law, for awards for 2007 and beyond, the Committee has the sole and absolute authority to make retroactive adjustments to any cash or equity based incentive compensation paid to

Table of Contents

executive officers and certain other officers where the payment was predicated upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of a restatement. Where applicable and appropriate, the Company will seek to recover any amount determined to have been inappropriately received by the individual executive.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis included herein with management, and based on such review and discussions, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board that such Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 and the Proxy Statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company.

Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. Compensation Committee Frederick Horowitz, Lauren Krueger and Mario Ciampi April 28, 2008

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

During 2007, the following were members of the Compensation Committee: Messrs. Landman, Horowitz, Benaroya, Kling, Wahle, Ciampi and Ms. Krueger.* Mr. Ciampi, a partner of Prentice, is a Prentice Director, and Ms. Krueger, an executive officer of an affiliate of Laminar, is a Laminar Director. None of the foregoing individuals is or ever has been an officer or employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and no compensation committee interlocks existed during 2007.

* Neither

Mr. Kling nor

Mr. Wahle

stood for

election and the

2007 Annual

Meeting of

Shareholders;

Mr. Landman

retired from the

Board as of

June 7, 2007;

and Mr. Ciampi

replaced

Mr. Benaroya

on the

Compensation

Committee as of

his election to

the Board on

May 18, 2007.

33

Table of Contents

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth compensation for the year ended December 31, 2007 awarded to, earned by, paid to or accrued for the benefit of each of the current and former principal executive officers of the Company, each of the interim and former principal financial officers of the Company, and the three most highly compensated executive officers of the Company during 2007 other than the foregoing, who were serving as executive officers on December 31, 2007 (collectively, the named executive officers, or the NEOS).

Change
in
Pension
Value
and
Nonqualified
Deferred
and
Nonqualified

Stock Option Non-EquippeferredAll other Incentive

	mentive								
Name and Principal		Salary	Bonus	Awards	Awards	Placion	pens	atinpensation	Total
					Co	ompensa E			
Position	Year	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)(5)	(\$)(6)	(\$)(7)	(\$)	(\$)(9)	(\$)
Bruce Crain (A)	2007	432,198(1)	n/a	24,295	13,290	n/a	n/a	27,728	497,511
President and CEO	2006	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Andrew Gatto (A)	2007	607,500	n/a	n/a	n/a	164,451	n/a	2,161,302	2,933,253
President and CEO	2006	650,000	n/a	n/a	n/a	260,800	n/a	54,729	965,529
Anthony Cappiello									
(B)	2007	341,300(2)	100,000(8)	143	385	116,905	n/a	47,057	605,790
EVP, CAO and									
interim principal									
financial officer	2006	325,000(2)	n/a	n/a	n/a	163,000	n/a	50,461	538,461
James O Reardon,									
Jr. (B)	2007	256,804	56,694(8)	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	42,568	356,066
VP and CFO	2006	214,350	n/a	n/a	n/a	86,000	n/a	16,476	316,826
Marc S. Goldfarb									
(C)	2007	315,000	75,000(8)	132	356	107,896	n/a	20,402	518,786
SVP and General									
Counsel	2006	281,385	n/a	n/a	n/a	120,400	n/a	19,149	420,934
Jeffrey Bialosky (D)	2007	345,000	n/a	143	389	203,679	n/a	18,763	567,974
EVP Sales	2006	292,754	100,000(3)	7,583(4)	n/a	n/a	n/a	23,105	423,442
Chris Robinson (E)	2007	330,794	n/a	n/a	n/a	110,094	n/a	41,477	482,365
President		•				•		•	*

President International Division

(A) Mr. Crain became President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company as of December 4,

2007, upon the retirement of Andrew Gatto from such position as of December 3, 2007.

(B) Mr. Cappiello assumed the role of principal financial officer on an interim basis effective November 13, 2007, upon the retirement as of such date of the Company s former Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, James J. O Reardon, Jr. Mr. O Reardon, formerly Vice President Corporate Audits, became Vice President and Chief Financial Officer as of July 5, 2006. Mr. O Reardon s base salary was increased to \$250,000 as of January 1, 2007, retroactive to July 5, 2006.

(C) Mr. Goldfarb became Senior Vice President effective May 31, 2006, and his base salary was increased to \$300,000 for the remainder of 2006 and \$315,000 effective January 1, 2007.

(D) Mr. Bialosky became Executive

Vice President Sales effective in December 2006, and his base salary was increased to \$345,000

\$345,000. (E) Compensation for Mr. Robinson is provided only for 2007 because he was not a named executive officer in 2006. Mr. Robinson was appointed as President-International Division of the Company on February 11, 2003. Prior to such appointment, Mr. Robinson served, and continues to serve, as Managing Director of Russ Berrie (U.K.) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Mr. Robinson s compensation is paid in British Pounds Sterling. In order to calculate his 2007 compensation in U.S. dollars (as is set forth in the

table), we used a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007 (Pounds Sterling to U.S. dollars).

34

Table of Contents

- (1) Prior to his employment as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr. Crain had provided consulting services to the Company since March 2007 for consideration of \$45,833.33 per month (\$396,236 in the aggregate). Such consulting arrangement was terminated as of December 4, 2007.
- (2) Mr. Cappiello participated in the 2004 ESPP during 2007 and 2006. In connection therewith, he authorized payroll deductions equal to an aggregate of \$21,250 for each of 2007 and 2006 in accordance with the terms of the 2004 ESPP, and purchased an aggregate of 1,629 shares of Common Stock pursuant thereto as of December 31, 2007 and 2,192 shares of Common Stock as of December 29. 2006. See Employee Stock Purchase Plan

under the section captioned Other Elements of Compensation and Related Benefits in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the 2004 ESPP.

(3) The

Compensation
Committee
awarded this
amount to
Mr. Bialosky in its
discretion
although required
performance
criteria under his
incentive
compensation
arrangements for
2006 were not
achieved.

financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006 in accordance with FAS 123(R) with

(4) Reflects the dollar amount

recognized for

respect to the remaining portion of a 2003 grant of restricted stock to

Mr. Bialosky that vested during

2006.

Assumptions used in determining the 123(R) values can be found in the

Company s Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006, in footnote 19 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) Reflects the dollar

amount

recognized for

financial

statement

reporting purposes

for the fiscal year

ending

December 31,

2007 in

accordance with

FAS 123(R) with

respect to

issuances of

restricted stock to

the individuals in

the table in

December of

2007.

Assumptions used

in determining the

FAS 123(R)

values can be

found in the

Company s Annual

Report on Form

10-K for the year

ended

December 31,

2007 (the 2007

10-K), in footnote

17 to the Notes to

Consolidated

Financial

Statements. Even

though the awards

may be forfeited,

the amounts do

not reflect this

contingency.

These amounts do

not reflect any amounts recognized from prior years, as all relevant prior issuances of restricted stock vested in full in 2006. The grant date fair value of restricted stock awarded during 2007 is included in the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table below. The amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes excludes substantially all of the fair value of restricted stock awarded in 2007 to reflect the date of grant in late December 2007 and the fact that vesting of the restricted stock occurs in future

(6) Reflects the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007 in accordance with FAS 123(R) with respect to the issuance of

options to the

years.

individuals in the table in 2007. Assumptions used in determining the 123(R) values can be found in the 2007 10-K, in footnote 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Even though the awards may be forfeited, the amounts do not reflect this contingency. These amounts do not reflect any amounts recognized from prior years, as all prior issuances of options to the individuals in the table were fully vested as of December 28, 2005. See the section captioned Accounting Considerations in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the acceleration of the vesting period of specified options The grant date fair value of options awarded during 2007 is included in the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table below. The amount

recognized for financial statement

reporting purposes excludes substantially all of the fair value of options awarded in 2007 to reflect the date of grant in late December 2007 and the fact that vesting of the options occurs in future years.

- (7) Other than with respect to Mr. Bialosky, represents payouts under the IC Program for 2006 and 2007.
- (8) With respect to Messrs. Cappiello and Goldfarb, represents \$75,000 awarded at the discretion of the Committee to each of them based on such individuals substantial efforts in achieving the Company s goals with respect to the ongoing restructuring efforts in the Company s gift segment. Such additional award, although earned in 2007, is payable in 2008 at the CEO s discretion, but in no event later than August 1, 2008. In addition, as Mr. Cappiello assumed the position of interim

principal financial officer upon the retirement of Mr. O Reardon as of November 13, 2007, he received a special one-time bonus of \$25,000 in connection therewith. With respect to Mr. O Reardon, as he was no longer employed by the Company at the time of payment of amounts earned under the IC Program for 2007, he was not entitled to any payment thereunder. However, based on his employment for most of 2007, his many years of dedicated service to the Company and his continued efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, Mr. O Reardon was awarded an amount equal to 83% of the IC Award to which he would otherwise have been entitled had his employment continued.

35

Table of Contents

(9) The perquisites and other personal benefits included within the All Other Compensation for 2007 and 2006 for each named executive officer are as follows:

Income
Recognized
Annual Annual from
Premium Provision
for Premium of
Group

AnnuaLong-Term for

Company Contributions

			8			Extra				
		Car	Disability	Life	Life	week	Severance/	to		
			•				Retirement		Other(\$)	Total
Name	Year	(\$)	(\$)(a)	(\$)(a)	(\$)(b)	(\$)(c)		Plan(\$)(e	,	(\$)
Bruce Crain	2007	n/a		n/a	n/a	881	n/a	n/a	26,847	27,728
	2006	n/a		n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Andrew										
Gatto	2007	15,701	6,600	14,755	1,097	12,823	2,106,951	3,375		2,161,302
	2006	16,800	•	14,755	774	12,500	n/a	3,300		54,729
Anthony		-,	- ,	,		,		- ,		- ,
Cappiello	2007	13,200	n/a	n/a	494	6,563	n/a	6,442	20,358	47,057
**	2006	13,200		n/a	438	6,250	n/a	4,857	25,716	50,461
James J.		ŕ				•		ŕ	,	ŕ
O Reardon,										
Jr.	2007	11,677	n/a	n/a	1,064	n/a	23,077	6,750		42,568
	2006	10,600	n/a	n/a	1,019	n/a	n/a	4,857		16,476
Marc										
Goldfarb	2007	13,200	n/a	n/a	183	6,312	n/a	707		20,402
	2006	13,200	n/a	n/a	180	5,769	n/a			19,149
Jeffrey										
Bialosky	2007	13,200	n/a	n/a	270	n/a	n/a	5,293		18,763
-	2006	9,600	n/a	n/a	270	6,635	n/a	6,600		23,105
Chris										
Robinson(g)	2007	15,013	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	26,464	41,477

Term

(a) Provided in each of 2007 and 2006 to

Mr. Gatto pursuant to the terms of Mr. Gatto s employment agreement with the Company. With respect to life insurance and disability insurance coverage as described in Mr. Crain s employment agreement with the Company, no amounts are included in the chart as no costs have been accrued on behalf of Mr. Crain with respect to these benefits to date.

- (b) Such group term life insurance coverage is generally provided to all employees. Amounts represent the portion of the premium paid for amounts in excess of the limits for tax purposes.
- (c) Each NEO is entitled to three weeks of paid vacation, which in 2007 and 2006 represented a benefit of one additional week

for each NEO other than Mr. O Reardon and Mr. Bialosky during 2007 (as compared to Company policy based on tenure).

(d) For Mr. Gatto, consists of: (i) \$1,300,000, representing 200% of his annual base salary, to be paid in 24 equal monthly installments; (ii) \$164,451, representing the award under the IC Program otherwise payable to him for the year (pro-rated based on his date of termination), paid in March 2008, (iii) \$521,600, representing 200% of the incentive compensation award earned by him for 2006, paid in March 2008, (iv) \$27,046, representing the cost to the Company for Mr. Gatto to remain on the Company s health and

dental insurance

plan through the second anniversary of his termination, (v) \$16,354, representing the present value of continuation of Mr. Gatto s \$1,400 per month car allowance for 12 months, which was paid in January of 2008, (vi) \$10,000 as reimbursement of specified legal expenses incurred in connection with his separation arrangements, and (vii) \$67,500 for unused vacation. For Mr. O Reardon, consists of \$1,923 for unused holiday time and \$21,154 for unused vacation time in connection with his retirement. See Actual Terminations in 2007 under the section captioned Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control for a description of amounts

payable to

Messrs. Gatto and O Reardon in connection with their departure from the Company.

(e) Amounts represent the Company s match to contributions under the 401(k) Plan on the same basis as provided to all employees. Does not include investment gains or losses under the 401(k) Plan. Because the Company s contributions to the 40l(k) Plan are not fixed, and because it is impossible to calculate future income, it is not currently possible to calculate an individual participant s retirement benefits.

(f) With respect to Mr. Crain, consists of reimbursement of \$25,000 for legal fees incurred in connection with his employment and consulting agreements with the Company,

and \$1,847 for tax preparation and financial planning services, each reimbursed to Mr. Crain in accordance with the provisions of his employment

36

Table of Contents

agreement with

the Company.

See

Employment

Agreements and

Arrangements

below. With

respect to

Mr. Cappiello,

consists of

\$20,358 paid to

Mr. Cappiello in

2007 as a

housing

allowance in

accordance with

the terms of his

employment

agreement; and

\$25,716 paid to

Mr. Cappiello in

2006 (of a total

of \$27,500) for

relocation

expenses in

connection with

the

commencement

of his

employment

with the

Company in

July of 2005.

For

Mr. Robinson,

consists of the

Company s

contributions

under The

Russell Berrie

(UK) Ltd.

Personal

Pension Plan for

2007, which

plan is not a

defined benefit

or actuarial

plan. Because

the employer s

contributions to this plan are not fixed, and because it is impossible to calculate future income, it is not currently possible to calculate Mr. Robinsons s retirement benefits. See 401(k) Plan and U.K. Plan under Other Elements of Compensation and Related Benefits in the CD&A for a description of this plan.

(g) Mr. Robinson s compensation is paid in British Pounds Sterling. All amounts in the tables with respect to Mr. Robinson are reported in U.S. dollars, using a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007 (Pounds Sterling to U.S.

dollars).

2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table provides information with respect to non-equity incentive plan awards to the NEOs in 2007 as well as option and restricted stock awards made to NEOs during 2007.

All Other Stock All Other

						Awards	Option	Exercise	Grant
		Estimated	Possible(1) Payouts	Future Payouts Under Equity	Number	Awards:	or Base	Date Fair
					Incentive		Number	Price	
			on-Equity I lan Award		Plans	of Shares	of	of Ontion	Value of
	Grant	Threshold	ian Award Target		Awards res hahda x	of Stock or Units	Securities Underlying	-	Stock and Option
Name	Date	(\$)(2)	(\$)(2)	(\$)(2)	(#) (#) (#)	(#)		_	Awards(9)
Bruce	12/05/07		, , , ,		, , , , , , ,	85,000	100,000	n/a	1,364,250
Crain(3)	12/05/07						20,000	16.05	620,000
	12/05/07							16.05	31,200
Andrew		52,000	260,000	520,000					
Gatto			.=. =						
Anthony	10/05/05	34,100	170,700	341,300		3,900(7)	26,700	n/a	65,403
Cappiello(4)	12/27/07 12/27/07							16.77	175,686
James J.									
O Reardon,		••••	100.000	• • • • • • •					
Jr.(5)		20,000	100,000	200,000		2.600	24.700	,	(0.272
Marc	10/07/07	31,500	157,500	315,000		3,600	24,700	n/a	60,372
Goldfarb(4)	12/27/07 12/27/07							16.77	162,526
Jeffrey		138,000	172,500	345,000		3,900	27,000	n/a	65,403
Bialosky(4)(6)	12/27/07 12/27/07							16.77	177,660
Chris									
Robinson(10)		41,035	205,575	410,949					

(1) Awards described herein were made in the same year they were earned. Actual amounts earned by each NEO are disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table above, including NEOs whose employment with the Company terminated during 2007.

(2) Other than with

respect to

Mr. Crain and

Mr. Bialosky,

the numbers in

the table

represent

potential

payouts under

the IC Program

for 2007. As is

described more

fully in the

Compensation

Discussion and

Analysis above,

whereas a single

threshold, target

and maximum

exists for

corporate

participants in

the IC Program,

Mr. Robinson s

incentive

compensation

arrangement

includes a

threshold, target

and maximum

for each of three

different

geographic

areas. For

purposes of this

table, with

respect to

Mr. Robinson,

the amount in

the Threshold

column assumes

achievement of

the threshold

amount in all of

the relevant

geographic

areas, the

amount in the

Target column

assumes

achievement of

the target in all of the relevant geographic areas, and the amount in the Max column assumes achievement of the maximum amounts in all of the relevant geographic areas.

37

Table of Contents

(3) Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was awarded (i) 85,000 shares of restricted stock under the Company s 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan (the 2004 Plan), which vest ratably over a four-year period commencing one year after the commencement date of his employment. In addition, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was granted 100,000 stock options pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Of the foregoing options, 80,000 of such options vest ratably over a five-year period commencing one year after the commencement date of his employment, and the remaining 20,000 of such

options will

become fully vested on the six-month anniversary of such commencement date. In addition, 20,000 options were granted to Mr. Crain on December 5, 2007 outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations therein), which vest ratably over a five-year period commencing one year after the commencement date of his employment, and will be generally exercisable for 10 years from such date. Further details of such option and restricted stock grants can be found in the footnotes to the 2007 Outstanding **Equity Awards** at Fiscal Year End table below.

(4) Equity awards in the table reflects shares of restricted stock and options granted to the relevant

individual on December 27, 2007 pursuant to the 2004 Plan. The terms of such awards are described in the footnotes to the 2007 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End table below.

(5) Mr. O Reardon was no longer employed by the Company at the time of payment of amounts earned under the IC Program for 2007, and in accordance with the provisions of the IC Program, he was not entitled to any payment thereunder. However, based on his employment for most of 2007, his many years of dedicated service to the Company and his continued efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, Mr. O Reardon was awarded an amount equal to 83% of the IC Award to which he would otherwise have

been entitled

had his employment continued (\$56,694).

(6) Mr. Bialosky is not a participant in the IC Program. His incentive compensation arrangement is described in the section captioned 2007 Incentive Compensation for Mr. Bialosky in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis above. Mr. Bialosky s incentive compensation arrangement includes a threshold, target, stretch and maximum for each of four different performance metrics. For purposes of this table, with respect to Mr. Bialosky, the amount in the Threshold column assumes achievement of the threshold amount in all of the relevant performance metrics, the amount in the

Target column

achievement of

assumes

the target in all of the relevant performance metrics, and the amount in the Max column assumes achievement of the maximum amounts in all of the relevant performance metrics.

(7) In addition to the number set forth in the table, Mr. Cappiello participated in the 2004 ESPP during 2007 and 2006. In connection therewith, he authorized payroll deductions equal to an aggregate of \$21,250 for each of 2007 and 2006 in accordance with the terms of the 2004 ESPP, and purchased an aggregate of 1,629 shares of Common Stock pursuant thereto as of December 31, 2007 and 2,192 shares of Common Stock as of December 29,

2006. See

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

under the section captioned *Other Elements of Compensation and Related Benefits* in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for a description of the 2004 ESPP.

- (8) The exercise price of the stock options is equal to the closing price of our Common Stock on the NYSE on the date of grant.
- (9) Amounts represent the cumulative grant date fair value of each equity award granted during 2007 to the relevant NEOs, computed in accordance with FAS 123(R). Assumptions used in determining the 123(R) values can be found in the 2007 10-K, in footnote 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
- (10) Numbers in the table for Mr. Robinson have been

converted from British Pounds Sterling to U.S. dollars at a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007 (Pounds Sterling to U.S. dollars).

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards

Other than with respect to Mr. Bialosky, all awards listed as Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards in the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table above represent potential payouts under the IC Program for 2007. The structure and operation of the IC Program is set forth in detail in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis under the section captioned 2007 Cash Incentive Compensation . Mr. Bialosky is not a participant in the IC Program. The structure and operation of his incentive compensation arrangement is described in the section captioned 2007 Incentive Compensation for Mr. Bialosky in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

38

Table of Contents

Employment Contracts and Arrangements

Mr. Crain

As of December 4, 2007 (the Commencement Date), Mr. Crain entered into an agreement (the Crain Agreement) with the Company, with respect to his employment as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, at an annual base salary of \$550,000. Mr. Crain s base salary may not be decreased during the term of his employment with the Company, and is subject to annual increase in the discretion of the Committee. The Company has also agreed to nominate him as a member of the Board during the term of the Agreement. Commencing in 2008, Mr. Crain will be eligible for an annual cash incentive compensation opportunity in an amount not less than 75% of his base salary at target and 130% at maximum. Mr. Crain s performance goals in respect of such incentive compensation opportunity, which will be established by the Compensation Committee annually in consultation with Mr. Crain, will not be established at levels that are more difficult to achieve than for other bonus participants who have identical performance measures.

Also pursuant to the Crain Agreement, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was awarded 85,000 shares of restricted stock under the Company s 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan (the 2004 Plan), which vest ratably over a four-year period commencing one year after the Commencement Date. In addition, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was granted 100,000 stock options pursuant to the Plan. Of the foregoing, 80,000 of such options vest ratably over a five-year period commencing one year after the Commencement Date, and will be generally exercisable for 10 years from the Commencement Date. The remaining 20,000 of such options will become fully vested on the six-month anniversary of the Commencement Date and are generally exercisable for 10 years from the Commencement Date. An additional 20,000 options were granted to Mr. Crain on December 5, 2007 outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations therein), which vest ratably over a five-year period commencing one year after the Commencement Date, and are generally exercisable for 10 years from the Commencement Date. Pursuant to the Crain Agreement, an additional 100,000 options were granted to Mr. Crain on January 4, 2008 under the 2004 Plan, which options vest ratably over a five-year period commencing one year after the Commencement Date and will be generally exercisable for 10 years from the Commencement Date. Each grant of options and restricted stock described above (collectively, the Equity Awards, and as to the options only, the Options) were made pursuant to an option agreement or a restricted stock agreement, as applicable. The exercise price of the Options is the closing price of the Company s Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the date of grant.

Pursuant to the Crain Agreement, Mr. Crain is entitled to participate in the Company s employee benefit plans and programs applicable to senior executives generally and on a basis no less favorable than those provided to other senior executives. In addition, Mr. Crain will be entitled to life insurance coverage equal to 200% of his annual base salary (or the life insurance benefit under the Company s life insurance program for senior executives if the latter would provide for a higher level of coverage), long-term disability benefits during the period of disability equal to 50% of his base salary (prior to offsets provided in the Company s long-term disability plan) through the Company s long-term disability plan and a supplemental disability program (the Company will use commercially reasonable best efforts to arrange for the provision of all or part of the supplemental disability benefit on a non-taxable basis to Mr. Crain), reimbursement for tax preparation and financial planning services not to exceed \$5,000 annually, reimbursement for an annual physical examination and director s and officer s liability insurance coverage during the term of his employment and for six years thereafter in an annual amount equal to at least the greater of \$5.0 million or the coverage provided to any other present or former senior executive or director of the Company. Mr. Crain is also entitled to reimbursement for his legal fees in connection with the Crain Agreement and the consulting arrangement he had with the Company prior to execution of the Crain Agreement, up to a maximum of \$25,000, and outplacement services in the event of his termination without Cause or termination for Good Reason for a period of six months following such termination in an amount not to exceed \$10,000. Mr. Crain is not a participant in the Company s Severance Policy or Change in Control Plan (each as defined herein). Mr. Crain is entitled to three week s vacation annually (one week more than he would be entitled to based on tenure). See footnote 9 of the Summary Compensation Table above for a description of perquisites received by Mr. Crain during 2007.

If the employment of Mr. Crain is terminated by the Company for Cause or by Mr. Crain without Good Reason (each as defined in the Crain Agreement), he will be entitled to receive his base salary earned through the date of

termination, bonus amounts earned for any prior year and not yet paid, and other amounts and benefits, if any, 39

Table of Contents

provided under applicable Company programs and policies (collectively, the Accrued Benefits). In addition, the unvested portion of the Equity Awards will be cancelled or immediately forfeited, as applicable, and any unexercised, vested portion of the Options shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.

If the Company terminates the employment of Mr. Crain without Cause or he terminates his employment for Good Reason, Mr. Crain will be entitled to receive his base salary earned through the date of termination and for a period of six months thereafter, bonus amounts earned for any prior year and not yet paid, continued life insurance coverage (as set forth in the Crain Agreement) for a period of six months following the date of termination, coverage under the Company s medical and dental, if any, programs during the twelve-month period following the date of termination, and in the event of termination without Cause only, the pro-rata portion of his bonus for the year in which the date of termination occurs based on actual performance for such year. Also in the event of any such termination, the Equity Awards will become immediately vested and/or non-forfeitable, as applicable, to the same extent as if Mr. Crain had completed an additional two years of service after the date of termination, and the Options shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.

If the employment of Mr. Crain is terminated by the Company as a result of his Disability (as defined in the Crain Agreement), he will be entitled to receive the Accrued Benefits, as well as the long-term disability benefit described above. If the employment of Mr. Crain is terminated as a result of his death, his estate will be entitled to receive the Accrued Benefits, and his designated beneficiary (or his estate in the absence of such designation) will be entitled to receive the life insurance benefit described above. In addition, in the event that the employment of Mr. Crain is terminated as a result of his death or Disability, he, his estate, or his designated beneficiary, as applicable, will be entitled to the pro-rata portion of the bonus for the year in which the date of termination occurs based on actual performance for such year, and the Equity Awards will become immediately vested and/or non-forfeitable, as applicable, to the same extent as if Mr. Crain had completed an additional two years of service after the date of termination, and the Options shall remain exercisable for the shorter of one year following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.

In the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the Crain Agreement), whether or not termination of employment occurs, the Equity Awards will become immediately vested and/or non-forfeitable, as applicable, to the extent that such Equity Awards were scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control, and the vesting dates of the Equity Awards that were not scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control shall be accelerated by three years. If the Company terminates Mr. Crain s employment without Cause and a Change in Control occurs within six months of the date of such termination, such Equity Awards that were scheduled to vest within three years of the date of termination, and which did not vest as described above, shall become vested and exercisable on the date of such Change in Control, and shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.

The Crain Agreement includes a restriction against specified competitive activities during Mr. Crain s employment by the Company and for a period of one year thereafter and a non-solicitation agreement for a period of two years.

If Mr. Crain determines that any amounts due to him under the Crain Agreement and any other plan or program of the Company constitute a parachute payment, as such term is defined in Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code, and the amount of the parachute payment, reduced by all federal, state and local taxes applicable thereto, including the excise tax imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code, is less than the amount that he would receive if he were paid three times his base amount, as defined in Section 280G(b)(3) of the Code, less \$1.00, reduced by all federal, state and local taxes applicable thereto, then at Mr. Crain s request the Company shall reduce the aggregate of the amounts constituting the parachute payment to an amount that will equal three times his base amount less \$1.00.

In the event of any termination of the employment of Mr. Crain, he is under no obligation to seek other employment, and there shall be no offset against any amounts due him on account of any remuneration attributable to any subsequent employment that he may obtain.

Table of Contents

94

Table of Contents

Mr. Gatto (retired as of December 3, 2007)

An agreement was executed between the Company and Andrew Gatto as of April 9, 2004 (the Gatto Agreement). Pursuant to the Gatto Agreement, Mr. Gatto became President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company as of June 1, 2004, at an annual base salary of \$650,000 per year, subject to annual increases at the discretion of the Board (his annual base salary for 2007 remained at \$650,000). In 2006 and 2007, Mr. Gatto was included in the IC Program as a corporate participant with an Applicable Percentage of 40%, in lieu of specified incentive compensation provisions included in his employment agreement as originally executed. Due to losses in our gift segment and related restructuring activities, targets with respect to the merit bonus and one-time super bonus described in Mr. Gatto s employment agreement were never set. For 2007, Mr. Gatto received an incentive compensation amount under the IC Program of \$164,451.

In addition to the foregoing and in accordance with the Gatto Agreement, on June 1, 2004, Mr. Gatto was granted (i) a ten-year stock option under the 2004 Plan to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock and (ii) a ten-year stock option outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations therein) to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock, in each case with an exercise price of \$19.53 per share, the closing market price of such stock on the NYSE on the date of grant. The Gatto Agreement also provided that additional option grants would be considered at the discretion of the Board no less frequently than triennially and, in accordance therewith, in May 2005, Mr. Gatto was granted an additional ten-year stock option under the 2004 Plan to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock at an exercise price of \$13.05 per share. All of the foregoing options became fully vested and immediately exercisable as of December 28, 2005. See Compensation Discussion and Analysis above for a discussion of the acceleration of the vesting period of specified options as of December 28, 2005.

On April 9, 2004, Mr. Gatto was appointed to the Company s Board of Directors. Mr. Gatto was entitled to participate generally in all pension, retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company on terms no less favorable than those provided to such officers, and also received a car allowance. In addition, the Company provided Mr. Gatto with a life insurance policy in an amount equal to the lesser of (x) \$3,500,000 and (y) the maximum amount that can be purchased for a premium of \$15,000 annually, and reimbursement for up to \$6,000 per year for certain long term disability insurance policy premiums. Mr. Gatto was also entitled to three week s annual vacation (one week more than he would be entitled to based on tenure). See footnote 9 of the Summary Compensation Table above for a description of perquisites received by Mr. Gatto during 2007.

In the event of the termination of Mr. Gatto s employment either by the Company for Cause, or by Mr. Gatto without Good Reason (each as defined in the Agreement), Mr. Gatto was entitled to receive base salary earned and bonus amounts earned for prior periods but not paid as of the date of termination and other benefits, if any, in accordance with applicable Company policy. In addition, any unexercised portion of any options granted to him to date shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 30 days or their remaining term.

In the event of the termination of Mr. Gatto s employment under the Agreement was terminated by the Company without Cause or by reason of the Disability of Mr. Gatto, or by Mr. Gatto for Good Reason (each as defined in the Agreement), whether or not in connection with a change of control or by reason of Mr. Gatto s death, Mr. Gatto was entitled to receive the following:

- 1. base salary earned and bonus amounts earned for prior periods but not paid as of the date of termination;
- 2. other benefits, if any, in accordance with applicable Company policy;
- 3. an amount equal to 200% of his annual base salary at the time of the termination;
- 4. payment of (A) an amount equal to the pro-rata portion of the award under the IC Program otherwise payable to him for the year in which such termination occurs, determined using the actual EBITDA achieved in the year in which the termination occurs and (B) an amount equal to 200% of the incentive compensation award actually earned by him with respect to the last full fiscal year of his employment.

41

Table of Contents

5. if targets had been established with respect thereto, an amount equal to the pro-rata portion of the merit bonus earned by Mr. Gatto for the year of termination, as determined by the Committee in its good faith discretion;

6. if targets had been established with respect thereto, and if such termination occurred during or after the second year of any two-year period in which the super bonus (SB) would have been earned had Mr. Gattos employment not been terminated, he would have been entitled to an amount equal to a pro-rata portion (based upon the portion of the two year period in which the SB was earned during which he was employed) of the SB amount otherwise payable to him had his employment not been terminated. If his employment was terminated for any reason prior to the second year in which the SB would have been earned had his employment not been terminated, Mr. Gatto would not be entitled to any portion thereof.

There will be no offset against the foregoing amounts due him on account of any remuneration attributable to any subsequent employment that he may obtain. In addition to items (1) through (6) above, the Company will, through the second anniversary of such qualified termination, continue to provide to Mr. Gatto medical and other insurance benefits, in each case to the extent and on substantially the same basis as provided immediately prior to such termination.

Further, in the event of such termination, the unexercised portion of the options granted to him shall remain exercisable for a period of two years or the remaining term of such options, whichever is shorter.

Mr. Gatto was not a participant in the Company s Severance Policy or Change in Control Plan.

As of December 3, 2007, Mr. Gatto retired as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and his employment was terminated by agreement between Mr. Gatto and the Company. In connection with his departure, Mr. Gatto will receive substantially the payments and other benefits applicable to a termination by Mr. Gatto with Good Reason or a termination by the Company without Cause under the Gatto Agreement. In consideration of the foregoing, Mr. Gatto executed a release in substantially the form previously filed with the Gatto Agreement, and agreed to make himself available to provide transitional assistance to the Company for a period of four months. The restrictions in his employment agreement pertaining to non-competition, non-solicitation and no disparagement remain applicable. See footnote 9 of the Summary Compensation Table above and the section captioned Actual Terminations in 2007 in the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control section below for further detail with respect to amounts and benefits paid and/or accrued to Mr. Gatto as a result of his departure from the Company.

Mr. Cappiello

On July 27, 2005, the Company entered into an employment agreement, effective August 1, 2005 with Anthony Cappiello, with respect to his employment as Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of the Company. In accordance with the terms of his agreement, Mr. Cappiello is entitled to an annual base salary of \$325,000, which will not be reduced (his current base salary is \$353,000). Mr. Cappiello assumed the position of interim principal financial officer upon the retirement of Mr. O Reardon as of November 13, 2007, and in connection therewith, received a special one-time bonus of \$25,000. Mr. Cappiello is also entitled to participate in the IC Program with an Applicable Percentage of 50% *provided*, however, that \$65,000 of his potential incentive compensation for 2007 was guaranteed to be paid in equal quarterly installments. In addition, after 3 months of continuous employment, Mr. Cappiello was granted 50,000 stock options pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Future option grants are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board. See the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table above for a description of equity issued to Mr. Cappiello in 2007.

Pursuant to his agreement, Mr. Cappiello is also entitled to participate generally in all retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company, and receives a car allowance. Mr. Cappiello is also entitled to three week s annual vacation (one week more than he would be entitled to based on tenure). Mr. Cappiello is not a participant in the Company s Severance Policy, but is a participant in the Company s Change in Control Plan. In addition, pursuant to his current agreement with the Company, Mr. Cappiello is entitled to an annual housing allowance, resulting in a reimbursement of \$20,358 during 2007. His employment is at will .

42

Table of Contents

In accordance with his agreement, in the event that Mr. Cappiello s employment with the Company is terminated for any reason other than for cause, except in the case of a Change in Control in the Company, as defined in the Company s Change in Control Plan (in which case severance will be governed by the terms of such plan), he will be eligible to receive severance in accordance with the following schedule: (i) during the first 8 months following such termination, severance pay at the rate of 100% of his annual base salary in effect on the termination date (the Termination Amount), (ii) during the 9th and 10th months following such termination, severance pay at the rate of 75% of the Termination Amount, and (iii) during the 11th and 12th months following such termination, severance pay at the rate of 50% of the Termination Amount. All severance payments will be paid over the course of the severance period. During such severance period, Mr. Cappiello will be entitled to continue to participate in Company insurance plans (and will continue to receive his car allowance). All severance payments and benefits, however, will terminate if

Mr. Cappiello obtains gainful employment during the severance period. In addition, the March 30, 2007 amendments

to the Severance Policy are applicable to Mr. Cappiello (i.e., in the event such amendments are triggered,

Mr. Cappiello will receive 100% of his annual base salary for a period of 12 months).

Mr. O Reardon (retired as of November 13, 2007)

As of July 5, 2006, James J. O Reardon, Jr., formerly Vice President Corporate Audits, assumed the position of Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company. In connection therewith, Mr. O Reardon s employment arrangement provided for an annual base salary of \$250,000, subject to periodic review. Mr. O Reardon also participated in the IC Program with an Applicable Percentage of 40%. Option grants were at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. Pursuant to his arrangement with the Company, Mr. O Reardon was also entitled to participate generally in all retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company, including the Company s Severance Policy, and received a monthly car allowance. Mr. O Reardon was a participant in the Change in Control Plan. His employment was at will . Mr. O Reardon retired as of November 13, 2007, and in connection therewith, he received \$1,923 of unused holiday time and \$21,154 of unused vacation time. Mr. O Reardon was no longer employed by the Company at the time of payment of amounts earned under the IC Program for 2007, and in accordance with the provisions of the IC Program, was not entitled to receive any payment with respect thereto; however, based on his employment for most of 2007, his many years of service to the Company and his continued efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, the Committee awarded Mr. O Reardon an amount equal to approximately 83% of the amount to which he would otherwise have been entitled under the IC Program for 2007. See the Summary Compensation Table above and the section captioned Actual Terminations in 2007 in the Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control section below for further detail with respect to the amounts and benefits paid and/or accrued to Mr. O Reardon upon his retirement.

Mr. Goldfarb

On September 26, 2005, Marc S. Goldfarb was hired as Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company at an annual base salary of \$260,000. In accordance with the terms of his current employment arrangement with the Company, Mr. Goldfarb serves as Senior Vice President and General Counsel of the Company (as of May 31, 2006) and during 2007, his annual base salary was \$315,000 (which amount was increased to \$326,000 as of January 1, 2008). Pursuant to his current arrangement, Mr. Goldfarb is entitled to participate in the IC Program, with an Applicable Percentage of 50%. After 3 months of continuous employment, Mr. Goldfarb was granted 40,000 stock options pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Future option grants are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. See the 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards table above for a description of equity issued to Mr. Goldfarb in 2007. His employment is at will .

Pursuant to his arrangement with the Company, Mr. Goldfarb is also entitled to participate generally in all retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company, including the Company s Severance Policy (with a guaranteed minimum of 8 months of severance thereunder), and receives a monthly car allowance. Mr. Goldfarb is also entitled to three weeks annual vacation (one week more than he would be entitled to based on tenure). Mr. Goldfarb is a participant in the Change in Control Plan. In addition, the March 30, 2007 amendments to the Severance Policy are applicable to Mr. Goldfarb, i.e., in the event such amendments are triggered, Mr. Goldfarb will receive payments and benefits under the Severance Policy for a

43

Table of Contents

Mr. Bialosky

Mr. Bialosky, who joined the Company on April 4, 2003, currently serves as Executive Vice President Sales. During 2007, his employment arrangement provided for an annual base salary of \$345,000, which is subject to periodic review (such amount was increased to \$357,000 as of January 1, 2008). On his date of hire, Mr. Bialosky was awarded (i) 15,000 stock options, all of which were purchased by the Company on August 3, 2004; and (ii) 1,534 shares of restricted stock, all of which have vested (and have been sold). Future option grants are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. See the 2007 Grant of Plan Based Awards table above for a description of equity issued to Mr. Bialosky in 2007. Mr. Bialosky s employment with the Company is at will .

Mr. Bialosky is entitled to participate in a sales incentive compensation program pursuant to which he is eligible to receive a pre-determined percentage of his base salary if specified sales, margin, direct selling expense and inventory levels are achieved in accordance with specified targets. See 2007 Incentive Compensation for Mr. Bialosky in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further information with respect to Mr. Bialosky s incentive compensation arrangements. Pursuant to his employment arrangement, Mr. Bialosky is also entitled to participate generally in all pension, retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company, including the Severance Policy and the provision of a car allowance, and he is also entitled to three weeks annual vacation. Mr. Bialosky is a participant in the Company s Change in Control Plan, and the March 30, 2007 amendments to the Severance Policy are applicable to him.

Mr. Robinson

Mr. Robinson was appointed President International Division in February 2003 at an annual base salary of \$330,794 (converted from British Pounds Sterling at a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007), subject to periodic review (his current base salary is \$354,301, using the same conversion rate). In accordance with the terms of his employment arrangement with the Company, Mr. Robinson is entitled to participate in the IC Program, with an Applicable Percentage of 60% during 2007. Option grants are at the discretion of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Robinson was not granted an equity award in 2007. His employment is at will .

Pursuant to his arrangement with the Company, Mr. Robinson is also entitled to participate generally in all retirement, savings, welfare and other employee benefit plans and arrangements provided to other executive officers of the Company, including The Russell Berrie (UK) Ltd. Personal Pension Plan (in lieu of the 401(k) Plan) and Company s Severance Policy, and receives a monthly car allowance. Mr. Robinson is also entitled to three weeks annual vacation. Mr. Robinson is a participant in the Change in Control Plan.

See the Summary Compensation Table above for information with respect to compensation received by the NEOs under their employment agreements and arrangements during 2007.

Termination of Employment and Change-In-Control Arrangements

(i) 40l(k) Plan and U.K. Plan

The Company offers eligible employees the opportunity to participate in the 401(k) Plan based on employees pretax salary deferrals with Company matching contributions. Participating employees may elect to contribute from 1% to 75% (but not in excess of the amount permitted by the Code, i.e., \$15,500 in 2007, and \$20,500 in 2007 for employees age 50 and older who elect to make catch-up contributions) of their compensation, on a pretax basis, to the 401(k) Plan. Because the 401(k) Plan is a qualified defined contribution plan, if certain highly compensated employees contributions exceed the amount prescribed by the Code, such contributions will be reduced or limited. In 2007, contributions of certain highly compensated employees were limited to an average of 6.29% of their eligible compensation (excluding elective catch-up contributions). Employees contributions are invested in one or more of eight funds (as selected by each participating employee). The Company matches a portion (one-half of any amount up to 6% of salary contributed) of the compensation deferred by each employee. The Company s matching contribution is fully vested after four years of employment at the rate of 25% per year of employment. Under certain circumstances, the 401(k) Plan permits participants to make withdrawals or receive loans from the 401(k) Plan prior to retirement age.

Table of Contents 99

44

Table of Contents

The retirement benefit attributable to Mr. Robinson relates to The Russell Berrie (UK) Ltd. Personal Pension Plan, which is available to all employees of Russ Berrie (UK) Ltd. Contributions to the plan are made by both the employee and the employer in defined percentages of gross salary. The contributions of the plan are invested in market funds through the plan administrators. The value of each individual s retirement fund is returned as a cash sum upon retirement with which the employee can purchase an annuity to provide income during retirement.

(ii) Change in Control Plan

The Board adopted a Change in Control Severance Plan (the Change in Control Plan) effective January 29, 2003, as amended December 22, 2003 and March 13, 2007 (to clarify a provision thereunder).

Participants

Participants in the Change in Control Plan are those individuals from time to time designated by the Board or a duly authorized committee of the Board.

Benefits

If a participant s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in the Change in Control Plan) or by the participant for Good Reason (as defined in the Change in Control Plan) (each, a Qualifying Termination) during the period commencing six months prior to and ending two years after a Change in Control (defined in the Change in Control Plan generally to mean: (A) where any person or group, other than the Company, any of its subsidiaries, Ms. Berrie, Mr. Berrie s lineal descendants, Mr. Berrie s Estate, various specified

Control (defined in the Change in Control Plan generally to mean: (A) where any person or group, other than the Company, any of its subsidiaries, Ms. Berrie, Mr. Berrie s lineal descendants, Mr. Berrie s Estate, various specified trusts or other entities created by or at the direction of Mr. Berrie, any trust created pursuant to the terms of the instruments governing or creating such trusts or entities, any fiduciaries thereof or specified groups in which the foregoing are members, becomes the beneficial owner of 25% or more of the voting power of the Company, (B) as a result of specified events, a defined group of directors ceases to be a majority of the Board, (C) consummation of specified business combinations, sales of assets or recapitalizations or similar transactions involving the Company, or (D) approval by the shareholders of a plan of liquidation or dissolution of the Company), such participant shall be paid the following Severance Benefit:

- (i) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the six-month period preceding or the one-year period following the Change in Control (the $\,$ First Period $\,$), an amount equal to 150% of the participant $\,$ s $\,$ Current Total Annual Compensation $\,$; and
- (ii) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the second year after the Change in Control (the Second Period), an amount equal to 75% of the participant s Current Total Annual Compensation.

For purposes of the Change in Control Plan, Current Total Annual Compensation is the sum of the following amounts: (A) the greater of a participant s highest rate of annual salary during the calendar year in which his employment terminates or such participant s highest rate of annual salary during the calendar year immediately prior to the year of such termination; (B) the greater of a participant s annual bonus compensation (prior to any bonus deferral election) earned in respect of each of the two most recent calendar years immediately preceding the calendar year in which the participant s employment terminated; and (C) the amount of the Company s contribution to the participant s 401(k) account for the last full year prior to such termination.

Severance Benefits will be paid in one lump-sum payment within 30 business days after a participant s employment with the Company terminates or the Change in Control occurs, whichever is later, or at such earlier time as required by applicable law. We are currently in the process of amending this plan to comply with Section 409A of the Code.

A participant entitled to receive a Severance Benefit will also receive the following additional benefits:

(a) The Company will cause options to purchase Company stock (Stock Options) held by a participant that are not fully vested and exercisable on the date of the Qualifying Termination to:

45

Table of Contents

- (1) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the First Period, become fully vested and exercisable as of the date of such Qualifying Termination (or, if later, as of the date on which the Change in Control occurred); and
- (2) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the Second Period, become fully vested and exercisable as of the date of such Qualifying Termination as to those Stock Options that would otherwise have vested within one year after the Qualifying Termination.
- (b) The Company will cause unvested restricted shares of Company stock (the Restricted Shares) held by a participant on the date of the Qualifying Termination to:
 - (1) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the First Period, become fully vested as of the date of such Qualifying Termination (or, if later, as of the date on which the Change in Control occurred) as to those Restricted Shares for which the vesting restrictions would otherwise have lapsed within one year after the Qualifying Termination; and
 - (2) if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the Second Period, become fully vested as of the date of such Qualifying Termination as to those Restricted Shares for which the vesting restrictions otherwise would have lapsed within six months after the Qualifying Termination.
- (c) The Company will for a period of 18 months (in the case of a Qualifying Termination during the First Period) or one year (in the case of a Qualifying Termination during the Second Period) following the Qualifying Termination, continue to provide to the participant (i) use of an automobile or payment of an automobile allowance in an amount sufficient to compensate the participant to substantially the same extent as if the Company continued to provide the automobile and (ii) medical and other insurance benefits, in each case to the extent and on substantially the same basis as provided immediately prior to the Qualifying Termination.

Reduction of Payments

If a participant s receipt of any payment and/or non-monetary benefit under the Change in Control Plan (including, without limitation, the accelerated vesting of Stock Options and/or Restricted Shares) (collectively, the Plan Payments) would cause him or her to become subject to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of the Code (or any interest or penalties incurred by an affected Participant with respect to such excise tax), the Company shall reduce his or her Plan Payments to the extent necessary to avoid the application of such excise tax if (i) the required reduction does not exceed 10% of the aggregate amount of the Plan Payments and (ii) as a result of such reduction, the net benefits to the participant of the Plan Payments as so reduced (after payment of applicable income taxes) exceeds the net benefit to the participant of the Plan Payments without such reduction (after payment of applicable income taxes and excise taxes). If a reduction in Plan Payments to a participant in the amount permitted by clause (i) is insufficient to avoid the application of such excise tax, then such affected participant shall be entitled to receive an additional gross-up payment equal, on an after-tax basis, to the excise tax imposed upon the Plan Payment.

On terms specified in the Change in Control Plan, the Company reserves the right to contest any claim by the Internal Revenue Service that, if successful, would require the payment by the Company of a gross-up payment, and will control all proceedings taken in connection with any such contest.

Administration of the Change in Control Plan

The Change in Control Plan is currently administered by the Compensation Committee. *Amendment of the Plan*

The Company reserves the right to amend, in whole or in part, any or all of the provisions of the Change in Control Plan by action of the Board at any time; provided, that, no such amendment may reduce the benefits and payments due to any Participant hereunder in the event of a Qualifying Termination.

46

Table of Contents

Successors

Any successor or assignee to all or substantially all the business or assets of the Company will be required to perform the Company s obligations under the Change in Control Plan in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession or assignment had taken place. Any payment or benefit to which a participant has become entitled under the Change in Control Plan that remains unpaid at the time of such participant s death shall be paid to the estate of such Participant when it becomes due.

No Duty to Mitigate

No participant entitled to receive a Severance Benefit is required to seek other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to him or her pursuant to the Change in Control Plan. Severance Benefits will not be reduced by any compensation earned by the participant as a result of employment by another employer or otherwise.

Rights Under Other Plans, Policies, Practices and Agreements

The Change in Control Plan supersedes any other change in control severance plans, policies and/or practices of the Company as to the participants, other than any individual executed agreement or arrangement between a single Participant and the Company in effect on January 1, 2003 or thereafter, which agreement specifically addresses payments or benefits made or provided upon termination of employment or in connection with a Change in Control (an Additional Agreement). If a participant is due benefits or payments under both an Additional Agreement and the Change in Control Plan and/or where the Change in Control Plan and the applicable Additional Agreement have inconsistent or conflicting terms and conditions, the participant shall receive the greater of the benefits and payments, and the more favorable terms and conditions to him or her, under the Additional Agreement and the Change in Control Plan, determined on an item-by-item basis.

Code Section 409A

Notwithstanding the foregoing, all payments and benefits under the Change in Control Plan will be made in compliance with Section 409A.

(iii) Severance Policy

The Compensation Committee adopted an amendment (the Amendment) to the Company s general severance policy (which previously allowed for a maximum of six week s severance pay under specified circumstances), applicable in general only to employees who are domestic vice presidents or above and who are designated by the Committee as eligible participants in the plan (collectively, DVPs), effective February 11, 2003. This severance policy was further amended as of March 30, 2007 (as so amended, the Severance Policy). *Benefits*

If a DVP s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in the Change in Control Plan), such DVP will be paid Severance Payments ranging from a minimum amount equal to 4 months of such DVP s base salary in effect on the date of termination, exclusive of any bonuses or commissions (Current Salary) to a maximum amount equal to 12 months of such DVP s Current Salary, depending on the period of time that such DVP was employed by the Company at the time of such termination. The time period on which Severance Payments are based (i.e., 4 months of total employment, 6 months of total employment, etc.) shall be the Severance Period. Severance Payments will be paid over the course of the relevant Severance Period in accordance with the Company s regular salary payment schedule (not in a lump sum), unless otherwise required by Section 409A of the Code. As of March 30, 2007, the Company amended the Severance Policy to specify that notwithstanding anything to the contrary therein, in the event that the employment of specified DVPs is terminated in connection with the consummation of certain corporate transactions, the severance payments and benefits applicable to such terminated DVP will be extended by an additional 4 months up to a maximum Severance Period of 12 months.

47

Table of Contents

During the relevant Severance Period, the Company will continue to provide the terminated DVP with medical and other insurance benefits, in each case to the extent and on substantially the same basis (including relevant payroll deductions) as provided immediately prior to the termination. In addition, for a period of 60 days following the DVP s termination, the Company will continue to provide to the DVP use of an automobile or an equivalent payment therefor.

As of March 30, 2007, in the event that a DVP is due payments and benefits under both the Severance Policy and the Change in Control Plan, such participant will receive the greater of the benefits and payments, determined on an item-by-item basis.

Termination of Severance Payments

If the terminated DVP obtains gainful employment during the Severance Period, the Amendment provides that Severance Payments will terminate on the date that such new employment commences.

Amendment

No amendment to the Severance Policy will become effective (as to a person covered thereby prior to such amendment) prior to the date which is six months from the date such amendment is approved by the Board or the Compensation Committee.

General Release

As a condition to the receipt of any Severance Payments, each terminated DVP will be required to execute the Company s form of General Release, which provides generally for the following: (i) an irrevocable release by the DVP of existing or future claims against the Company and specified related parties arising out of the performance of services to or on behalf of the Company by such DVP through the date of such release, (ii) an agreement by the DVP to keep all non-public information pertaining to the Company and specified parties confidential, (iii) an agreement by the DVP not to disparage the Company or specified related persons and (iv) an affirmation by the DVP of his/her obligations under or pursuant to any restrictive covenant (non-compete) agreements that such DVP signed with the Company. In the event that such release is not executed within 45 days of its delivery to the relevant DVP, such DVP will be entitled to only one week of severance pay for each year of service, with a maximum severance payment equal to six (6) weeks of severance pay, less any applicable withholdings, in addition to medical and dental insurance coverage (if enrolled therein on the date of termination of employment), paid by the Company, until the end of the month of termination. Thereafter, the DVP will be entitled to continue his/her medical and dental insurance coverage, at his/her expense, pursuant to the provisions of COBRA.

Rights Under Other Agreements

The Amendment supersedes any other agreement between the Company and a DVP that provides for lesser benefits with respect to the type of termination covered thereby in effect on the effective date of the Amendment or thereafter.

2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan (the 2004 Plan)

The 2004 Plan provides for awards of options to officers, directors and key employees designated by the Compensation Committee to purchase Common Stock of the Company (including options designated as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Code, and options not so designated), restricted stock and non-restricted stock (outside directors may be awarded options only). A total of 2,750,000 shares of Common Stock were reserved for the grant of options and awards of Common Stock under the 2004 Plan for all eligible plan participants. No participant under the 2004 Plan will be granted awards of options to purchase more than 100,000 shares of Common Stock in any plan year. No award may be granted under the 2004 Plan after December 31, 2008. *Vesting and Term*

Options and restricted stock generally vest ratably over five years (20% per year) from the date of grant, unless the vesting schedule is modified by the Committee in its sole discretion. In general, options will remain exercisable

Table of Contents

for ten years from the date of grant. See Compensation Discussion and Analysis above for a description of the acceleration of the vesting period of specified options in 2005.

Acceleration of Vesting/Exercise Period

With respect to awards of options (other than awards to outside directors, which is discussed below), upon retirement (as defined in the Company s 401(k) plan), Disability (as defined in the 2004 Plan) or death (either while employed or within the year after retirement), all unexercised options vest, and may be exercised for up to one year (unless provided otherwise in an option agreement evidencing the award) or the term of the unexpired option, if earlier; unless otherwise provided in an option agreement or the Company s Change in Control Plan, (i) if a participant s employment is terminated for reasons other than Cause (as defined in the 2004 Plan), vested unexercised options may be exercised within 30 days of termination, or the term of the unexpired option, if earlier, and (ii) if a participant s employment is terminated for any other reason, all options are cancelled as of the termination date.

With respect to awards of options to outside directors, in the event of the death or Disability (as defined in the 2004 Plan) of a participant while serving as a member of the Board, all unexercised options vest, and may be exercised for up to one year (unless provided otherwise in an agreement evidencing the award) or the term of the unexpired option, if earlier; if a participant ceases to serve as a member of the Board for any other reason, vested options shall be exercisable for a period of 30 days following termination (unless otherwise provided in an agreement evidencing the award).

With respect to awards of restricted stock, unless otherwise provided in an agreement governing the award or the Company s Change in Control Plan, all non-vested restricted stock is forfeited (at the time of termination) if the participant has not remained in the continuous employment of the Company for the period during which the restrictions are applicable, generally five years from the date of grant, except in the event of retirement, Disability (as defined in the 2004 Plan) or death, in which case all restrictions lapse as of the date of the relevant event. *Exercise Price*

The per share exercise price of any option granted under the 2004 Plan is equal to the closing sales price of a share of Common Stock on the applicable date of grant on the NYSE or such other national securities exchange as the Common Stock may then be traded (or over-the-counter market system, if applicable), or if no sales of Common Stock shall have occurred on that date on any such exchange (or over-the-counter market system, if applicable), on the first preceding date on which a sale of Common Stock so occurred in the event that the Common Stock is listed on an exchange (or the average of the bid and asked prices for a share of Common Stock at the end of the date of grant in the event that the Common Stock is traded on an over-the-counter market system the closing sales price of a share of Common Stock on the deemed date of grant on the New York Stock Exchange, however, exercise price of any incentive stock option granted to a ten percent stockholder (as defined in the 2004 Plan) shall be 110% of the amount determined above.

Exercise of Vested Options

The Committee can impose exercise limitations in its sole discretion. The vesting schedule pertaining to options may be accelerated by, and the limitations on any option exercises may be adjusted by, the Committee in its sole discretion.

Adjustments

In the event of any change in the outstanding Common Stock as a result of events specified in the 2004 Plan, the Committee may adjust the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards under the 2004 Plan, the exercise price of any options granted under the 2004 Plan, and any or all other matters deemed appropriate by the Committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the vesting and/or exercise period pertaining to any award thereunder.

49

Table of Contents

Transferability

Options granted under the 2004 Plan are not assignable or transferable except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution; provided that such options are transferable to participant s spouses, children, parents, mothers and fathers-in-law, brothers and sisters-in-law, sons and daughters-in-law, anyone (other than employees) living in such participant s home (each, a member of such participant s Immediate Family), a trust for the benefit of such participant or any member of his or her Immediate Family, partnerships in which such participant or members of his or her Immediate Family and/or trusts are the only partners, and/or any organization exempt under Section 501(c) of the Code. Except as described above, options are exercisable only by the participant entitled thereto or such participant s permitted assignee or transferee.

Rights of Holders of Restricted Stock

A holder of restricted stock has all rights of a shareholder with respect to such stock, including the right to receive dividends thereon.

Amendment, Termination and Duration of the Plan

The Committee may at any time amend or terminate the 2004 Plan. Amendments of the 2004 Plan are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company as required by applicable law, regulation or stock exchange requirement. The 2004 Plan shall remain in effect until all stock subject to it is distributed or all awards have expired or lapsed, whichever is latest to occur, or the 2004 Plan is earlier terminated by the Committee. No awards may be granted under the 2004 Plan more than five years after its effective date.

Acceleration of Vesting in 2005

Effective December 28, 2005, we amended all outstanding stock option agreements pertaining to options with exercise prices in excess of the market price for the underlying stock at the close of business on December 28, 2005 which had remaining vesting requirements. As a result of these amendments, all such options became fully vested and immediately exercisable at the close of business on December 28, 2005. Prior to such amendments, all such options, which represented all outstanding options, were subject to ratable vesting schedules over periods ranging from one to five years. See Compensation Discussion and Analysis for further detail with respect to the acceleration of such options.

50

Table of Contents

2007 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End

The following table sets forth information with respect to outstanding equity awards for the NEOs as of December 31, 2007.

		Option Awa		Stock Awards					
								Equity Incentive	
			Equity	,			Market	Equity Plan t Incenti xe wards: Market	
			Incentiv	ve			Value	Plan or	
			Plan				of	Award £ ayout Numbe r Value	
			Awards				Shares	of of	
			Numbe	r			on II:4a	The could had coursed	
	Number	Number	of			Number	or Units	Unear Med earned	
	of	of	Securiti	es		of	of Stock	Shares\$hares,	
	Securities	Securities	∐nderlyi	nσ		Shares of	that	Units Units or or	
	Underlying	Underlying				Units of	have	Other Other	
	• 0	• 0				Stock		RightsRights	
	Unexercised	Unexercised	Unearne	edOption	Option	that	not	that that	
	Options (#)	Options (#)	Ontion	c Evarcica	Expiration	have not	Vested	have have not not	
	(π)	(#)	Option	S LEXEI CISE	Expiration	Vested	vesteu	not not	
Name	Exercisable	Unexercisable	e (#)	Price	Date	(#)	(\$)(4)	VestedV#bsted(\$)	
Bruce Crain	0								
		100,000(-	16.05	12/04/17				
		20,000(2	2)	16.05	12/04/17	85,000(3)	1,390,60	n	
						05,000(5)	1,370,00	O	
Andrew									
Gatto	100,000(5)			13.05	12/03/09				
	100,000(6)			19.53	12/03/09				
	150,000(7)			19.53	12/03/09				
Anthony	10,000(8)			13.74	11/01/15				
Cappiello		26,700(9	9)	16.77	12/27/17				
						3,900(10)	63,80	4	
Tomas T									
James J. O Reardon,									
Jr.	0			0	0				
				,	-				
Marc	20,000(8)	*	0.	11.52	12/26/15				
Goldfarb		24,700(9	9)	16.77	12/27/17	2 600(10)	5 0 00	<i>C</i>	
						3,600(10)	58,89	O	

	1	٦	
-	l	J	_

Jeffrey Bialosky	-0-	27,000(9)	16.77	12/27/17	3,900(10)	63,804
Chris	12,882(11)		13.05	5/02/15		
Robinson	1,780(12)		23.635	1/04/09		
	2,244(12)		20.75	1/02/11		
	1,535(12)		30.98	1/02/12		
	1,567(12)		34.80	1/02/13		
	15,000(12)		34.05	1/02/14		

(1) Pursuant to the

terms of the

Crain

Agreement, on

December 5,

2007, Mr. Crain

was awarded

100,000 stock

options pursuant

to the 2004 Plan

at an exercise

price of \$16.05.

Of the

foregoing,

80,000 of such

options vest

ratably over a

five year period

commencing

December 4,

2008, and the

remaining

20,000 of such

options will

become fully

vested on the

six-month

anniversary of

the

commencement

date of his

employment.

All such options

are generally

exercisable for a

period of

10 years from

December 4,

2007. If the

employment of

Mr. Crain is terminated by the Company for Cause or by Mr. Crain

without Good

Reason (each as

defined in the

Crain

Agreement), the unvested portion

of all such

options will be

cancelled or

immediately

forfeited, as

applicable, and

any

unexercised,

vested portion

shall remain

exercisable for

the shorter of

90 days

following the

date of

termination and

the remainder of

their term. If the

Company

terminates the

employment of

Mr. Crain

without Cause

or he terminates

his employment

for Good

Reason, such

option will

become

immediately

vested and/or

non-forfeitable,

as applicable, to

the same extent

as if Mr. Crain

had completed

an additional

two years of

service after the

date of

termination, and shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90

51

Table of Contents

days following the date of

termination and the remainder of their term. If the employment of Mr. Crain is terminated by the Company as a result of his death or Disability, such option will become immediately vested and/or non-forfeitable, as applicable, to the same extent as if Mr. Crain had completed an additional two years of service after the date of termination, and shall remain exercisable for the shorter of one year following the date of termination and the remainder of their term. In the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the Crain Agreement), whether or not termination of employment occurs, the portion of such option will become immediately

vested and/or non-forfeitable, as applicable, to the extent that was scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control, and the vesting dates of the option that were not scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control shall be accelerated by three years. If the Company terminates Mr. Crain s employment without Cause and a Change in Control occurs within six months of the date of such termination, the portion of such option that was scheduled to vest within three years of the date of termination, and which did not vest as described above, shall become vested and exercisable on the date of such Change in Control, and shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days

following the

date of termination and the remainder of their term. The acceleration provisions described above are referred to as the Crain Acceleration Provisions . Note that the table excludes the grant of 100,000 options to Mr. Crain under then 2004 Plan pursuant to the Crain Agreement on January 4, 2008.

(2) Pursuant to the terms of the Crain Agreement, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was awarded 20,000 stock options outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations therein) at an exercise price of \$16.05. These options vest ratably over a five-year period, commencing on December 4, 2008, and are generally exercisable for 10 years from December 4, 2007. The Crain Acceleration

Provisions apply to these options.

- (3) Pursuant to the terms of the Crain Agreement, on December 5, 2007, Mr. Crain was awarded 85,000 shares of restricted stock pursuant to the 2004 Plan, which vest ratably over a four-year period commencing December 4, 2008. The Crain Acceleration Provisions apply to this grant of restricted stock, but the words become vested and exercisable should be replaced by the words become non-forfeitable .
- (4) Calculated using the closing price of the Company s Common Stock on December 31, 2007 of \$16.36.
- (5) The referenced options were granted under the 2004 Plan to Mr. Gatto on May 2, 2005. Under the original grant terms, the options vest and become exercisable

ratably over five years (20% per year), commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, however, all such options were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of accelerated vesting of options. In accordance with the terms of the option agreement governing this grant, all such options will remain exercisable until December 3, 2009, two years from the date of his termination. The options are subject to an anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions substantially similar to those set forth in the 2004 Plan. The Company shall, upon and to the extent of any written request from Mr. Gatto, use reasonable efforts to assure that all shares

issued upon

exercise of such options are, upon issuance and delivery (i) fully registered (at the Company s expense) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for both issuance and resale, (ii) registered or qualified (at the Company s expense) under such state securities laws as he may reasonably request, for issuance and resale and (iii) listed on a national securities exchange or eligible for sale on the **NASDAQ** National Market, and that all such shares, upon issuance, shall be validly issued, fully paid and

(6) The referenced options were granted pursuant to the terms of the Gatto Agreement on June 1, 2004 pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Under the original grant

nonassessable.

terms, all of the referenced options vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year) commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, however, all such options were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See

Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of accelerated vesting of options. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement with the Company, all such options will remain exercisable until December 3, 2009, two years from the date of his termination. The options are subject to an anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions substantially similar to those set forth in the

2004 Plan. The Company shall, upon and to the extent of any written request from Mr. Gatto,

use reasonable efforts to assure that all shares issued upon exercise of such options are, upon issuance and delivery (i) fully registered (at the Company s expense) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for both issuance and resale, (ii) registered or qualified (at the Company s expense) under such state securities laws as he may reasonably request, for issuance and resale and (iii) listed on a national securities exchange or eligible for sale on the **NASDAO** National Market, and that all such shares, upon issuance, shall be validly issued, fully

paid and nonassessable.

52

Table of Contents

(7) The referenced options were granted pursuant to the terms of the Gatto Agreement on June 1, 2004 outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations thereunder). Under the original grant terms, all of the referenced options vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year) commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, however, all such options were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of accelerated vesting of options. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement with the Company, all such options will remain exercisable until December 3,

2009, two years

from the date of his termination. The options are subject to an anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions substantially similar to those set forth in the 2004 Plan (described in 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan above). The Company shall, upon and to the extent of any written request from Mr. Gatto, use reasonable efforts to assure that all shares issued upon exercise of such options are, upon issuance and delivery (i) fully registered (at the Company s expense) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for both issuance and resale, (ii) registered or qualified (at the Company s expense) under such state securities laws as he may reasonably request, for issuance and

resale and

(iii) listed on a national securities exchange or eligible for sale on the NASDAQ National Market, and that all such shares, upon issuance, shall be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

(8) The referenced options were granted under the 2004 Plan 90 days following the commencement of employment of the relevant individual. Under the original grant terms, all of the referenced options vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year) commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, however, all such options were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of

accelerated

vesting of options. In the event of retirement, disability or death of the option holder while in the employ of the Company or within one year after such date, all such unexercised options will be deemed vested and may be exercised for up to one year (or the exercise period, if shorter) after such event. If the option holder s employment is terminated for any other reason, any unexercised options will be cancelled and deemed terminated immediately, except that if employment is terminated by the Company for other than Cause (as defined in the 2004 Plan), all unexercised options, to the extent vested, may be exercised within 30 days of the termination date (or the option

shorter). In the event of any change in the outstanding Common Stock, as specified in the plan, the committee administering the plan may adjust the aggregate number of shares available for awards under the plan, the exercise price of any options granted under the plan, and any or all other matters deemed appropriate by such committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the exercise period pertaining to any award thereunder. In connection with a Business Combination (as defined in the 2004 Plan), such committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for, among other things, the substitution for such awards of new awards covering the stock of a successor corporation (or

period, if

a parent or subsidiary thereof), with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and exercise prices, or the acceleration of the exercise period pertaining to any award. The foregoing provisions are referred to as the Acceleration Provisions . Other provisions governing the grants are set forth in the 2004 Plan (described in 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan above).

(9) The referenced options were granted under the 2004 Plan December 27, 2007, vest ratably over a five-year period commencing December 27, 2008, and are generally exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of grant. The Acceleration

Provisions are applicable to this grant. Other provisions governing the grants are set forth in the 2004 Plan (described in 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan above).

(10) The restricted stock was granted under the 2004 Plan December 27, 2007, and vests ratably over a five-year period commencing December 27, 2008. All non-vested restricted stock is forfeited (at the time of termination) if the participant has not remained in the continuous employment of the Company for the period during which the restrictions are applicable, generally five years from the date of grant, except in the event of retirement, Disability (as

defined in the 2004 Plan) or

death, in which case all restrictions lapse as of the date of the relevant event. Other provisions governing the grants are set forth in the 2004 Plan (described in 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan above).

(11) Remainder of original grant of 70,000 options on May 2, 2005 pursuant to the 2004 Plan. Under the original grant terms, such options vested ratably over a five-year period commencing one year from the date of grant and, in general expire ten years from the date of grant, however, all such options were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of the accelerated vesting of

options.

Table of Contents

(12) Mr. Robinson holds 1,780, 2,244, 1,535, and 1,567 options granted on January 4, 1999, January 2, 2001, January 2, 2002, and January 2, 2003 respectively under the predecessor to the 2004 Plan, all vesting one year from the date of grant with an expiration date ten years from the date of grant. The Acceleration Provisions are applicable to these grants. Mr. Robinson also holds 15,000 options granted on January 2, 2004 pursuant to the 2004 Plan at an exercise price of \$34.05 per share. Under the original grant terms, such options vested ratably over a five-year period commencing one year from the date of grant and expire ten years from the date of grant, however, all such options

were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. See Acceleration of Vesting in 2005 above for a discussion of the accelerated vesting of options. The Acceleration Provisions are applicable to this grant.

2007 Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table sets forth the number of shares of Company Common Stock acquired by NEOs during 2007 upon the exercise of options and the number of shares with respect to which restrictions on restricted stock held by NEOs lapsed as of December 31, 2007.

	Option	Stock Awards		
			Number	
	Number of		of	
	Shares		Shares	
	Acquired	Value	Acquired	Value
	on	Realized	on	Realized on
		on Exercise	Vesting	
Name	Exercise (#)	(\$)	(#)	Vesting (\$)
Bruce Crain	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Andrew Gatto	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Anthony Cappiello	30,000	119,000(1)	n/a	n/a
James J. O Reardon, Jr.	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Marc Goldfarb	20,000	100,800(2)	n/a	n/a
Jeffrey Bialosky	25,000	115,250(3)	n/a	n/a
Chris Robinson	57,118	317,878(4)	n/a	n/a

(1) Mr. Cappiello exercised 20,000 options on 11/13/07 with a market price at exercise of \$17.64 and an exercise price of \$13.74; and 10,000 options on 11/14/07 with a market price at exercise of \$17.84 and an

exercise price of \$13.74.

- (2) Mr. Goldfarb exercised 20,000 options on 12/19/07 with a market price at exercise of \$16.56 and an exercise price of \$11.52.
- (3) Mr. Bialosky exercised 25,000 options on 11/13/07 with a market price at exercise of \$17.66 and an exercise price of \$13.05.
- (4) Mr. Robinson exercised: 7,400 options on 11/16/07 with a market price at exercise of \$18.12 and an exercise price of \$13.05; 17,900 options on 11/14/07 with a market price at exercise of \$17.90 and an exercise price of \$13.05; 1,618 options on 06/29/07 with a market price at exercise of \$19.00 and an exercise price of \$13.05., and 30,200 options on 06/28/07 with a market price at exercise of \$19.14 and

an exercise price of \$13.05.

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

Our named executive officers may receive compensation in connection with the termination of their employment. The nature and amount of such compensation depend on whether their employment terminates as a result of: (i) death, (ii) disability, (iii) retirement, (iv) termination by the Company without cause (either in connection with a Change in Control or not) or termination by the executive with good reason, or (v) termination by the Company for cause or termination by the executive without good reason. Estimates of the compensation that each of our named executive officers would be entitled to receive under each of these termination circumstances is described in the following tables, assuming that their employment terminated on December 31, 2007, the last business day of such year (other than Messrs. Gatto and O Reardon, whose employment with the Company terminated as of December 3, 2007 and November 13, 2007, respectively, and are discussed under the caption *Actual Terminations in 2007* below). In addition, the following tables do not reflect additional or alternate

54

Table of Contents

payments or benefits provided under individual employment agreements between the Company and each of Mr. Crain and Mr. Cappiello, which are discussed separately below under the caption *Individual Termination/Change in Control Arrangements*. Further, the following tables do not include payments under the Company s 401k plan (or in the case of Mr. Robinson, The Russell Berrie (UK) Ltd. Personal Pension Plan, which is available to all employees of Russ Berrie (UK) Ltd.), or the Company s life insurance or disability plans, as these plans are available to all salaried employees generally and do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation, in favor of our executive officers.

Any actual compensation received by our named executive officers in the circumstances set forth below may be different than we describe because many factors affect the amount of any compensation received. These factors include: the date of the executive s termination of employment; the executive s base salary at the time of termination; the Company s stock price at the time of termination; and the executive s age and service with the Company at the time of termination. In addition, although the Company has entered into individual agreements with certain of our named executive officers, in connection with a particular termination of employment the Company and the named executive officer may mutually agree on severance terms that vary from those provided in pre-existing agreements.

For a description of (i) triggering events that provide for payments and benefits set forth in the following tables, (ii) payment schedules and duration with respect to such payments and benefits, and (iii) how appropriate payment and benefit levels are determined under such triggering events, please see the section captioned. Termination of Employment and Change in Control Arrangements—above, which set forth such matters in detail. The value of any option acceleration in the following tables is equal to the difference between the market price of the Company—s Common Stock on December 31, 2007 (\$16.36) and the exercise price of the relevant options, multiplied by the number of options that would accelerate as a result of the triggering event. The value of the restricted stock acceleration is equal to the market price of the Company—s Common Stock on December 31, 2007 multiplied by the number of shares of restricted stock that become vested or non-forfeitable as a result of the triggering event.

Note that if an NEO is terminated with cause or by the NEO without good reason, such NEO will be entitled to the payment of amounts that have accrued at the time of termination, but have not been paid (other than payments under the IC program, for which a participant must be in the employ of the Company at the time of payment, which is typically in March following the year of determination).

TERMINATION AS A RESULT OF A CHANGE IN CONTROL UNDER THE CHANGE IN CONTROL PLAN*

	First Period				Second Period					
Acceleration					Acceleration					
						of	Other			
		of				Vesting				
NEO	Cash(1)	Vesting(2)	Other(4)	Total	Cash(1)	(2)(3)	(5)	Total		
Anthony										
Cappiello	\$511,950	\$63,804	\$43,013	\$618,767	\$255,975	\$ 0	\$28,675	\$284,650		
Marc Goldfarb	\$472,500	\$58,896	\$43,013	\$574,409	\$236,250	\$ 0	\$28,675	\$264,925		
Jeffrey Bialosky	\$517,500	\$63,804	\$43,013	\$624,317	\$258,750	\$ 0	\$28,675	\$287,425		
Chris										
Robinson(6)	\$512,353	-0-	\$26,120	\$538,473	\$256,176	\$ 0	\$17,413	\$273,589		

* If a participant s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in

the Change in Control Plan) or by the participant for Good Reason (as defined in the Change in Control Plan) (each, a Qualifying Termination) during the period commencing six months prior to and ending two years after a Change in Control (defined in the Change in Control Plan), the benefits under such plan apply. If a

55

Table of Contents

participant is due benefits or payments under both an individual agreement in effect on January 1, 2003 or thereafter and the Change in Control Plan and/or where the Change in Control Plan and such agreement have inconsistent or conflicting terms and conditions, the participant shall receive the greater of the benefits and payments. determined on an item-by-item basis. The definition of a Change in Control is generally described in the section captioned

Termination of

Employment

and Change in

Control

Arrangements

above. Mr. Crain

does not

participate in the

Change in

Control Plan.

(1) If the Qualifying Termination occurs during the six-month period preceding or the one-year period following the Change in Control (the First Period), the participant is entitled to an amount equal to 150% of the participant s Current Total Annual Compensation; and if the Qualifying Termination occurs during the second year after the Change in Control (the Second Period), the participant is entitled to an amount equal to 75% of the participant s Current Total Annual Compensation. Current Total Annual Compensation is the sum of the following amounts: (A) the greater of a participant s highest rate of annual salary during the calendar year in which his employment

- terminates or such participant s highest rate of annual salary during the calendar year immediately prior to the year of such termination; (B) the greater of a participant s annual bonus compensation earned in respect of each of the two most recent calendar years immediately preceding the calendar year in which the participant s employment terminated; and (C) the amount of the Company s contribution to the participant s 401(k) account for the last full year prior to such termination (The Russell Berrie (UK) Ltd. Personal Pension Plan in the case of Mr. Robinson).
- (2) Because the exercise price of all of the unvested options held by the NEOs in the table (\$16.77) exceeds the market price of the Company s Common Stock on December 31, 2007 (\$16.36), no value is attributable to the acceleration of stock options in either the First Period or the Second Period based on a triggering event occurring on December 31, 2007. As a result, the numbers shown in the table, if any, represent the value of the acceleration of the vesting of unvested restricted stock held by the NEOs in the table. Mr. Robinson holds no unvested stock options or restricted stock.
- (3) As the outstanding unvested restricted stock held by the NEOs in the table was granted on December 27, 2007, and vests ratably over a 5-year period, commencing on December 27, 2008, the acceleration of the vesting period of such restricted stock during the Second Period would not result in the vesting of any of such restricted stock as of December 31, 2007, the assumed date of the triggering event for purposes of this table.
- (4) Represents cost to the Company for each of Messrs. Cappiello, Goldfarb, Bialosky and Mr. Robinson: (i) to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan (\$23,213, \$23,213, \$23,213 and \$3,600, respectively), during the 18 months following the qualifying termination, and (ii) for car allowance and related reimbursements (\$19,800, \$19,800, \$19,800 and \$22,520, respectively), for 18 months following the qualifying termination.
- (5) Represents cost to the Company for each of Messrs. Cappiello, Goldfarb, Bialosky and Mr. Robinson: (i) to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan (\$15,475, \$15,475, \$15,475 and \$2,400, respectively), during the 12 months following the qualifying termination, and (ii) for car allowance and related reimbursements (\$13,200, \$13,200, \$13,200 and \$15,013, respectively), during the 12 months following the qualifying termination.
- (6) Numbers for Mr. Robinson have been converted from British Pounds Sterling where applicable into U.S. dollars using a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007.

Table of Contents 133

56

Table of Contents

TERMINATION AS A RESULT OF RETIREMENT, DISABILITY OR DEATH*

	Option	Restricted Stock		
NEO	Acceleration(1)		Total	
Anthony Cappiello	\$ 0	\$63,804	\$63,804	
Marc Goldfarb	\$ 0	\$58,896	\$58,896	
Jeffrey Bialosky	\$ 0	\$63,804	\$63,804	
Chris Robinson	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0	

As described above, the table does not include disability compensation under the Company s disability benefit plans, death benefits under the Company s life insurance plans, or amounts payable under the Company s 401k plan (or the U.K. Personal Pension Plan in the case of Mr. Robinson). NEOs are not otherwise entitled to compensation in the event of death, disability or retirement beyond compensation and benefits accrued at the time of such event and the accelerated vesting of equity awards under the

agreements

governing such awards (other than Mr. Crain, whose compensation in the event of death, disability or retirement is governed by the terms of his individual employment agreement with the Company). Generally, upon retirement (as defined in the Company s 401(k) plan), Disability (as defined in the 2004 Plan) or death (either while employed or within the year after retirement), all unexercised options vest, and may be exercised for up to one year or the term of the unexpired option, if earlier, and all the restrictions on restricted stock lapse.

(1) Because the exercise price of all of the unvested options held by the NEOs in the table (\$16.77) exceeds the market price of the Company s Common Stock on December 31, 2007 (\$16.36), no value is attributable to the acceleration of stock options based on a triggering event occurring on December 31, 2007. Mr. Robinson holds no unvested stock options or restricted stock.

TERMINATIONS UNDER THE SEVERANCE POLICY*

	Other				
NEO(2)	Cash	Benefits(1)	Total		
Marc Goldfarb	\$210,000	\$12,515	\$222,515		
Jeffrey Bialosky	\$230,000	\$12,515	\$242,515		
Chris Robinson(3)	\$341,569	\$ 4.902	\$346,471		

If the employment of an NEO with the Company is terminated by the Company without Cause (as defined in the Change in Control Plan), such NEO is entitled to the benefits of the Severance Policy (other than Messrs. Crain and Cappiello, whose individual employment agreements govern such terminations). In order to receive the payments and benefits provided by the Severance Policy, the participant must execute the Company s General Release, described in Severance Policy under the section captioned Termination of **Employment** and Change-In-Control Arrangements above. In the event that an NEO is due payments and benefits under both the Severance Policy and the Change in Control Plan, such participant will receive the greater of the benefits and payments, determined on an item-by-item basis.

(1) Represents cost to the Company for each of Messrs. Goldfarb, Bialosky and Mr. Robinson: (i) to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan (\$10,315, \$10,315 and \$2,400, respectively), during the applicable severance period, and (ii) for car allowance and related reimbursements (\$2,200, \$2,200 and \$2,502,

respectively), for 60 days pursuant to the terms of the Severance Policy.

(2) Mr. Goldfarb s employment arrangement with the Company specifies that he is entitled to a minimum of 8 month s of severance under the Severance Policy. See Employment Agreements and Arrangements above.

57

Table of Contents

In addition, if the employment of any NEO listed in the table is terminated in connection with the consummation of certain corporate transactions (but not in connection with a Change in Control), the severance payments and benefits applicable to such NEO will be extended by an additional 4 months up to a maximum of 12 months.

(3) All amounts in the tables with respect to Mr. Robinson are reported in U.S. dollars, using a conversion rate of £1.00 to \$2.0017, which represents the average exchange rate for fiscal year 2007 (Pounds Sterling to U.S. dollars).

Individual Termination/Change in Control Arrangements

Mr. Crain

Assuming that an appropriate triggering event took place on December 31, 2007, Mr. Crain would have been entitled to the following payments and benefits pursuant to the Crain Agreement (Mr. Crain does not participate in the Company's Change-in-Control Plan or Severance Policy), described in detail in the section captioned. Employment Contracts and Arrangements above. The value of the option acceleration is equal to the difference between the market price of the Company's Common Stock on December 31, 2007 (\$16.36) and the exercise price of the relevant options multiplied by the number of options that would accelerate as a result of the termination. The value of the restricted stock acceleration is equal to the market price of the Company's Common Stock on December 31, 2007 multiplied by the number of shares of restricted stock that become vested or non-forfeitable as a result of the termination. In addition to the total amounts set forth below, Mr. Crain is entitled to director's and officer's liability insurance coverage during the term of his employment and for six years thereafter in an annual amount equal to at least the greater of \$5.0 million or the coverage provided to any other present or former senior executive or director of the Company. No incremental expense will be incurred to provide this benefit. The benefits described in the event of a Change of Control apply whether or not Mr. Crain is terminated as a result thereof. Note that 100,000 options granted to Mr. Crain on January 4, 2008 at an exercise price of \$14.83 would not be taken into account with respect to a deemed termination on December 31, 2007, and are therefore excluded from the following analysis.

- A. Termination by the Company for Cause or by Mr. Crain without Good Reason (each as defined in the Crain Agreement): No additional benefit assuming base salary and bonus amounts earned for prior periods as of the date of termination had been paid. In addition, the unvested portion of the Equity Awards (defined under Employment Contracts and Arrangements above) will be cancelled or immediately forfeited, as applicable, and any unexercised, vested portion of the Options shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.
- B. Termination by the Company without Cause or by Mr. Crain for Good Reason (each as defined in the Crain Agreement), assuming that all base salary and bonus amounts earned for prior periods as of the date of termination had been paid:
- (i) \$275,000, representing 100% of his annual base salary for a period of six months following termination, which amount shall be paid commencing on the first day of the month following the Termination Date and on the first day of each of the next five months thereafter, provided, however, that any payment(s) that would be made under such schedule after March 15 of the year following the termination Date shall instead be paid on March 1st of the year following the termination date;
- (ii) no incentive compensation amounts (under the Crain Agreement, in the event of a termination without Cause only, he is entitled to the pro-rata portion of his bonus for the year in which the termination occurs based on actual performance for such year, but as his incentive compensation commences in 2008, a termination in 2007 would result in no award under this provision);
- (iii) \$700, representing the cost to the Company for continued life insurance coverage for Mr. Crain for a period of six months following termination;
- (iv) \$5,849, representing the cost to the Company for Mr. Crain to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan through the first anniversary of his termination;

58

Table of Contents

- (v) \$10,000, representing the maximum amount payable for outplacement services for a period of six months following termination;
 - (vi) \$695,300, representing restricted stock acceleration; and
- (vii) \$18,600, representing option acceleration (consisting of (1) \$6,200 for 20,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05 and (2) \$12,400 for 40,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05); for a total of \$1,005,449.
- C. Termination by the Company as a result of Disability (as defined in the Crain Agreement), assuming that all base salary and bonus amounts earned for prior periods as of the date of termination had been paid:
- (i) \$4,950,000, representing long-term disability benefits equal to 50% of Mr. Crain s base salary for an assumed period of eighteen years (until Mr. Crain reaches retirement age).
- (ii) no incentive compensation amounts (under the Crain Agreement, in the event of a termination as a result of Disability, he is entitled to the pro-rata portion of his bonus for the year in which the termination occurs based on actual performance for such year, but as his incentive compensation commences in 2008, a termination in 2007 would result in no award under this provision);
 - (iii) \$695,300, representing restricted stock acceleration; and
- (iv) \$18,600, representing option acceleration (consisting of (1) \$6,200 for 20,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05 and (2) \$12,400 for 40,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05); for a total of \$5,663,900.
- D. Termination by the Company as a result of death, assuming that all base salary and bonus amounts earned for prior periods as of the date of termination had been paid:
 - (i) \$1,100,000 representing life insurance benefits equal to 200% of his base salary;
- (ii) no incentive compensation amounts (under the Crain Agreement, in the event of a termination as a result of his death, he is entitled to the pro-rata portion of his bonus for the year in which the termination occurs based on actual performance for such year, but as his incentive compensation commences in 2008, a termination in 2007 would result in no award under this provision);
 - (iii) \$695,300, representing restricted stock acceleration; and
- (iv) \$18,600, representing option acceleration (consisting of (1) \$6,200 for 20,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05 and (2) \$12,400 for 40,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05); for a total of \$1.813.900.
 - E. Change of Control (as defined in the Crain Agreement), whether or not a termination of employment occurs:
 - (i) \$1,042,950, representing restricted stock acceleration; and
- (ii) \$24,800, representing option acceleration (consisting of (1) 6,200 for 20,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05 and (2) 18,600 for 60,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05); for a total of \$1,067,750.

59

Table of Contents

- F. Change of Control occurring within six months following a termination without Cause (in addition to the amounts and benefits described in Item B above):
 - (i) \$347,650, representing additional restricted stock acceleration; and
 - (ii) \$6,200 for an additional 20,000 accelerated options with an exercise price of \$16.05;

For an additional total of \$353,850.

If Mr. Crain determines that any amounts due to him under the Crain Agreement and any other plan or program of the Company constitute a parachute payment, as such term is defined in Section 280G(b) (2) of the Code, and the amount of the parachute payment, reduced by all federal, state and local taxes applicable thereto, including the excise tax imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code, is less than the amount that he would receive if he were paid three times his base amount, as defined in Section 280G(b) (3) of the Code, less \$1.00, reduced by all federal, state and local taxes applicable thereto, then at Mr. Crain s request the Company will reduce the aggregate of the amounts constituting the parachute payment to an amount that will equal three times his base amount less \$1.00.

All of the foregoing amounts are without interest if paid when due. In order to receive the foregoing payments, Mr. Crain and the Company must sign a mutual irrevocable release of existing or future claims against the other and specified affiliated parties arising out of the performance of services to or on behalf of the Company by Mr. Crain (other than claims with respect to specified sections of the employment agreement). Pursuant to the Crain Agreement, Mr. Crain has agreed that during his employment, and for one year thereafter, he will not directly or indirectly, engage or be interested in (as owner, partner, stockholder, employee, director, officer, agent, fiduciary, consultant or otherwise), with or without compensation, any business engaged in the manufacture, distribution, promotion, design, marketing, merchandising or sale of infant bedding and accessories, infant feeding utensils and bowls, pacifiers, bibs and bottles, infant developmental toys, soft toys and plush products or any other product providing more than 10% of the revenues of the Company for the prior fiscal year. In addition, for two years after his termination of employment, Mr. Crain will not, directly or indirectly, solicit the employment or retention of (or attempt, directly or indirectly, to solicit the employment or retention of or participate in or arrange the solicitation of the employment or retention of) any person who is to his knowledge then employed or retained by the Company, or by any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing shall prohibit Mr. Crain from (i) performing services, with or without compensation, for, or engaging or being interested in, any business or entity, that does not directly relate to business activities that compete directly and materially with a material business of the Company or its subsidiaries or (ii) acquiring or holding not more than five percent of any class of publicly-traded securities of any business. A business or entity that realized less than 20% of its revenues during its most recently completed fiscal year from sales of the aggregate of the following products shall not be deemed to compete directly and materially with a material business of the Company or its subsidiaries: infant bedding and accessories; infant feeding utensils and bowls, pacifiers, bibs and bottles, infant developmental toys, soft toys and plush products and any other product providing more than 10% of the revenues of the Company for the prior fiscal year. In addition, Mr. Crain has agreed that after his employment with the Company has terminated, he will refrain from any action that could reasonably be expected to harm the reputation or goodwill of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates. Mr. Crain has also agreed that during and after his employment, he will retain in the strictest confidence (subject to specified exceptions) all confidential information related to the Company and various affiliated and related parties. If Mr. Crain breaches the foregoing provisions and such breach is either (x) willful and not inconsequential or (y) in a material respect and not cured promptly after notice from the Company, he shall not thereafter be entitled to any payments or benefits under the Crain Agreement.

Mr. Cappiello

Assuming that Mr. Cappiello s employment with the Company was terminated on December 31, 2007 for any reason other than cause, except in the case of his own voluntary resignation or in connection with a Change in Control in the Company (as defined in the Change in Control Plan, in which Mr. Cappiello is a participant), Mr. Cappiello would have been entitled to the following payments and benefits pursuant to his employment agreement with the Company, described in detail in Employment Agreements and Arrangements above.

Table of Contents 140

60

Table of Contents

A. \$298,638, which is comprised of \$28,442 for each of the first 8 months following such termination (\$227,533); \$21,331 for each of months 9 and 10 following such termination (\$42,663); and \$14,221 for each of months 11 and 12 following such termination (\$28,442), paid in accordance with the provisions of the Severance Policy; and

B. \$28,675, representing the cost to the Company (x) for Mr. Cappiello to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan (\$15,475) during the 12 months following the termination, and (y) for his car allowance (\$13,200) for 12 months following the termination.

In addition, if Mr. Cappiello s employment was terminated as of December 31, 2007 in connection with the consummation of certain corporate transactions (but not in connection with a Change in Control), the severance payments and benefits applicable to Mr. Cappiello would have been extended for months 9 through 12 (an additional \$42,662 in cash).

In order for Mr. Cappiello to receive the payments and benefits set forth above, he must execute the Company s General Release, described under Severance Policy above.

The acceleration of equity awards in the event of Mr. Cappiello s retirement, disability or death are set forth in the table captioned Termination in the Event of Retirement, Disability or Death above. Payments and benefits applicable to Mr. Cappiello in the event of a termination covered by the Change in Control Plan are set forth in the table captioned Termination as a Result of a Change in Control Under the Change in Control Plan above.

Actual Terminations in 2007

Mr. Gatto

The employment of Mr. Gatto as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company terminated effective December 3, 2007. In connection with his departure, Mr. Gatto will receive substantially the payments and other benefits applicable to a termination by Mr. Gatto with Good Reason or a termination by the Company without Cause under the Gatto Agreement (he was not a participant in the Company s Change-in-Control Plan or Severance Policy). In connection with the foregoing, he will receive a total of \$2,106,951, consisting of: (i) \$1,300,000, representing 200% of his annual base salary, to be paid in 24 equal monthly installments; (ii) \$164,451, representing the award under the IC Program otherwise payable to him for the year (pro-rated based on his date of termination), which was paid in March 2008, (iii) \$521,600, representing 200% of the incentive compensation award earned by him for 2006, which was paid in March 2008, (iv) \$27,046, representing the cost to the Company for Mr. Gatto to remain on the Company s health and dental insurance plan through the second anniversary of his termination, (v) \$16,354, representing the present value of continuation of Mr. Gatto s \$1,400 per month car allowance for 12 months, which was paid in January 2008, (vi) reimbursement of legal expenses of \$10,000 incurred in connection with Mr. Gatto s separation arrangements, and (vii) \$67,500 for unused vacation time. See footnote 9 of the Summary Compensation Table above for amounts paid to or accrued on behalf of Mr. Gatto in 2007 with respect to his termination. In consideration of the foregoing, Mr. Gatto agreed to make himself available to provide transitional assistance to the Company for a period of four months following his termination. As a condition to the receipt of the foregoing payments, Mr. Gatto and the Company executed a mutual irrevocable release of existing or future claims against the other and specified affiliated parties arising out of the performance of services to or on behalf of the Company by Mr. Gatto (other than claims with respect to specified sections of the employment agreement). Mr. Gatto has agreed that during his employment, and for two years thereafter, he will not engage or be interested in any business engaged in the manufacture, distribution, promotion, design, marketing, merchandising or sale of gift, novelty, home décor or baby/infant products that competes directly and materially with a material business of the Company or its subsidiaries, or solicit the employment or retention of any person who is to his knowledge then employed or retained by the Company, or by any of its subsidiaries or affiliates. In addition, Mr. Gatto has agreed that after his employment with the Company has terminated, he will refrain from any action that could reasonably be expected to harm the reputation or goodwill of the Company, its subsidiaries or affiliates. Mr. Gatto has also agreed that during and after his employment, he will retain in the strictest confidence (subject to specified exceptions) all confidential information related to the Company and various affiliated and related parties. If Mr. Gatto breaches the foregoing provisions and such breach is either (x) willful and not inconsequential or (y) in a material respect and not cured promptly after notice from the Company, he shall not thereafter be entitled to the payments or benefits described above.

Table of Contents

Mr. O Reardon

Mr. O Reardon retired as Chief Financial Officer of the Company as of November 13, 2007. In connection therewith, the Company paid Mr. O Reardon \$1,923 for unused holiday time and \$21,154 for unused vacation time. Remaining options held by Mr. O Reardon, which were all vested as of such date, were cancelled. See footnote 9 of the Summary Compensation Table above for amounts paid to or accrued for the benefit of Mr. O Reardon in 2007 with respect to his termination. In addition, as Mr. O Reardon was no longer employed by the Company at the time of payment of amounts earned under the IC Program for 2007, he was not entitled to any payment thereunder. However, based on his employment for most of 2007, his many years of dedicated service to the Company and his continued efforts on behalf of the Company as a consultant, Mr. O Reardon was awarded an amount equal to 83% of the IC Award to which he would otherwise have been entitled had his employment continued (\$56,694).

2007 Director Compensation(1)

Change
in
Pension
Value
and
Non-EquityNonqualified
Incentive

	Fees Earned	Stock	Option	Plan	Deferred	All Other	
	or Paid	Awards Awards(3)(4)(5)ompensation compensation					
	in Cash	Earnings					
Name	(\$)(2)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	(\$)	Total (\$)
Raphael Benaroya	97,500	n/a	17,526	n/a	n/a	n/a	115,026
Mario Ciampi	39,750	n/a	216	n/a			39,966
Carl Epstein	11,250	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	n/a	8,772
Fred Horowitz	114,250	n/a	17,526	n/a	n/a	n/a	131,776
Charles Klatskin	8,750	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	n/a	6,272
Joseph Kling	24,750	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	n/a	22,272
Lauren Krueger	10,000(7)	n/a	216	n/a	n/a	n/a	10,216
William Landman	34,250	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	n/a	31,772
Daniel Posner	2,500(7)	n/a	216	n/a	n/a	n/a	2,716
Salvatore Salibello	90,250	n/a	17,526	n/a	n/a	n/a	107,776
Elliott Wahle	23,500	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	n/a	21,022
Josh Weston	-0-	n/a	(2,478)*	n/a	n/a	20,000(6)	17,522
Michael							
Zimmerman	43,500	n/a	17,526	n/a	n/a	n/a	61,026

* Represents the amount of compensation cost disclosed in 2006 in the 2006 Director Compensation Table which such amount was deducted in 2007 as a result of the

forfeiture of stock options with respect to directors who resigned or retired from the Board during 2007.

(1) Mr. Weston retired from the Board as of January 2, 2007. None of Messrs. Epstein, Klatskin, Kling or Wahle stood for election at the 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and Mr. Ciampi was elected to the Board at such meeting; Mr. Landman resigned from the Board as of June 7, 2007. Messrs. Gatto and Crain are not included in the table, as they received no additional compensation for their service as directors. Mr. Schaefer is not included in the table as he became a director on February 14, 2008.

(2) Reflects board retainer fees and board and committee attendance fees.

(3) Reflects the

dollar amount

recognized for

financial

statement

reporting

purposes for the

fiscal year

ending

December 31,

2007 in

accordance with

FAS 123(R).

Pursuant to SEC

rules, the

amounts shown

exclude the

impact of

estimated

forfeitures

related to

service-based

vesting

conditions. As

Messrs. Epstein,

Klatskin, Kling,

Landman, Wahle

and Weston all

retired or

resigned from

the Board during

2007, all

outstanding

unexercised

vested options

held by them

were cancelled

30 days

following such

event (15,000

held by

Mr. Weston

only), and all

unvested stock

options held by

them (15,000

options each)

were cancelled

upon such

retirement. None

of the foregoing were granted options in 2007. For additional information with respect to the assumptions used in determining the 123(R) values, refer to footnote 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the 2007 10-K.

(4) The full grant date fair value of each option award to non-employee directors in 2007, as calculated under FAS 123(R) for financial statement reporting purposes, is shown in the table below captioned

Director Option

62

Table of Contents

Values for 2007. The accounting charge reported in the table above excludes substantially all of the fair value of such options to reflect that the awards were made in December of 2007 and the fact that vesting of the options occurs in future years; such charges also include amounts with respect to options awarded in prior years to reflect the fact that vesting occurs in or after 2007. The table below also sets forth the amount included in the Option Awards column in the table above with respect to prior-year grants and this year s grant. Assumptions used in determining the 123(R) values are described in footnote 17 to the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in

the 2007 10-K.

DIRECTOR OPTION VALUES FOR 2007

Grant Date Fair

	Value of 2007	Amount Reported in 2007 Attributable to:	
		Prior-Year	
Director	Awards	Awards	2007 Awards
Raphael Benaroya	\$ 98,700	17,310	216
Mario Ciampi	\$ 98,700		216
Carl Epstein	n/a		(2,478)*
Fred Horowitz	\$ 98,700	17,310	216
Charles Klatskin	n/a		(2,478)*
Joseph Kling	n/a		(2,478)*
Lauren Krueger	\$ 98,700	216	216
William Landman	n/a		(2,478)*
Daniel Posner	\$ 98,700		216
Salvatore Salibello	\$ 98,700	17,310	216
Elliot Wahle	n/a		(2,478)*
Josh Weston	n/a		(2,478)*
Michael Zimmerman	\$ 98,700	17,310	216

Represents the amount of compensation cost disclosed in 2006 in the 2006 Director Compensation Table which such amount was deducted in 2007 as a result of the forfeiture of stock options with respect to directors who resigned or retired from the **Board during** 2007.

Each of Messrs. Benaroya, Ciampi, Horowitz, Posner, Salibello, Zimmerman and Ms. Krueger received an option for 15,000 shares on December 27, 2007 at an exercise price of \$16.77 per share, which vests ratably over a five-year period commencing December 27, 2008. Each of Messrs. Benaroya, Epstein, Horowitz, Klatskin, Kling, Landman, Salibello, Wahle, Weston and Zimmerman received an option for 15,000 shares on November 1, 2006 at an exercise price of \$15.05 per share, which vests ratably over a five-year period commencing November 1, 2007, and each of Messrs. Benaroya, Epstein, Klatskin, Landman and Weston received an option for 15,000 shares on May 4, 2005 at an exercise price of \$13.06 per share, all of which were deemed vested as of December 28, 2005. As Messrs. Epstein, Klatskin, Kling, Landman, Wahle and Weston all retired or resigned from the Board during 2007, all outstanding unexercised vested options held by them were cancelled 30 days following such event (15,000 held by Mr. Weston only), and all unvested options held by them (15,000 each) were cancelled upon such retirement or resignation.

Outstanding option awards at December 31, 2007 for each person who was a director in 2007 (other than Mr. Gatto, who had 350,000 options outstanding on such date, and Mr. Crain, who had 120,000 options outstanding and 85,000 shares of restricted stock outstanding on such date, as shown in the 2007 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End table above) are as follows:

63

	Outstanding Option Awards at	Vested Portion of Outstanding Option Awards at	
Name	12/31/07	12/31/07	
Raphael Benaroya	45,000	18,000	
Mario Ciampi	15,000	-0-	
Carl Epstein	-0-		
Fred Horowitz	30,000	3,000	
Charles Klatskin	-0-		
Joseph Kling	-0-		
Lauren Krueger	15,000	-0-	
William Landman	-0-		
Daniel Posner	15,000	-0-	
Salvatore Salibello	30,000	3,000	
Elliott Wahle	-0-		
Josh Weston	-0-		
Michael Zimmerman	30,000	3,000	

- (6) Reflects a special bonus paid to Mr. Weston following his retirement from the Board as of January 2, 2007 in recognition of his services as Chairman of the Board.
- (7) Each individual waived director s fees until October 1, 2007. Such fees were paid in each case directly to D. E. Shaw & Co., L.P.

Directors who are employees of the Company receive no additional compensation for services as a director (for this reason, Mr. Gatto and Mr. Crain, who each served as a director during 2007, are not included in the foregoing tables), however, all directors are reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection therewith. In addition, the following compensation arrangements apply to each director who is not an officer or other employee of the Company (Non-Employee Directors): (i) an annual retainer for service as a director of \$15,000; (ii) a fee for attendance at each Board meeting of \$1,250, except that the Chairman of the Board, if any, receives \$2,000 for each Board meeting attended; (iii) a fee for attendance at each Audit Committee meeting of \$1,500, except that the Chairman of the Audit Committee receives \$2,000 for each Audit Committee meeting attended; (iv) a fee for attendance at each Board

committee meeting, other than the Audit Committee, of \$1,250, except that the Chairman of such committee receives \$2,000 for each committee meeting attended, (v) a fee of \$1,250 for attendance at each special committee meeting, and (vi) an aggregate fee of \$50,000 for all meetings of a specific special committee in connection with the consideration of strategic alternatives (the special committees described in clauses (v) and (vi) above are no longer extant). In addition, Non-Employee Directors are entitled to reimbursement of \$2,000 per day for participation in any directors retreat attended during the year. Further, it is the current policy of the Board to make an annual grant of non-qualified stock options to Non-Employee Directors to purchase 15,000 shares of the Company s Common Stock pursuant to the 2004 Plan. See 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan above for a description of the material terms of the 2004 Plan. If the Company s Equity Incentive Plan is duly approved by the Company s shareholders at the 2008 Meeting, it is the current intention of the Board to grant to each Non-Employee Director, on the date of the 2008 Meeting and on the date of each Annual Meeting of Shareholders thereafter and immediately following which such Non-Employee Director is serving on the Board, awards under such plan with an aggregate value on the date of grant consistent with the Board s then-current policy, to the extent such awards are available for issuance under such plan.

Previously, Non-Employee Directors were eligible to receive non-qualified stock options under the Company s 1994 Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors and the 1999 Stock Option Plan for Outside Directors. However, as reported in the 2005 Proxy Statement, all options granted to Non-Employee Directors under such plans were either exercised or tendered pursuant to the cash tender offer that the Company announced on May 7, 2004 and, as a result, there were no outstanding options under either plan during 2007. Commencing January 1, 2004, Non-Employee Directors became eligible to receive awards of non-qualified stock options under the 2004 Plan.

64

PROPOSAL 2 APPROVAL OF THE EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

The Board adopted the Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (the EI Plan) on June 3, 2008, subject to approval by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares voting on this proposal, provided that affirmative votes also represent at least a majority of the voting power required to constitute a quorum at the 2008 Meeting. See Some Questions You May Have Regarding This Proxy Statement above. The EI Plan is intended to serve as a successor to the 2004 Plan. Shareholder approval of the EI Plan will not affect any awards outstanding under the 2004 Plan at the time of the 2008 Meeting, however, the 2004 Plan will be terminated as of the date of such approval, and no further awards under the 2004 Plan will be made thereafter. Should such approval not be obtained, then the EI Plan will not be implemented, and the 2004 Plan will continue in full force and effect, and awards may continue to be made thereunder until December 31, 2008 or until the available share reserve has been exhausted. The following summarizes the principal terms of the EI Plan. Because it is not a complete description of all of the terms and conditions of the EI Plan, this summary is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the EI Plan (attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix A). The closing price of a share of Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on June 3, 2008 was \$11.87. The Company intends to file a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to register the shares to be issued pursuant to the EI Plan.

A. Description of EI Plan

Awards

The EI Plan provides for awards in any one or a combination of: (a) Stock Options, (b) Stock Appreciation Rights, (c) Restricted Stock, (d) Stock Units, (e) Non-Restricted Stock, and/or (f) Dividend Equivalent Rights. Any award under the EI Plan may, as determined by the committee administering the EI Plan (the Plan Committee) in its sole discretion, constitute a Performance-Based Award (an award that qualifies for the performance-based compensation exemption of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended). All awards granted under the EI Plan will be evidenced by a written agreement between the Company and each participant (which need not be identical with respect to each grant or participant) that will provide the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the requirements of the EI Plan, associated with such awards, as determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion. Award agreements must be executed by the Company and a participant in order for the award covered by such agreement to be effective.

Stock Options. Stock Options are options to purchase the Common Stock of the Company, that are either: Incentive Stock Options (stock options which comply with Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), or nonqualified stock options (stock options which are not Incentive Stock Options).

Stock Appreciation Rights. A Stock Appreciation Right is a right to receive a payment in cash, Common Stock or a combination thereof, as determined by the Plan Committee, in an amount or value equal to the excess of: (i) the Fair Market Value (as defined below), or other specified valuation (which may not exceed Fair Market Value), of a specified number of shares of Common Stock on the date the right is exercised, over (ii) the Fair Market Value or other specified amount (which may not be less than Fair Market Value) of such shares of Common Stock on the date the right is granted; provided, however, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with or in substitution for a Stock Option, the designated Fair Market Value for purposes of the foregoing clause (ii) shall be the Fair Market Value on the date such Stock Option was granted. For purposes of the EI Plan, the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock is, on the date of determination: (i) if the Common Stock is then listed on either the New York Stock Exchange or another national securities exchange, the last sale price of a share of Common Stock reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the New York Stock Exchange or such other exchange on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day, on the first preceding date on which a sale of Common Stock so occurred; (ii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on any such exchange, but is quoted on an over-the-counter market system then in use (OTC System), the last sale price of a share of Common Stock at the close on such OTC System on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day on such OTC System, then the average of the bid and asked prices for a share of Common Stock on the OTC System at the end of such day (provided, that if the Common Stock is then listed on: (A) more than one exchange, (B) more than one OTC system, or (C) at least one exchange and one OTC System, the principal market for such securities, as determined by the Committee in good faith, shall be used); and (iii) if the

Common Stock is not then listed on a national securities

65

Table of Contents

exchange or an OTC System, the amount determined by the Committee (or in accordance with procedures approved by the Committee) in good faith.

<u>Restricted Stock</u>. Restricted Stock is Common Stock that is subject to restrictions, including risks of forfeiture, determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion.

Stock Units. A Stock Unit is a notional account representing a participant s conditional right to receive at a future date one (1) share of Common Stock or its equivalent in value. Stock Units may be settled in the sole discretion of the Plan Committee: (i) by the distribution of shares of Common Stock equal to the participant s Stock Units, (ii) by a lump sum payment of an amount in cash equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock which would otherwise be distributed to the participant, or (iii) by a combination of cash and Common Stock.

Non-Restricted Stock. Non-Restricted Stock is Common Stock that is not Restricted Stock.

<u>Dividend Equivalent Rights</u>. A Dividend Equivalent Right is the right of a participant to receive the equivalent value (either in cash or Common Stock) of all or any specified portion of any regular cash dividends that would have been paid on a specified number of shares of Common Stock if such number of shares of Common Stock had been delivered to such participant pursuant to an award. Dividend Equivalent Rights may be settled in cash, shares of Common Stock, or a combination thereof, in a single installment or multiple installments, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

Reserved Shares

A total of 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock have been reserved that may be subject to, delivered in connection with, and/or available for awards under the EI Plan, which consists of (i) the number of shares of Common Stock that remain available for issuance under the 2004 Plan (655,969 shares), plus (ii) an additional 844,031 shares, and which shall consist of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock held in treasury. In connection with the grant of a stock option or other award (other than a full value award, as defined in the EI Plan), the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the EI Plan shall be reduced by the number of shares in respect of which such option or other-than full-value award is granted or denominated. If full value awards are granted, each full value award shall reduce the total number of shares available for issuance under the EI Plan by 1.45 shares of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock in respect of which such full value award is granted. In the event all or a portion of an award is forfeited, terminated or cancelled, expires, is settled for cash, or otherwise does not result in the issuance of all or a portion of the shares of Common Stock subject to the award in connection with the exercise or settlement of such award (Unissued Shares), such Unissued Shares will in each case again be available for awards under the EI Plan, provided that to the extent any such expired, canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminated award (or portion thereof) was a full value award, the number of shares of Common Stock that may again be the subject of options or other awards granted under the EI Plan shall increase by 1.45 shares of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock in respect of which such full value award was granted. The preceding sentence shall apply to any awards outstanding on the effective date of the EI Plan under the 2004 Plan, up to a maximum of an additional 1,750,000 shares. In connection with the acquisition of any business by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, any then-outstanding options or other similar rights or other equity awards pertaining to such business may be assumed or replaced by awards under the EI Plan upon such terms and conditions as the Plan Committee determines in its sole discretion, and to the extent any shares of Common Stock are to be delivered as or in connection with awards under the EI Plan in replacement for any such grants, awards, options or rights of another business, such shares shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law and stock exchange rules, be in addition to those available under the EI Plan.

Participants

Participants are officers (including directors), non-employee (outside) directors, employees and specified consultants of the Company or any of its subsidiaries selected by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion to receive an award under the EI Plan. Currently, approximately 1,100 employees, all outside directors (currently 7 individuals) and an indeterminate number of consultants are eligible to participate in the EI Plan. Incentive Stock Options may not be awarded to participants who are not employees of the Company.

66

Table of Contents

Administration of the Plan

The Plan Committee shall be a committee comprised of at least two (2) directors, each of whom shall be, to the extent applicable an outside director within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. In the absence of a contrary appointment by the Board, the Plan Committee shall be the Compensation Committee, except regarding awards to outside directors, with respect to whom the Board shall act as the Plan Committee. The Plan Committee, subject to the limitations set forth in the EI Plan, shall have absolute discretion and authority: (i) to make and administer grants under the EI Plan (including to determine the form, amount and other terms and conditions of awards granted, and to waive, amend or modify conditions initially established for grants, including to accelerate vesting and to extend or limit the exercisability of grants, except as specifically restricted by the EI Plan), (ii) to determine when and to which individuals awards will be granted, (iii) to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances awards may be settled, paid or exercised in cash, Common Stock or other property, or canceled, forfeited or suspended, (iv) to determine the terms and provisions of any award agreement and any amendment of such award agreement, and (v) to establish, amend, waive and/or rescind any rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the EI Plan, including to make such determinations and interpretations and to take such actions in connection with the EI Plan and any awards granted thereunder as it deems necessary or advisable to carry out its purposes.

Grant Date

The grant date shall mean the date designated by the Plan Committee as the date of an award under the EI Plan, which shall not be earlier than the date the Plan Committee authorizes (by resolution or written action) the grant of such award, notwithstanding the date of any award agreement evidencing such award. In the absence of a designated date or fixed method of computing such date being specifically set forth in the Plan Committee s resolution, then the date of grant shall be the date of the Plan Committee s resolution or action.

Limitations on Grants

Grants under the EI Plan can be made to any eligible individual at the discretion of the Plan Committee at any time. All grants of Stock Options are subject to a 350,000 shares per participant per plan year limit. In the case of Incentive Stock Options, the aggregate fair market value (as of the date of grant) of all shares of Common Stock underlying any grant of Incentive Stock Options, however made, that become exercisable by a participant during any calendar year may not exceed \$100,000 (options granted in excess of this amount shall not be treated as Incentive Stock Options). Grants of Incentive Stock Options are subject to other restrictions set forth in the EI Plan.

Vesting, Term and Acceleration Provisions

Stock Options.

Each Stock Option will be subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as the Plan Committee may determine from time to time in its discretion, provided that no Stock Option shall be exercisable later than 10 years from the date of grant (5 years in the case of an Incentive Stock Options granted to a Ten-Percent Stockholder (as defined in the EI Plan)). Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in the award agreement relating to such award, each Stock Option shall vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year), commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and shall continue to be exercisable for a period of 10 years from the date of grant.

Unless otherwise provided in the award agreement governing such Stock Options or the Change in Control Plan (other than with respect to awards of Stock Options to outside directors, which is discussed in the following paragraph), (i) upon Disability (as defined in the EI Plan) or death, all unexercised options vest, and may be exercised for up to one year or the remaining term of the Stock Option, if earlier; and (ii) if a participant s employment is terminated for any other reason, all unexercised Stock Options are cancelled as of the termination date; provided however, if a participant s employment is terminated for reasons other than Cause (as defined in the EI Plan), vested unexercised Stock Options may be exercised within 90 days of termination, or the remaining term of the Stock Option, if earlier, and if a participant retires (as defined in the Company s 401(k) plan), vested unexercised Stock Options may be exercised within 1 year of such retirement, or the remaining term of the Stock Option, if earlier

Table of Contents

With respect to awards of Stock Options to outside directors, unless otherwise provided in the award agreement governing such Stock Options, in the event of the death or Disability (as defined in the EI Plan) of a participant while serving as a member of the Board, all unexercised options vest, and may be exercised for up to one year or the remaining term of the Stock Option, if earlier; if a participant ceases to serve as a member of the Board for any other reason, vested options shall be exercisable for a period of 90 days following termination, or the remaining term of the Stock Option, if earlier.

Stock Appreciation Rights. Each Stock Appreciation Right shall be subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as the Plan Committee determines in its sole discretion; provided, however, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with a Stock Option, the Stock Appreciation Right shall become exercisable and shall expire in the same manner as the corresponding Stock Option, unless otherwise determined by the Plan Committee, and provided further, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with an Incentive Stock Option, such Stock Appreciation Right shall be exercisable only if the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of exercise exceeds the exercise price of the related Incentive Stock Option. Stock Appreciation Rights will be exercisable at such time or times as shall be determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion; provided, however, that no Stock Appreciation Rights shall terminate at such earlier times and upon such conditions or circumstances determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion.

Restricted Stock Awards. Awards of Restricted Stock may be subject to such restrictions, terms and conditions as the Committee determines in its sole discretion, including a requirement of a cash or other payment therefore in whole or in part. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in the award agreement relating to the award of Restricted Stock, such awards will vest ratably over five years (20% per year), beginning on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, and upon vesting, shall not be subject to any further restrictions. The Plan Committee may, in its sole discretion, accelerate the time at which any or all restrictions will lapse or remove any or all of such restrictions. Unless otherwise provided in an agreement governing the award or the Company s Change in Control Plan, upon a participant s termination of employment for any reason (not including an authorized leave of absence) all non-vested restricted stock is forfeited, except in the event of Disability (as defined in the EI Plan) or death, in which case all restrictions lapse as of the date of the relevant event.

<u>Stock Units</u>. Stock Units may be subject to such terms and conditions including, but not limited to, vesting, acceleration of vesting and forfeiture as the Plan Committee determines in its sole discretion.

<u>Dividend Equivalent Rights</u>. Dividend Equivalent Rights may be granted in tandem with another award or as a separate award. The terms and conditions applicable to each Dividend Equivalent Right, including vesting, risks of forfeiture and other restrictions, shall be determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion. Amounts payable in respect of Dividend Equivalent Rights may be paid currently or withheld until the lapsing of any applicable restrictions thereon or until the vesting, exercise, payment, settlement or other lapse of restrictions on the award to which the Dividend Equivalent Rights relate.

Performance Based Awards

Any awards granted under the EI Plan may be granted in a manner such that the awards qualify for the performance-based compensation exemption of Section 162(m) of the Code. As determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion, either the granting or vesting of such Performance-Based Awards shall be based on achievement of performance objectives determined in accordance with one or more performance criteria specified in the EI Plan that apply to an individual participant, one or more business units or the Company as a whole. With respect to any Performance-Based Awards, the Plan Committee may, in its sole discretion, within the time prescribed by Section 162(m) of the Code, adjust or modify the calculation of performance goals in order to prevent the dilution or enlargement of the rights of any participant with respect to such Performance-Based Award: (a) in the event of, or in anticipation of, any unusual or extraordinary corporate item, transaction, event or development, (b) in recognition of, or in anticipation of, any other unusual or nonrecurring event affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company, or (c) in response to, or in anticipation of, changes in applicable laws, regulations, accounting principles, or business conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, after establishment of a performance goal, the Plan Committee shall not revise such performance goal or increase the amount of compensation payable thereunder (as determined in

68

Table of Contents

attainment of such performance goal; provided that the Plan Committee may reduce or eliminate the number of shares of Common Stock or cash granted, vested or payable upon the attainment of such performance goal.

Exercise Price

Each Stock Option granted under the EI Plan will have a per-share exercise price as the Plan Committee determines on the date of grant, but not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the Date of Grant (or 110% of Fair Market Value in the case of a Ten Percent Stockholder).

Adjustments

In the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock or in the capital structure of the Company by reason of a dissolution or liquidation of the Company, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, mergers, consolidations or combinations with or into any other entity if the Company is the surviving entity, stock or extraordinary dividends, stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock combinations, rights offerings, statutory share exchanges involving capital stock of the Company, reorganizations, recapitalizations, reclassifications, exchanges, spin-offs, dividends in kind, or other relevant changes in capitalization, awards granted under the EI Plan and any award agreements, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock deliverable under the EI Plan, and/or the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options may be granted to or measured with respect to any one person under the EI Plan shall be subject to adjustment or substitution, as determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion, as to the number, price or kind of a share of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such awards, and any and all other matters deemed appropriate by the Plan Committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any award hereunder, or as otherwise determined by the Plan Committee to be equitable.

Outstanding awards and award agreements, and the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options may be granted to or measured with respect to any one person during any period, shall be subject to adjustment or substitution, as determined by the Plan Committee in its sole discretion, as to the number, price or kind of a share of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such awards, and any and all other matters deemed appropriate by the Plan Committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any award hereunder, or as otherwise determined by the Plan Committee to be equitable, in the event of any change in applicable laws or any change in circumstances which results in or would result in any substantial dilution or enlargement of the rights granted to, or available for, participants, or which otherwise warrants equitable adjustment in the sole discretion of the Plan Committee because it interferes with the intended operation of the Plan.

In connection with a Business Combination (as defined in the EI Plan), the Plan Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for: (i) the continuation of the EI Plan and/or the assumption of the awards granted thereunder by a successor corporation (or a parent or subsidiary thereof), (ii) the substitution for such awards of new awards covering the stock of a successor corporation (or a parent or subsidiary thereof), with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and exercise prices, (iii) upon 10 days advance notice from the Plan Committee to the affected participants, the acceleration of the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any award hereunder, or (iv) upon 10 days advance notice from the Plan Committee to the affected participants, (x) the cancellation of any outstanding awards that are then exercisable or vested and the payment to the holders thereof, in cash or stock, or any combination thereof, of the value of such awards based upon the price per share of stock received or to be received by other stockholders of the Company in connection with the Business Combination, and (y) the cancellation of any awards that are not then exercisable or vested. In the event of any continuation, assumption or substitution contemplated by the foregoing clauses, the EI Plan and/or such awards shall continue in the manner and under the terms so provided.

Transferability

Each award granted under the EI Plan (other than Non-Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Awards with respect to which all restrictions have lapsed) shall not be transferable otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and shall be exercisable, during a participant s lifetime, only by such participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Committee in its sole discretion may permit the transferability of an award (other than an Incentive Stock Option) by a participant to a member of such participant s immediate family or trusts

Table of Contents

for the benefit of such persons, or partnerships, corporations, limited liability companies or other entities owned solely by such persons, including trusts for such persons, subject to any restriction included in the grant of the award.

Tax Compliance. The EI Plan includes specific limitations on awards to ensure compliance with the provisions of Section 409A of the Code.

Rights of Holders of Restricted Stock

A holder of restricted stock has all rights of a shareholder with respect to such stock, including the right to vote and to receive dividends thereon, except as otherwise provided in the award agreement relating to such award.

Additional Limitations.

The grant of any award under the EI Plan may also be subject to such other provisions as the Plan Committee in its sole discretion determines appropriate, including, without limitation, provisions for the forfeiture of, or restrictions on resale or other disposition of, Common Stock acquired under any form of award, provisions for the acceleration of exercisability or vesting of awards (subject to the provisions of the EI Plan), provisions to comply with federal and state securities laws, or conditions as to the participant semployment in addition to those specifically provided for under the EI Plan. Participants may be required to comply with any timing or other restrictions with respect to the payment, settlement or exercise of an award, including a window-period limitation, as may be imposed in the sole discretion of the Plan Committee.

Amendment, Termination and Duration of the Plan

The Plan Committee may at any time: (i) amend, modify, terminate or suspend the EI Plan, and (ii) alter or amend any or all award agreements to the extent permitted by the EI Plan and applicable law. Amendments of the EI Plan are subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company only as required by applicable law, regulation or stock exchange requirement. The EI Plan shall remain in effect until all stock subject to it is distributed or all awards have expired or lapsed, whichever is latest to occur, or the EI Plan is earlier terminated by the Plan Committee. No awards may be granted under the EI Plan after the fifth anniversary of its effective date.

Indemnification

The EI Plan contains an indemnification provision for Plan Committee members.

B. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the EI Plan

The following is a summary of the current Federal income tax rules relating to awards under the EI Plan.

Incentive Stock Options. An incentive stock option results in no taxable income to the optionee or a deduction to the Company at the time it is granted or exercised. On exercise, however, any excess of the fair market value of the shares acquired over the exercise price is an item of adjustment in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the optionee. If the optionee holds the stock received following an exercise for at least two years from the date of the grant and one year from the date of exercise, the gain realized on disposition of the stock will be long-term capital gain. If the shares are disposed of during this period (i.e., a disqualifying disposition), the optionee will recognize ordinary income equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the shares, upon exercise over the exercise price (or, if less, the excess of the amount realized upon disposition over the exercise price). Any excess will be short-term capital gain. In such case, the Company will be entitled to a deduction, in the year of disposition equal to the amount includible in the optionee s income. The optionee s basis in the shares acquired upon exercise of an incentive stock option is equal to the exercise price, plus any amount includible in his or her income.

<u>Nonqualified Stock Options</u>. A nonqualified stock option does not result in income at the time of grant. On exercise, an optionee will realize ordinary income in an amount equal to the difference between the exercise price and the then market value of the shares. The Company generally will receive a deduction equal to the amount of income recognized by the optionee.

70

Table of Contents

The optionee s basis in such shares is equal to the sum of the exercise price plus the ordinary income he or she recognizes. Any gain (or loss) upon subsequent disposition of the shares will be long-term or short-term gain (or loss), depending upon the period shares are held.

If a nonqualified stock option is exercised by tendering previously owned shares of the Company s Common Stock in payment of the exercise price, instead of the treatment described above, a number of new shares equal to the number of tendered shares will be considered to have been received in a tax-free exchange; the optionee s basis and holding period for such new shares will be the same as they were in the tendered shares. The optionee will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of any new shares received in excess of the number of exchanged shares; the optionee s basis in such excess shares will be equal to the amount of such income, and the holding period in such shares will begin on the date of exercise.

Stock Appreciation Rights. The recipient of a stand-alone Stock Appreciation Right (SAR) generally recognizes no income on the grant date but will recognize ordinary income when the SAR is paid in an amount equal to the appreciation in the underlying security from the grant date. The result is the same if the grantee receives common stock in payment. Upon the settlement of a SAR, the Company is entitled to a deduction equal to the amount of ordinary income the recipient is required to recognize.

Other Awards. The current tax consequences of other awards authorized under the EI Plan are generally as follows: (i) a holder of restricted stock generally must recognize the value of any shares for which the restrictions lapse, in excess of any amount paid for such stock. The holder also may elect to make a Section 83(b) election in which case the value of the shares (in excess of any amount paid) is currently taxable as ordinary income but any future gain will be capital in nature; (ii) stock unit grantees generally recognize ordinary income tax at the time of payment equal to the value of the underlying shares; and (iii) a recipient of unrestricted stock generally must recognize the value of the shares as ordinary income tax at the time of grant. In each of the foregoing cases, the Company will generally be entitled to a corresponding federal income tax deduction at the same time the participant recognizes ordinary income.

Section 162(m). Compensation of persons who are covered employees of the Company is subject to the deduction limit of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code for amounts in excess of \$1 million. Awards that qualify as performance-based compensation are exempt from Section 162(m), thus allowing the Company the full federal tax deduction otherwise permitted for such compensation. The EI Plan enables the Plan Committee to grant awards that will be exempt from the deduction limits of Section 162(m).

Section 409A. Deferred compensation plans that do not comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code can subject the recipient to an acceleration of income inclusion, an excise tax and interest. Complying with Section 409A requires satisfaction of a number of requirements, including the timing of elections to defer compensation, distribution events and funding. The Plan Committee has adopted provisions in the EI Plan designed to ensure that awards under it will not be subject to the adverse tax consequences imposed on deferred compensation under Section 409A.

<u>Tax Treatment of Awards to Non-Employee Directors and to Employees Outside the United States</u>. The grant and exercise of stock options and other awards under the El Plan to non-employee directors and to employees outside the United States may be taxed on a different basis.

C. Interest of Certain Persons in the EI Plan

Shareholders should recognize that directors, nominees (if elected) and executive officers will personally benefit from the adoption of the EI Plan and the securities granted thereunder and, therefore, such directors and executive officers interests may conflict with the interest of the shareholders. Nevertheless, the Board believes that, in addition to assisting the Company in being able to attract and retain the services of high quality individuals as directors, executive officers and other key employees, the adoption of the EI Plan and the grant of securities thereunder will provide an incentive to such persons to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company and to align the interests of such persons with the shareholders. See the Compensation Discussion and Analysis above.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of the EI Plan, and proxies not marked to the contrary will be so voted.

Table of Contents 161

71

PROPOSAL 3 APPROVAL OF THE 2009 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Board adopted the Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2009 ESPP) on June 3, 2008, subject to approval by holders of a majority of the shares of Common Stock voting at the 2008 Meeting. See Some Questions You May Have Regarding This Proxy Statement above. The 2009 ESPP is intended to become effective on January 1, 2009, immediately after the Company s 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan terminates by its terms on December 31, 2008. The purpose of the 2009 ESPP is to provide the Company s employees the opportunity, through regular payroll deductions, to acquire Common Stock at a discount from market price, and thereby offer employees a share in the growth of the Company. The following summarizes the principal terms of the 2009 ESPP. Because it is not a complete description of all of the terms and conditions of the 2009 ESPP, the summary is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the 2009 ESPP (attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix B).

A. Description of the 2009 ESPP

The 2009 ESPP provides for the grant of stock options to employees of the Company and designated subsidiaries. Eligible employees do not include any employee: (i) whose customary employment is 20 hours or less per week or not more than five months in any plan year, or (ii) who, immediately after an option is granted, owns (within the meaning of Section 424(d) of the Internal Revenue Code) five percent or more of the Company s Common Stock. Currently, approximately 1,100 persons would be eligible to participate in the 2009 ESPP. The 2009 ESPP shall be administered by a committee comprised of two directors (or such greater number, as may be determined by the Board from time to time), each of whom, unless otherwise determined by the Board, is an outside director within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. In the absence of a contrary appointment, the committee administering the 2009 ESPP (the Committee) shall be the Compensation Committee. The Committee shall have the authority to interpret the 2009 ESPP, and to adopt, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to such Plan, and to make all other determinations and take all other actions necessary or advisable for the implementation and administration thereof. The 2009 ESPP contains an indemnification provision for Committee members. No director will participate in the 2009 ESPP.

A total of 200,000 shares of Common Stock have been reserved for issuance for grants of options under the 2009 ESPP. As of the first trading day of each plan year beginning on or after January 1, 2009, each eligible employee will be granted an option to purchase the number of full shares of Common Stock which may be purchased with the amount credited to his or her account as described below, provided that the Committee shall specify a maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by any participant pursuant to such option, and may specify an aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by all participants in a plan year. In each plan year, an eligible employee may elect to participate in the 2009 ESPP by filing a payroll deduction authorization form for from 1% to 10% (in whole percentages) of his or her compensation (as defined in the 2009 ESPP). These amounts are used to exercise the employee s option on the last trading day of the plan year, if notification is given to the Committee that the employee elects to exercise his or her option not later than the date set by the Committee. If an employee elects not to exercise his or her option, the total amount credited to his or her account during that plan year, without interest, will be returned to such employee, and his or her option will terminate. No employee shall have a right to purchase Common Stock under the 2009 ESPP which has an aggregate fair market value in excess of \$25,000 in any plan year, determined on the first trading of such plan year. An employee may withdraw from the 2009 ESPP at any time, at which time payroll deductions will cease, the total amount credited to his or her account, without interest, will be either (a) returned to the employee and his or her option will terminate, or (b) used at the end of the year to purchase the number of full shares of Common Stock which may be purchased with it.

The exercise price of options granted on the first trading day of each year will be, unless otherwise determined by the Committee (but which will in no event be less than), the lesser of 85% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on (i) the first trading day of such year or (ii) the last trading day of such year. Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall mean, on the date of determination: (i) if the Common Stock is then listed on either the New York Stock Exchange or another national securities exchange, the last sale price of a share of Common Stock reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the New York Stock Exchange or such other exchange on such date, or if there

has been no sale on such day, on the first preceding date on which a sale of

72

Table of Contents

Common Stock so occurred; (ii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on any such exchange, but is quoted on an over-the-counter market system then in use (OTC System), the last sale price of a share of Common Stock at the close on such OTC System on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day on such OTC System, then the average of the bid and asked prices for a share of Common Stock on the OTC System at the end of such day (provided, that if the Common Stock is then listed on: (A) more than one exchange, (B) more than one OTC system, or (C) at least one exchange and one OTC System, the principal market for such securities, as determined by the Committee in good faith, shall be used); and (iii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on a national securities exchange or an OTC System, the amount determined by the Committee (or in accordance with procedures approved by the Committee) in good faith to be the fair market value. Options are not transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution. All unexercised options expire upon the optionee s termination of employment other than by reason of retirement (as defined in the Company s 401(k) Plan). Any payroll deductions cease after the effective date of such retirement. In such case, the total amount credited to the employee s account, without interest, will be returned to him or her or to such employee s estate.

The 2009 ESPP may be amended at any time and from time to time by the Committee. In the event of an increase or decrease in the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock resulting from certain events, the Committee may adjust the number of shares available for issuance under the 2009 ESPP, adjust the exercise price for options granted under the 2009 ESPP, or take such other steps as it deems appropriate. Unless terminated sooner as provided therein, the 2009 ESPP will terminate on December 31, 2013.

B. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the 2009 ESPP

The 2009 ESPP is intended to qualify as an employee stock purchase plan under Section 423(b) of the Code. A participant realizes no Federal income tax upon the grant or exercise of an option under the 2009 ESPP. If the participant disposes of the shares issued pursuant to the exercise of an option under the 2009 ESPP more than two years after the date the option was granted and more than one year after such shares were transferred to him or her, or if he or she dies (at any time, regardless of the holding period), the employee will recognize ordinary income for the taxable year of disposition or death in an amount equal to the amount by which the exercise price is exceeded by the lesser of the Fair Market Value of the shares on the date: (i) of disposition or death, or (ii) the option was granted (calculated as if the option were exercised on such date). If the amount realized (in the case of a disposition other than by reason of death) exceeds the sum of the exercise price, and the amount of ordinary income, if any, included in income upon disposition, as described above, such excess will be taxed at long-term capital gain rates. If the amount realized is less than the exercise price for the shares, the excess will be treated as a long-term capital loss. The Company will not be entitled to a deduction.

If a participating employee disposes of the shares within two years after the date the option was granted or within one year after the date the shares were transferred to him or her (a Disqualifying Disposition), he or she will recognize ordinary income in the taxable year of the Disqualifying Disposition in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the excess of the Fair Market Value of the shares on the exercise date over the exercise price, or (ii) the gain realized by him or her on such Disqualifying Disposition. This ordinary income will be subject to withholding of Federal income tax and the Company will be required to make arrangements to ensure that the amount of tax required to be withheld is available for payment. Any further gain or loss recognized on such a Disqualifying Disposition will be taxed as a short-term or long-term capital gain, depending on the holding period of the shares. The Company will be entitled to a Federal income tax deduction corresponding to the amount of the ordinary income recognized by the employee by reason of the Disqualifying Disposition.

C. Interest of Certain Persons in the 2009 ESPP

Shareholders should recognize that executive officers will personally benefit from the adoption of the 2009 ESP should they choose to participate therein and, therefore, such executive officers interests may conflict with the interest of the shareholders. Nevertheless, the Board of Directors believes that, in addition to assisting the Company in being able to attract and retain the services of high quality individuals as executive officers and other key employees, the adoption of such the 2009 ESPP will provide an incentive to such persons to acquire a proprietary interest in the Company and to align the interests of such persons with the shareholders.

Table of Contents

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of the 2009 ESPP, and proxies not marked to the contrary will be so voted.

NEW PLAN BENEFITS

Under the EI Plan, the Plan Committee has the absolute discretion to determine when, to which eligible employees, consultants, officers and/or directors, and in what form and in what amounts, if any, awards will be made under the EI Plan. As a result of the foregoing, the benefits or amounts to be distributed or allocated to any eligible participant (or groups of or all participants) over the life of the EI Plan is not determinable (although it is the current intention of the Board to make annual awards to specified Non-Employee Directors on the date of the Annual Meeting of Shareholders, such intention may change, the form and amount of such awards is discretionary, the number of Non-Employee Directors may vary, and a sufficient number of shares may not remain available over the life of the EI Plan to make such grants in some or all relevant years).

In addition, because the purchase of shares of Common Stock by eligible employees under the 2009 ESPP is discretionary, the amount distributable to any employee (or groups of or all employees) over the life of the 2009 ESPP is not determinable. Non-executive directors are not eligible to participate in the 2009 ESPP.

Even if the EI Plan had been in effect for the year ended December 31, 2007, because the Plan Committee has the discretion to determine when, to which eligible employees, consultants, officers and/or directors, and in what amounts, if any, awards will be made under the EI Plan, the benefits or amounts to be distributed or allocated to any eligible participant (or groups of or all participants) during 2007 is not determinable, other than with respect to the Non-Employee Director group, which would have received awards under EI Plan (the form of which cannot be determined) with an aggregate value of approximately \$690,900, or \$98,700 per Non-Employee Director (consistent with the Board's determinations for Non-Employee Directors in 2007). In addition, because the purchase of shares of Common Stock by eligible employees under the 2009 ESPP is discretionary, the amount distributable to any employee (or groups of or all employees), even if such plan had been in effect for the year ended December 31, 2007 is not determinable.

With respect to 2007, options and restricted stock were granted under the 2004 Plan to the Named Executive Officers as set forth in the table captioned 2007 Grants of Plan-Based Awards. Options to purchase a total of 332,100 shares and a total of 137,500 shares of restricted stock were awarded to all executive officers as a group in 2007; options to purchase a total of 133,500 shares and a total of 33,175 shares of restricted stock were granted to employees other than executive officers as a group in 2007; and options to purchase a total 105,000 shares were granted to Non-Employee Directors as a group in 2007.

74

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information, as of December 31, 2007, regarding compensation plans (including individual compensation arrangements) under which equity securities of the Company are authorized for issuance.

	Number of securities to be issued upon	Weighted-average	Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity
	exercise of outstanding	exercise price of outstanding options,	compensation plans(excluding
	options, warrants	warrants	securities reflected in
	and rights	and rights	column
Plan Category	(a)	(b)	(a) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security			
holders(1)	1,405,417	\$ 17.52	985,214(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security			
holders	370,000(3)(4)	\$ 20.79	0
Total	1,775,417	\$ 18.20	985,214

(1) The plans are the

Company s 2004

Stock Option,

Restricted and

Non-Restricted

Stock Plan (the

2004 Plan),

Amended and

Restated 2004

Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (the

2004 ESPP), 1999

Stock Option Plan

for Outside

Directors, 1999

Stock Option and

Restricted Stock

Plan (1999

SORSP), 1999

Stock Option Plan,

1999 Employee

Stock Purchase

Plan (the preceding

four plans collectively, the 1999 Plans) and corresponding predecessor plans for 1994 (collectively, the 1994 Plans). On May 7, 2004, the Company announced that the **Board of Directors** had authorized a cash tender offer to purchase outstanding options issued under the Company s various equity compensation plans for cash in amounts ranging from \$0.25 per share to \$5.00 per share, as is more fully described in the Statement on Schedule TO and related amendments filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 7, 2004, May 28, 2004, June 15, 2004, June 22, 2004 and June 30, 2004, respectively. The tender offer closed in June 2004, with an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$844,000 paid by the Company for the tender of options to purchase 757,609 shares of Common Stock.

(2) The 2004 Plan and the 2004 ESPP were approved by the shareholders of the Company at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on May 7, 2003, and such plans became effective January 1, 2004. An aggregate of 878,916 shares of Common Stock remain available for issuance for grants of stock options, restricted and non-restricted stock under the 2004 Plan and 106,298 shares of Common Stock remain available for issuance under the 2004 ESPP. Includes 100,000 options to purchase Common Stock granted to Mr. Crain pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement with the Company as of January 4, 2008. No awards may be made under the 2004 Plan after December 31, 2008. No awards could be made under the 1999 Plans after December 31, 2003. No awards could be made under the 1994 Plans after December 31, 1998.

(3) (a) Includes 150,000 shares issuable under

stock options

granted to

Mr. Andrew R.

Gatto outside of

the 2004 Plan

(due to grant

limitations

therein) in

accordance with

the terms of his

employment

agreement (the

Gatto

Employment

Agreement), as

a material

inducement to

Mr. Gatto

becoming

President and

Chief Executive

Officer of the

Company. The

options have an

exercise price of

\$19.53 per

share. As a

result of the

acceleration of

the vesting

provisions of all

Underwater

Options

described in

footnote 4

below, all such

options became

fully-vested as

of December 28,

2005. As a

result of the

termination of

Mr. Gatto s

employment as

of December 3,

2007, the

options will

remain

exercisable until

December 3,

2009. The

Company shall, upon and to the extent of any written request from Mr. Gatto, use reasonable efforts to assure that all shares issued upon exercise of such options are, upon issuance and delivery, (i) fully registered (at the Company s expense) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for both issuance

75

and resale. (ii) registered or qualified (at the Company s expense) under such state securities laws as he may reasonably request, for issuance and resale and (iii) listed on a national securities exchange or eligible for sale on the NASDAQ National Market, and that all such shares, upon issuance, shall be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

(b) Includes

100,000 shares issuable under stock options granted to Mr. Michael Levin (the ML Options) outside of the 2004 Plan (due to grant limitations therein) in accordance with the terms of his employment agreement (the ML**Employment** Agreement), as

a material inducement to

Mr. Levin

becoming

President and

Chief Executive

Officer of Kids

Line following

its acquisition

by the

Company. The

ML Options

have an exercise

price of \$22.21

per share. As a

result of the

acceleration of

the vesting

provisions of all

Underwater

Options

described in

footnote 4

below, all such

options became

fully-vested as

of December 28,

2005. In

general, the ML

Options are

exercisable for

ten years from

the date of

grant. If the

employment of

Mr. Levin under

the ML

Employment

Agreement is

terminated by

Kids Line by

reason of his

Disability (as

defined in the

ML

Employment

Agreement), or

by reason of his

death, any

outstanding

unexercised

portion of the

ML Options

may be

exercised by

Mr. Levin s legal

representatives,

estate, legatee(s)

or permitted

transferee(s), as

applicable, for

up to one

(1) year after

such termination

or the stated

term of the

option,

whichever

period is

shorter. If the

employment of

Mr. Levin under

the ML

Employment

Agreement is

terminated by

Kids Line for

Cause or by

Mr. Levin

without Good

Reason (each as

defined in the

ML

Employment

Agreement),

any outstanding

unexercised

portion of the

ML Options

will be

cancelled and

deemed

terminated as of

the date of his

termination. If

Mr. Levin s

employment

under the ML

Employment

Agreement is

terminated by

Kids Line

without Cause

or by Mr. Levin

with Good Reason (each as defined in the ML**Employment** Agreement), any outstanding unexercised portion of the ML Options may be exercised by Mr. Levin or his permitted transferee(s), as applicable, for up to six months after such termination or the stated term of the option, whichever period is shorter. The provisions set forth in the last three sentences are referred to herein as the Termination Provisions . The ML Options are subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions substantially similar to those set forth in the 2004 Plan.

(c) Includes
100,000 shares
issuable under
stock options
granted to
Ms. Joanne
Levin (the JL
Options) outside
of the 2004 Plan
(due to grant

limitations

therein) in

accordance with

the terms of her

employment

agreement (the

JL Employment

Agreement), as

a material

inducement to

Ms. Levin

becoming

Executive Vice

President of

Kids Line

following its

acquisition by

the Company.

The JL Options

have an exercise

price of \$22.21

per share. As a

result of the

acceleration of

the vesting

provisions of all

Underwater

Options

described in

footnote 4

below, all such

option became

fully-vested as

of December 28,

2005. In

general, the JL

Options are

exercisable for

ten years from

the date of

grant. The JL

Options are

subject to the

Termination

Provisions. The

JL Options are

subject to

anti-dilution and

other adjustment

provisions

substantially

similar to those set forth in the 2004 Plan.

(d) Includes 20,000

shares issuable

under stock

options granted

to Mr. Crain on

December 5,

2007 outside of

the 2004 Plan

(due to grant

limitations

therein) in

accordance with

the terms of his

employment

agreement (the

Crain

Agreement), as

a material

inducement to

Mr. Crain

becoming

President and

Chief Executive

Officer of the

Company.

These options

(the Crain

Options) have

an exercise

price of \$16.05

per share, vest

ratably over a

five-year period

commencing

December 4,

2008, and are

generally

exercisable until

December 4,

2017. If the

employment of

Mr. Crain is

terminated by

the Company

for Cause or by

Mr. Crain

without Good

Reason (each as

defined in the

Crain

Agreement), the

unvested portion

of the Crain

Option will be

cancelled, and

any

unexercised,

vested portion

shall remain

exercisable for

the shorter of

90 days

following the

date of

termination and

the remainder of

their term. If the

Company

terminates the

employment of

Mr. Crain

without Cause

or he terminates

his employment

for Good

Reason, the

Crain Option

will become

immediately

vested to the

same extent as if

Mr. Crain had

completed an

additional two

years of service

after the date of

termination, and

shall remain

exercisable for

the shorter of

90 days

following the

date of

termination and

the remainder of

their term. If the

employment of

Mr. Crain is

terminated by

the Company as

a result of his

death or

Disability (as

defined in the

Crain

Agreement), the

Crain Option

will become

immediately

vested to the

same extent as if

Mr. Crain had

completed an

additional two

years of service

after the date of

termination, and

shall remain

exercisable for

the shorter of

one year

following the

date of

termination and

the remainder of

their term. In

the event of a

Change of

Control (as

defined in the

Crain

Agreement),

whether or not

termination of

employment

occurs, the

Crain Option

will become

immediately

vested to the

extent that such

option was

76

scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control, and the vesting dates of the portion of the Crain Option that was not scheduled to vest within three years of the date of such Change in Control shall be accelerated by three years. If the Company terminates Mr. Crain s employment without Cause and a Change in Control occurs within six months of the date of such termination, the portion of the Crain Option that was scheduled to vest within three years of the date of termination, and which did not vest as described above. shall become vested and exercisable on the date of such Change in Control, and shall remain exercisable for the shorter of 90 days following the date of termination and the remainder of their term.

(4) Effective
December 28, 2005,
the Company
amended all
outstanding stock
option agreements

which pertain to options with exercise prices in excess of the market price for the Company s Common Stock at the close of business on December 28, 2005 (Underwater Options) which had remaining vesting requirements. As a result of these amendments, all **Underwater Options** became fully vested and immediately exercisable at the close of business on December 28, 2005.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The responsibilities of the Audit Committee, which are set forth in its charter, include assisting the Board of Directors in its oversight of the Company's financial reporting process (a link to the current Audit Committee charter can be found on the Company's website located at www.russberrie.com under Corporate Governance). In this context, the Audit Committee has separately reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements of the Company with management and the independent auditors. The Audit Committee has discussed with the independent auditors matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board. The Audit Committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent accountants required by Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, and the Audit Committee has discussed with the independent accountants that firm s independence.

Based upon the Audit Committee s review and discussions reported above, the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 for filing with the SEC.

The Audit Committee has determined that the provision of non-audit services by KPMG LLP, the principal accountants of the Company for 2007, is compatible with maintaining such accountant s independence.

Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. Audit Committee Salvatore Salibello, Frederick Horowitz and John Schaefer

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

KPMG LLP (KPMG) has served as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal years from 2002 through 2007. It is expected that representatives of KPMG will be present at the meeting to respond to appropriate questions and, if they so desire, to make a statement. The Audit Committee has selected KPMG as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2008.

AUDIT FEES

The aggregate fees billed by KPMG LLP (KPMG), the Company s independent registered public accounting firm, for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company s annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (including services related to compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and an agreed-upon procedures letter required in connection with the Company s senior lender) and the reviews of the financial statements included in the Company s Forms 10-Q for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and

certifications, and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings for such fiscal year, were \$1,373,000. The aggregate fees billed by KPMG for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company s annual financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 (including services related to compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and an agreed-upon procedures letter required in connection with the Company s senior lender), and the reviews of the financial statements included in

77

Table of Contents

the Company s Forms 10-Q for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, and services that are normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filings for such fiscal year, were \$1,386,000.

AUDIT-RELATED FEES

The aggregate fees billed by KPMG for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit of the Company s financial statements that are not already reported above under the caption Audit Fees totaled \$100,300 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, which fees were billed for employee benefit plan audits and agreed-upon procedures in connection with the Kids Line earnout consideration, and \$45,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006, which fees were billed for employee benefit plan audits.

TAX FEES

The aggregate fees billed by KPMG for professional services for tax compliance and advisory services, including transfer pricing studies, totaled \$260,100 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, and totaled \$135,000 for tax compliance and advisory services for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

ALL OTHER FEES

Other than as set forth above under the captions Audit Fees, Audit-Related Fees, and Tax Fees, there were no other services rendered or fees billed by KPMG for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 or for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006.

AUDIT COMMITTEE PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Under its charter, the Audit Committee has the sole authority to retain and replace the Company s independent auditors, and to approve, in advance, all audit engagement fees and terms, as well as all non-audit engagements permitted by law with the independent auditors. Each of the individual engagements for the services described above under the captions Audit Fees, Audit-Related Fees, and Tax Fees for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were approved by the Audit Committee in advance of the engagement of KPMG for any such services in accordance with the provisions of Regulation S-X Rule 2-01(c)(7)(i)(A).

78

Table of Contents

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth, as of May 30, 2008, the shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by each director and nominee for director of the Company, by the named executive officers of the Company and by all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. None of the shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by directors or nominees as set forth in the table below constitute directors—qualifying shares nor have any of the shares set forth in the table below been pledged as security.

	Shares of Common	Shares of Common Stock	Total Shares of Common	Percentage
Name of Director,	Stock	Acquirable	Stock	of
Officer or	Beneficially	Within 60	Beneficially	Outstanding Common
Identity of Group	Owned(1)(12)	Days(2)(12)	Owned(12)	Stock
Raphael Benaroya	18,405(3)	18,000(4)	36,405	*
Jeffrey Bialosky(5)	3,900	0	3,900	*
Anthony Cappiello(6)	7,721	10,000	17,721	*
Mario Ciampi	-0-	-0-(7)	-0-	-0-
Bruce G. Crain(8)	85,000	20,000	105,000	*
Andrew Gatto	-0-	350,000	350,000	1.6%
Marc S. Goldfarb(9)	3,600	20,000	23,600	*
Frederick Horowitz	-0-	3,000(4)	3,000	*
Lauren Krueger	-0-	-0-(10)	-0-	-0-
James J. O Reardon, Jr.	-0-	-0-	-0-	-0-
Salvatore Salibello	5,000	3,000(4)	8,000	*
John Schaefer	-0-	-0-	-0-	-0-
Chris Robinson	1,553	35,008	36,561	*
Michael Zimmerman(11)	4,399,733	3,000(4)	4,402,733	20.7%
All directors, director nominees and				
officers as a group (21) persons	4,530,016	687,008	5,217,024	23.7%

^{*} Less than 1%

- (1) Each individual has the sole power to vote and dispose of the shares of Common Stock set forth in the table, except as provided in footnote 11 below.
- (2) Consists of shares subject to

stock options granted by the Company that are exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.

- (3) Excludes 315
 shares owned by
 Mr. Benaroya s
 wife, of which
 Mr. Benaroya
 disclaims
 beneficial
 ownership.
- (4) Excludes 27,000 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.
- (5) Includes 3,900 shares of restricted stock whose restrictions have not lapsed as of May 30, 2008, but with respect to which Mr. Bialosky has sole voting power; excludes 27,000 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.
- (6) Includes 3,900 shares of restricted stock whose restrictions have not lapsed as of April 15, 2008, but with respect to which

Mr. Cappiello has sole voting power; excludes 26,700 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.

- (7) Excludes 15,000 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.
- (8) Includes 85,000 shares of restricted stock whose restrictions have not lapsed as of May 30, 2008, but with respect to which Mr. Crain has sole voting power; excludes 200,000 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.

79

Table of Contents

- (9) Includes 3,600 shares of restricted stock whose restrictions have not lapsed as of May 30, 2008, but with respect to which Mr. Goldfarb has sole voting power; excludes 24,700 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008.
- (10) Excludes 15,000 options not exercisable within 60 days of May 30, 2008; pursuant to the director s Form 4 filing dated January 7, 2008, the director has disclaimed beneficial ownership of such options.
- (11) See footnotes
 (1) and (2) in
 the Security
 Ownership of
 Certain
 Beneficial
 Owners table set
 forth below.
- (12) Information provided from public filings of the relevant individuals.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The following table sets forth, as of May 30, 2008, with respect to each person (including any group as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) who is known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of the outstanding shares of Common Stock: (i) the name and address of such owner, (ii) the number of shares beneficially owned, and (iii) the percentage of the total number of shares of Common Stock outstanding so owned.

	Number of Shares Beneficially	
		Percent of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Owned	Class*
Prentice Capital Management, LP	4,399,733(1)	20.7%
623 Fifth Avenue		
New York, NY 10022		
Michael Zimmerman	4,402,733(1)(2)	20.7%
c/o Prentice Capital Management, LP		
623 Fifth Avenue		
New York, NY 10022		
D. E. Shaw Laminar Portfolios, L.L.C.	4,399,733(3)	20.7%
120 West 45th Street, 39th Floor		
Tower 45		
New York, NY 10036		
Third Avenue Management LLC	2,576,777(4)	12.1%
622 Third Avenue, 32nd Floor		
New York, New York 10017		
Franklin Advisory Services, LLC	2,429,500(5)	11.4%
One Parker Plaza, 9th Floor		
Fort Lee, NJ 07024		
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP	1,095,710(6)	5.1%
1299 Ocean Avenue		
Santa Monica, CA 90401		

* Note that

because the

beneficial

ownership of

certain of the

shares of

Common Stock

listed herein is

shared by certain

of such

beneficial

owners, as

determined

pursuant to the

rules of the SEC,

the percentages

set forth in this

table aggregate

to a higher

number than would be reflected without the listing of such shared ownership.

(1) As reported in a Schedule 13D filed on August 14, 2006 (the Prentice 13D) by Prentice Capital Management, LP (PCM) and Michael Zimmerman as reporting persons. The Prentice 13D states that the shares reported in the Prentice 13D were acquired by private investment funds and managed

and managed accounts with respect to which PCM and Mr. Zimmerman

control the investing and

trading in

securities (see

note (2) below),

and that neither

of them directly

own any of such

shares. The

Prentice 13D

states that PCM

serves as

80

Table of Contents

investment

manager to

investment funds

(including Prentice

Capital Partners,

LP, Prentice

Capital Partners

QP, LP, Prentice

Capital Offshore,

Ltd., Prentice

Special

Opportunities, LP,

Prentice Special

Opportunities

Offshore, Ltd. and

Prentice Special

Opportunities

Master, L.P.) and

manages

investments for

certain entities in

managed accounts

with respect to

which it has voting

and dispositive

authority,

including over the

shares reported in

the Prentice 13D.

The Prentice 13D

states that PCM

and

Mr. Zimmerman

are each reporting

persons under the

Prentice 13D

because they may

be deemed to

constitute a group

within the

meaning of

Section 13(d)(3) of

the Securities

Exchange Act of

1934, however,

each of PCM and

Mr. Zimmerman

disclaims

beneficial

ownership of all of the shares reported in the Prentice 13D. As is explained further in note (2) below, PCM and Mr. Zimmerman have reported shared voting and dispositive power with respect to the 4,399,733 Shares reported in the Prentice 13D.

(2) As stated in the Prentice 13D, the principal business of Mr. Zimmerman is to act as the managing member of (i) Prentice Management GP, LLC, the general partner of PCM, (ii) Prentice Capital GP, LLC, the general partner of certain investment funds and (iii) Prentice Capital GP II, LLC, the general partner of Prentice Capital GP II, LP, which is the general partner of certain other investment funds. The Prentice 13D states that as such, he may be deemed to control PCM and their investment funds and managed accounts and therefore may be

deemed to be the

beneficial owner of the shares reported in the Prentice 13D. PCM and Mr. Zimmerman have reported shared voting and dispositive power with respect to the 4,399,733 Shares reported in the Prentice 13D. In addition, Mr. Zimmerman was granted options to purchase 15,000 shares of Common Stock on November 1, 2006 for his service as a director of the Company, which vest ratably over a 5-year period commencing November 1, 2007. As a result, the number of shares reported in the table as beneficially owned by Mr. Zimmerman includes options to purchase 3,000 shares of Common Stock, which are currently vested.

(3) As reported in a
Schedule 13D (the
Laminar 13D)
filed on
August 18, 2006
by D. E. Shaw
Laminar
Portfolios, L.L.C.,
a Delaware limited
liability company

(Laminar), D. E. Shaw & Co., L.P., a Delaware limited partnership (DESCO LP), D. E. Shaw & Co., L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (DESCO LLC), and David E. Shaw. As stated in the Laminar 13D, Laminar has the power to vote or to direct the vote of (and the power to dispose or direct the disposition of) the shares reported in the Laminar 13D, however, DESCO LP as Laminar s investment adviser, and DESCO LLC, as Laminar s managing member, may be deemed to share such powers. In addition, DESCO II, Inc., as managing member of DESCO LLC, and DESCO, Inc., as general partner of DESCO LP, may each also be deemed to share such powers. None of DESCO LP, DESCO LLC, DESCO, Inc., or DESCO II, Inc., owns any shares of Common Stock directly and each such entity disclaims beneficial

ownership of the shares reported in the Laminar 13D. David E. Shaw is the president and sole shareholder of DESCO, Inc., which is the general partner of DESCO LP, and is also the president and sole shareholder of DESCO II, Inc., which is the managing member of DESCO LLC. As such, the Laminar 13D states that David E. Shaw may be deemed to also have the shared power to vote or direct the vote of (and the shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of, the shares reported in the Laminar 13D and, therefore, David E. Shaw may be deemed to be the indirect beneficial owner of such shares. David E. Shaw disclaims beneficial ownership of all such shares.

(4) As reported in
Amendment No. 6
to the
Schedule 13D
filed by Third
Avenue
Management LLC
(TAM) with the

SEC on

February 14, 2008

(the TAM 13D).

The TAM 13D

states that Third

Avenue Small Cap

Value Fund, an

investment

mvesumen

company

registered under

the Investment

Company Act of

1940 (the ICA),

has the right to

receive dividends

from, and the

proceeds from the

sale of, 901,300 of

the shares reported

by TAM in the

TAM 13D; Met

Investors

Series Trust-Third

Avenue Small Cap

Portfolio, an

investment

company

registered under

the ICA, has the

right to receive

dividends from,

and the proceeds

from the sale of,

226.200 6.1

336,290 of the

shares reported by

TAM in the TAM

13D, OFI

Select-Third

Avenue US Equity

Fund (SICAV), an

offshore fund for

which TAM acts

as investment

advisor, has the

right to receive

dividends from,

and the proceeds

from the sale of, 10,100 of the

shares reported by

TAM in the TAM

13D, Touchstone Variable Series Trust-Touchstone Third Avenue Value Fund, an investment company registered under the ICA, has the right to receive dividends from, and the proceeds from the sale of, 32,000 of the shares reported by TAM in the TAM 13D; Third Avenue Value Portfolio of the Third Avenue Variable Series Trust, an investment company registered under the ICA, has the right to receive dividends from, and the proceeds from the sale of, 398,300 of the shares reported by TAM in the TAM 13D, and various separately managed accounts for whom TAM acts as investment advisor have the right to receive dividends from, and the proceeds of the sale of, 898,787 of the shares reported by TAM in the TAM 13D. TAM, as reported in the TAM 13D, has the sole power to vote or direct the vote

with

81

Table of Contents

respect to an aggregate of 2,561,777 of the shares covered by the TAM 13D and has the sole power to dispose or direct the disposition of all shares covered by the TAM 13D (2,576,777 shares).

(5) As reported on

the

Schedule 13G/A

filed by Franklin

Resources, Inc.

(FRI), Charles B.

Johnson, Rupert

H. Johnson, Jr.

and Franklin

Advisory

Services, LLC

(FAS) with the

SEC on

February 6, 2008

(the Franklin

13G/A). The

Franklin 13G/A

states that FAS

has the sole

power to vote or

direct the vote

with respect to

2,417,300 of the

shares covered

by the Franklin

13G/A, and the

sole power to

dispose or direct

the disposition of

all shares

covered by the

Franklin 13G/A

(2,429,500

shares). The

Franklin 13G/A

also states that

the securities

reported thereon

are beneficially

owned by one or

more open or

closed-end

investment

companies or

other managed

accounts that are

investment

management

clients of

investment

managers that

are direct and

indirect

subsidiaries (the

Investment

Management

Subsidiaries) of

FRI. The voting

and investment

powers held by

Franklin Mutual

Advisors, LLC

(FMA), an

indirect

wholly-owned

Investment

Management

Subsidiary, are

exercised

independently

from FRI and all

other Investment

Management

Subsidiaries, and

are consequently

reported

separately

therefrom. The

Franklin 13G/A

states that each

of the

Investment

Management

Subsidiaries,

FRI, Charles B.

Johnson and

Rupert H.

Johnson, Jr.

(principal

shareholders of

FRI) may be

deemed to be the

beneficial owner

of the securities

covered by the

Franklin 13G/A,

but each of the

foregoing

disclaims any

pecuniary

interest in the

securities

covered by the

Franklin 13G/A.

In addition,

Charles B.

Johnson, Rupert

H. Johnson, Jr.,

FRI, and its

affiliates

disclaim

beneficial

ownership of the

securities

covered by the

13G/A.

Furthermore, the

Franklin 13G/A

states that FRI,

Charles B.

Johnson, Rupert

H. Johnson, Jr.,

and each of the

Investment

Management

Subsidiaries

believe that they

are not a group

within the

meaning of

Rule 13d-5

under the

Securities

Exchange Act of

1934 and that

they are not

otherwise

required to attribute to each other the beneficial ownership of the securities held by any of them or by any persons or entities for whom or for which FRI subsidiaries provide investment management services. The clients of the Investment Management Subsidiaries have the right to receive or power to direct the receipt of dividends from, as well as the proceeds from the sale of, the securities

Amendment No. 1 to a Schedule 13G filed on

(6) As reported in

reported in the Franklin 13G/A.

February 6, 2008 by Dimensional

Fund Advisors

LP (the

Dimensional

13G). As

reported in the

Dimensional

13G,

Dimensional

Fund Advisors

LP (formerly,

Dimensional

Fund Advisors

Inc.)

(Dimensional),

an investment

advisor

registered under

Section 203 of

the Investment

Advisors Act of

1940, furnishes

investment

advice to four

investment

companies

registered under

the ICA, and

serves as

investment

manager to

certain other

commingled

group trusts and

separate

accounts. These

investment

companies, trusts

and accounts are

the Funds. In its

role as

investment

advisor or

manager,

Dimensional

possesses

investment

and/or voting

power over the

securities

described in the

Dimensional

13G that are

owned by the

Funds, and may

be deemed to be

the beneficial

owner of such

securities.

However, all

securities

reported in the

Dimensional

13G are owned by the Funds. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of such securities. The Funds have the right to receive or the power to direct the receipt of dividends from, or the proceeds from the sale of, the securities held in their respective accounts. To the knowledge of Dimensional, as reported in the Dimensional 13G, the interest of any one such Fund does not exceed 5% of the class of such securities.

82

Table of Contents

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS

Transactions with Related Persons

As of December 4, 2007, Bruce G. Crain assumed the position of President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. From March 2007 until such appointment, Mr. Crain had provided consulting services to the Company for consideration of \$45,833.33 per month (for an aggregate of \$396,236) plus the reimbursement of legal fees in connection with such arrangement in the amount of \$20,000 (which was increased to an aggregate of \$25,000 with respect to legal fees in connection with his consulting arrangement and subsequent employment agreement with the Company).

On November 1, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement with Klatskin Associates d/b/a Lee & Klatskin Associates (the Broker), pursuant to which the Broker has the exclusive right to offer for sublease certain property leased by the Company in Cranbury, New Jersey. Pursuant to this agreement, the Broker is entitled to 5% of the total gross aggregate rental, and an additional 5% commission upon the execution of all renewals, extensions, renegotiations and similar events for a term of 25 years. The Broker is also entitled to a commission for consummated transactions if negotiations commence on a sale or lease during the term or within six months thereafter. Mr. Klatskin, a member of the Company s Board until the date of the 2007 Meeting, is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Broker. To date, neither Mr. Klatskin nor the Broker has received any compensation from the Company with respect to this agreement.

In connection with the Purchases, as of August 10, 2006, the Company entered into the IRA with the Prentice Buyers and Laminar, pursuant to which the Company has, subject to specified limitations, agreed to nominate for election with respect to all stockholders meetings or consents concerning the election of members of the Board, two Prentice Directors and two Laminar Directors. The current Prentice Directors are Messrs. Ciampi and Zimmerman. Mr. Ciampi is a partner of Prentice and Mr. Zimmerman is the Managing Member of the general partner of Prentice and the CEO of Prentice. The current Laminar Directors are Mr. Schaefer and Ms. Krueger. Mr. Schaefer is a director of an affiliate of Laminar and Ms. Krueger is an executive officer of an affiliate of Laminar. The Company has also granted certain registration rights to the Prentice and Laminar. See the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 14, 2006, with respect to further details regarding the IRA.

Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons

The Audit Committee of the Board is responsible for assisting the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities by, among other things, monitoring any transactions between related persons (including, but not limited to, officers, directors, and principal stockholders) and the Company or its subsidiaries (other than normal and usual compensation arrangements). This obligation is set forth in writing in our Audit Committee Charter. In order to fulfill this obligation, the Audit Committee reviews with the Board any such proposed transactions involving such related persons and/or their immediate family members for the Board s consideration and ultimate approval. Related party transactions which are ongoing are subject to ongoing review by the Audit Committee to determine whether it is in our best interest and our shareholders best interest to continue, modify or terminate the related party transaction. No director may participate in the approval of a related party transaction with respect to which he or she is a related party.

To identify related person transactions, each year, we require our directors and officers to complete Questionnaires identifying any transactions with us in which such persons or their family members have an interest. The Audit Committee or the Board reviews all related person transactions due to the potential for a conflict of interest. A conflict of interest occurs when a person s private interest interferes in any way (or even appears to interfere) with the interests of the Company as a whole. A conflict situation can arise when an employee, officer or director takes actions or has interests that may make it difficult to perform his or her Company work objectively and effectively.

In considering the approval of any proposed transaction with a related person, the Board considers a variety of factors, including, but not limited to:

83

Table of Contents

whether the terms of such transaction are consistent with those that could be obtained from third-parties;

whether the Company would receive a benefit from proceeding with a related person that would otherwise be unavailable (in terms of knowledge of the Company, for example);

the nature of the related person s interest in the transaction;

the material terms of the transaction, including, without limitation, the amount and the type of transaction;

whether the transaction would impair the judgment of a director or executive officer to act in the best interests of the Company;

whether the transaction would compromise the independence of a director in accordance with independence standards applicable to the Company and such director;

the materiality of the transaction to the related person and any entity with which such related person is affiliated:

the materiality of the transaction to the Company; and

any other factors deemed appropriate by the Board.

The Board has reviewed and approved all of the transactions discussed in this section.

We expect our directors, officers and employees to act and make decisions that are in our best interests and encourage them to avoid situations which present a conflict between our interests and their own personal interests. In addition, we are prohibited from extending personal loans to, or guaranteeing the personal obligations of, any director or officer. A copy of our current Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our website.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), requires the Company s officers and directors, and persons who own beneficially more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company s equity securities, to file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and the NYSE. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent shareholders are required to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely on its review of the copies of such Section 16(a) forms received by it, or written representations from certain reporting persons that no Forms 5 were required for those persons, the Company believes that, during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, all filing requirements applicable to its officers, directors and greater than ten percent shareholders were complied with on a timely basis except that: (i) Chris Robinson, President International Division, filed a late Form 4: (A) on November 16, 2007 with respect to (x) the exercise of 30,200 options on June 28, 2007 and the subsequent sale of the underlying Common Stock on such date, and (y) the exercise of 1,618 options on June 29, 2007 and the subsequent sale of the underlying Common Stock on such date; and (B) on February 26, 2008 with respect to the exercise of 7,400 options on November 16, 2007 and the subsequent sale of the underlying Common Stock on such date; (ii) Daniel Posner and Lauren Krueger, each members of the Company s Board, each filed a late Form 4 on January 7, 2008 with respect to the grant of 15,000 options to each of them on December 27, 2007 (each disclaims beneficial ownership of such options in his and her respective Form 4); and (iii) Arline Wall, Senior Vice President Product Development and Marketing, filed a late Form 4 on February 26, 2008 with respect to the exercise of 1,326 options on December 21, 2007 and the subsequent sale of the underlying Common Stock on such date.

Table of Contents

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

In order to be included in the proxy statement and form of proxy relating to the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the 2009 Meeting), proposals of shareholders intended to be presented at the 2009 Meeting must be received by the Company on or before February 10, 2009. Any such proposals should be submitted in writing to: Corporate Secretary, Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey 07436. Stockholders who intend to present a proposal at such meeting without inclusion of such proposal in the Company s proxy materials are requested to provide advance notice of such proposal to the Company at the aforementioned address on or before April 24, 2009. If a shareholder fails to provide notice by this date, then the holders of the proxies with respect to the 2009 Meeting will use their discretionary authority to vote the shares of Common Stock they represent with respect to the proposal as they may determine.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

MARC S. GOLDFARB Corporate Secretary

Oakland, New Jersey June 12, 2008

85

Table of Contents

APPENDIX A

RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose. The Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (as amended and in effect from time to time, the *Plan*) is intended to provide incentives to allow the Company to attract, retain and motivate highly competent persons who provide services to Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., a New Jersey Corporation (the *Company*), and its subsidiaries, by providing them with the right to acquire a proprietary interest in the long-term success of the Company, and to reward their performance. The Plan shall serve as the successor to the Company s 2004 Stock Option, Restricted and Non-Restricted Stock Plan (the Prior Plan), and no further awards shall be granted under the Prior Plan after the Plan Effective Date. All awards outstanding under the Prior Plan on the Plan Effective Date shall continue to be governed solely by the terms of the documents evidencing such award, and no provision of the Plan shall be deemed to affect or otherwise modify the rights or obligations of the holders of such awards.

2. Certain Definitions.

- 2.1 Award shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5 hereof.
- 2.2 Award Agreement shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 5 hereof.
- 2.3 Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company as constituted from time to time.
- 2.4 Business Combination shall mean the consummation of a reorganization, merger, share exchange or consolidation if, in each case following such consummation, the outstanding shares of Common Stock are converted into cash, property or securities of any issuer other than the Company. There may be successive Business Combinations.
- 2.5 Cause shall mean: (a) a Participant s willful or grossly negligent failure to perform such Participant s duties, (b) serious misconduct, including, but not limited to, any unauthorized disclosure of any Participating Company s non-public information, or (c) any other conduct intended to, or which the Company determines has or is reasonably likely to, adversely affect the interests of any Participating Company, including, but not limited to, commission of, or indictment or conviction for, any criminal act; *provided*, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant has an employment or retention agreement with a Participating Company that defines Cause for termination, the definition of Cause used in such agreement shall be substituted for the foregoing.
- 2.6 Code shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- 2.7 Committee shall mean the Committee described in Section 3.1 hereof to administer the Plan.

Table of Contents

- 2.8 Common Stock shall mean the common stock of the Company, \$.10 stated value per share (as such stated value may be adjusted from time to time), or any securities issued in respect thereof by the Company as a result of an event described in Section 14 hereof.
- 2.9 Company shall mean Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., a New Jersey corporation.
- 2.10 Consultant shall mean any consultant or adviser to a Participating Company if: (i) the consultant or adviser is a natural person, (ii) the consultant or adviser renders bona fide services to a Participating Company, and (iii) the services rendered by the consultant or adviser are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction and do not directly or indirectly promote or maintain a market for the Company s securities.

 2.11 Date of Grant shall mean the date designated by the Committee as the date of an Award hereunder, which shall not be earlier than the date the Committee authorizes (by resolution or written action) the grant of such Award, notwithstanding the date of any Award Agreement evidencing such Award. In the absence of a designated date or fixed method of computing such date being specifically set forth in the Committee s resolution, then the Date of Grant
- shall be the date of the Committee s resolution or action. The Committee may grant Awards (other than Incentive Stock Options) to Eligible Employees or to persons who are about to become employees of a Participating Company, to be effective and deemed to be granted on the occurrence of certain specified contingencies, *provided* that if the Award is granted to either: (i) a person who is about to become an employee or Consultant of a Participating Company, or (ii) a person who is about to become a Non-Employee Director of the Company, such specified contingencies shall include, without limitation, that such person becomes an employee or Consultant of a Participating Company or a member of the Board, as applicable.
- 2.12 Disability shall mean a physical or mental incapacity of a Participant which renders such Participant totally and permanently incapable of performing such Participant s duties with a Participating Company, *provided* that proof of disability under the federal Social Security Act shall be conclusive evidence of Disability hereunder; and *provided further*, and notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Participant has an employment or retention agreement with a Participating Company, the definition of Disability used in such agreement, if any, shall be substituted for the foregoing. Disabled shall mean having a Disability.
- 2.13 Dividend Equivalent Right shall mean the right of a Participant to receive the equivalent value (either in cash or Common Stock) of all or any specified portion of any regular cash dividends that would have been paid on a specified number of shares of Common Stock if such number of shares of Common Stock had been delivered to such Participant pursuant to such Award.
- 2.14 Eligible Employee shall mean any Non-Employee Director or any officer (including a director) or other employee or Consultant of any Participating Company.
- 2.15 Exchange Act shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- 2.16 Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall mean, on the date of determination: (i) if the Common Stock is then listed on either the New York Stock Exchange or another national securities exchange, the last sale price of a share of Common Stock reflected on

A-2

Table of Contents

the consolidated tape at the close of the New York Stock Exchange or such other exchange on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day, on the first preceding date on which a sale of Common Stock so occurred; (ii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on any such exchange, but is quoted on an over-the-counter market system then in use (OTC System), the last sale price of a share of Common Stock at the close on such OTC System on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day on such OTC System, then the average of the bid and asked prices for a share of Common Stock on the OTC System at the end of such day (*provided*, that if the Common Stock is then listed on: (A) more than one exchange, (B) more than one OTC system, or (C) at least one exchange and one OTC System, the principal market for such securities, as determined by the Committee in good faith, shall be used); and (iii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on a national securities exchange or an OTC System, the amount determined by the Committee (or in accordance with procedures approved by the Committee) in good faith.

- 2.17 Full Value Award means any Award that is not a Stock Option or a Stock Appreciation Right, and which is settled by the issuance of shares of Common Stock.
- 2.18 Immediate Family shall mean, whether natural, adopted or step (where applicable), a person s spouse, parents, children, siblings, mothers and fathers-in-law, sons and daughters-in-law, and brothers and sisters-in-law.
- 2.19 Incentive Stock Option shall mean a Stock Option which complies with Section 422 of the Code.
- 2.20 Non-Employee Director shall mean any member of the Board who is not an employee of a Participating Company.
- 2.21 Nonqualified Stock Option shall mean a Stock Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
- 2.22 Non-Restricted Stock shall mean Common Stock awarded hereunder that is not Restricted Stock.
- 2.23 Participant shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 4 hereof.
- 2.24 Participating Company shall mean the Company or any directly or indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company, as applicable.
- 2.25 Performance-Based Award shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 11.1 hereof.
- 2.26 Plan shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 1 hereof.
- 2.27 Plan Effective Date shall mean the date upon which the Plan shall be duly approved by the Company s shareholders.
- 2.28 Plan Year shall mean the calendar year.
- 2.29 Restricted Stock shall mean Common Stock awarded hereunder that is subject to restrictions, including risks of forfeiture, determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, as

A-3

Table of Contents

described in Section 9 hereof, for so long as such Common Stock remains subject to any such restrictions.

- 2.30 Retirement or Retire shall mean a Participant's retirement after reaching his or her normal retirement age under the Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. 401(k) Plan.
- 2.31 Severance Plan shall mean the Company s Change in Control Severance Plan, adopted as of January 29, 2003, as amended from time to time.
- 2.32 Stock Appreciation Right shall mean a right to receive a payment in cash, Common Stock or a combination thereof, as determined by the Committee, in an amount or value equal to the excess of: (i) the Fair Market Value, or other specified valuation (which may not exceed Fair Market Value), of a specified number of shares of Common Stock on the date the right is exercised, over (ii) the Fair Market Value or other specified amount (which may not be less than Fair Market Value) of such shares of Common Stock on the date the right is granted, all as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; *provided*, *however*, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with or in substitution for a Stock Option, the designated Fair Market Value for purposes of the foregoing clause (ii) shall be the Fair Market Value on the date such Stock Option was granted.
- 2.33 Stock Option shall mean either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option to purchase Common Stock granted under Section 7 hereof.
- 2.34 Stock Unit shall mean a notional account representing a Participant s conditional right to receive at a future date one (1) share of Common Stock.
- 2.35 Ten Percent Stockholder shall mean an Eligible Employee, who the owns (within the meaning of Section 424(d) of the Code), more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock or other equity interests, as applicable, in the Company or a parent or subsidiary thereof.

3. Administration.

3.1 Committee. The Plan will be administered by a committee (the *Committee*) appointed by the Board from among its members and shall be comprised of at least two (2) members, each of whom shall be, to the extent applicable an outside director—within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. In the absence of a contrary appointment, Committee—shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board. The foregoing notwithstanding, no action or decision of the Committee shall be void or deemed not duly authorized solely because a member of the Committee did not meet a qualification requirement set forth in this Section 3.1. The Board may perform any function of the Committee hereunder, in which case references to the Committee shall be deemed to include the Board, except with respect to matters which under Section 162(m) of the Code, or any related rules or regulations, are required to be determined solely by such—outside directors—. Notwithstanding the foregoing or the other provisions of the Plan, in administering the Plan with respect to any Awards to Non-Employee Directors, the Board shall exercise the powers of the Committee.

A-4

Table of Contents

- 3.2 Authority. The Committee shall, subject to the provisions of the Plan, have absolute discretion and authority: (i) to make and administer grants under the Plan (including to determine the form, amount and other terms and conditions of Awards granted, and to waive, amend or modify conditions initially established for grants, including to accelerate vesting and to extend or limit the exercisability of grants, except as specifically restricted by the Plan), (ii) to determine when and to which Eligible Employees Awards will be granted, (iii) to determine whether, to what extent and under what circumstances Awards may be settled, paid or exercised in cash, Common Stock or other property, or canceled, forfeited or suspended, (iv) to determine the terms and provisions of any Award Agreement hereunder and any amendment of such Award Agreement, and (v) to establish, amend, waive and/or rescind any rules and regulations as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan, including to make such determinations and interpretations and to take such actions in connection with the Plan and any Awards granted hereunder as it deems necessary or advisable to carry out its purposes. All determinations and interpretations made by the Committee shall be final, binding and conclusive on all Participants and their legal representatives, including, without limitation, as to any adjustments made pursuant to Section 14. The Committee may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award Agreement in the manner and to the extent it shall deem desirable. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for any meeting of the Committee and a majority of a quorum may authorize any action. Any decision or determination reduced to writing and signed by all of the members of the Committee shall be as fully effective as if made by a majority vote at a meeting duly called and held.
- 3.3 <u>Delegation and Advisers</u>. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members (including to a designated subcommittee), to management of the Company, to counsel for or advisors or consultants to the Committee or to one or more other agents appointed by the Committee, such administrative duties as the Committee may deem advisable; *provided*, such delegation does not adversely effect any exemption provided by Rule 16b-3, prevent an Award from qualifying as a Performance-Based Award, if so intended, or otherwise complying with applicable law. The Committee, or any person to whom it has delegated duties as aforesaid, may employ one or more persons to render advice with respect to any responsibility the Committee or such person may have under the Plan. The Committee may employ such legal or other counsel, consultants and agents as it may deem desirable for the administration of the Plan and may rely upon any opinion or computation received from any such counsel, consultant or agent. Expenses incurred by the Committee in the engagement of such counsel, consultant or agent shall be paid by the Participating Company whose employees have benefited from the Plan, as determined by the Committee.

3.4 Limits on Liability.

- (i) Any liability of the Company to any Participant with respect to an Award shall be based solely upon contractual obligations created by the Plan and any Award Agreement hereunder.
- (ii) Except as may be required by law, neither the Company nor any member or former member of the Board or the Committee, nor any other person participating in any determination of any question under the Plan, or in the interpretation, administration or

A-5

Table of Contents

application of the Plan, shall have any liability to any party for any action taken, or not taken, in good faith under or with respect to the Plan.

- (iii) To the fullest extent permitted by law, each member and former member of the Board and the Committee and each person to whom the Board or the Committee delegates or has delegated authority under the Plan shall be entitled to indemnification by the Company against any claim, loss, liability, judgment, damage, cost and reasonable expense incurred by such member, former member or other person by reason of any action taken, failure to act or determination made in good faith under or with respect to the Plan.
- **4. Participants.** Participants in the Plan will consist of each Eligible Employee that the Committee in its sole discretion designates at any time and from time to time to receive an Award under the Plan (*Participants*). Designation of a Participant in any Plan Year shall not require the Committee to designate such person to receive an Award in any other Plan Year or, once designated, to receive the same type or amount of Award as granted to the Participant in any other Plan Year. The Committee shall consider such factors as it deems pertinent in selecting Participants and in determining the type and amount of their respective Awards.
- **5. Type of Awards.** Awards under the Plan may be granted in any one or a combination of: (a) Stock Options, (b) Stock Appreciation Rights, (c) Restricted Stock, (d) Stock Units, (e) Non-Restricted Stock, and/or (f) Dividend Equivalent Rights (individually, an Award, and collectively, the "Awards"). Any Award hereunder may, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, constitute a Performance-Based Award, as described in Section 11 hereof. All Awards granted under the Plan shall be evidenced by a written agreement (an Award Agreement) between the Company and each Participant (which need not be identical with respect to each grant or Participant) that will provide the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the requirements of the Plan, associated with such Awards, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. Award Agreements must be executed by the Company and a Participant in order for the Award to which such Award Agreement relates to be effective with respect to such Participant. Agreements pertaining to the award of Stock Options shall designate whether the Award represented thereby is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option. In the event that such agreement does not contain such designation, the Stock Option shall be treated for all purposes as a Nonqualified Stock Option. Award Agreements evidencing Incentive Stock Options shall contain such terms and conditions as may be necessary to meet the applicable provisions of Section 422 of the Code. Award Agreements evidencing Awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation (as described in Section 162(m)(4)(C) of the Code) shall contain such terms and conditions as may be necessary to meet the applicable provisions of Section 162(m) of the Code.

6. Common Stock Available Under the Plan.

6.1 Basic Limitations.

(i) The aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to, delivered in connection with, and/or available for Awards under the Plan shall be 1,500,000, which shall consist of (x) the number of shares of Common Stock that remain available for issuance, as of the Plan Effective Date, under the Prior Plan (655,969), plus (y) an additional

A-6

Table of Contents

844,031 shares, and shall consist, in whole or in part, of authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock or shares of Common Stock held in treasury, *provided* that no Participant shall be granted Awards of Stock Options hereunder for the purchase of more than 350,000 shares of Common Stock in any Plan Year. The number of shares of Common Stock available for the grant of Awards hereunder shall be reduced in accordance with the provisions of clause (ii) below. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the number of shares of Common Stock available under the Plan shall be subject to Sections 6.2 and 6.3 hereof, and may be adjusted in accordance with Section 14 hereof.

- (ii) In connection with the grant of a Stock Option or other Award, the number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the Plan shall be reduced by the number of shares of Common Stock in respect of which such Stock Option or other Award is granted or denominated; provided that notwithstanding the foregoing, each Full Value Award shall reduce the total number of shares of Common Stock available for issuance under the Plan by 1.45 shares of Common Stock for each share of Common Stock in respect of which such Full Value Award is granted. 6.2 Additional Shares. In the event all or a portion of an Award is forfeited, terminated or cancelled, expires, is settled for cash, or otherwise does not result in the issuance of all or a portion of the shares of Common Stock subject to the Award in connection with the exercise or settlement of such Award (*Unissued Shares*), any such Unissued Shares shall in each case again be available for Awards under the Plan, provided, however, that to the extent any such expired, canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminated Award (or portion thereof) was a Full Value Award (or portion thereof), the number of shares of Common Stock that may again be available for issuance in respect of Awards granted under the Plan shall increase by 1.45 shares of Common Stock for every share of Common Stock allocable to the expired, canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminated Full Value Award. The preceding sentences of this Section 6.2 shall apply (i) to any awards outstanding on the Plan Effective Date under the Prior Plan, up to a maximum of an additional 1,750,000 shares, and (ii) only for purposes of determining the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock subject to Awards, delivered in connection with Awards, or generally available for Awards, but shall not apply for purposes of determining the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options may be granted to any individual Participant in any Plan Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no shares of Common Stock may again be optioned, granted or awarded if such action would cause an Incentive Stock Option to fail to qualify as an incentive stock option under Section 422 of the Code.
- 6.3 <u>Business Acquisition Grants</u>. In connection with the acquisition of any business by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, any then-outstanding options or other similar rights or other equity awards pertaining to such business may be assumed or replaced by Awards under the Plan upon such terms and conditions as the Committee determines in its sole discretion, and to the extent any shares of Common Stock are to be delivered as or in connection with Awards under the Plan in replacement for any such grants, awards, options or rights of another business, such shares shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law and stock exchange rule, be in addition to those available under the Plan as provided by Sections 6.1 and 6.2.

6.4 Expiration of Term. Except as otherwise provided in the Severance Plan, in no event shall any Award hereunder be exercisable after the expiration of the term of such Award, either

A-7

Table of Contents

as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, as set forth in the applicable Award Agreement, or as accelerated or otherwise modified in accordance with the provisions hereof.

7. Stock Options.

- 7.1 Generally. Stock Options will consist of Awards from the Company that will enable the holder to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock at set terms. Subject to the last sentence of this Section 7.1, the Committee may, from time to time in its sole discretion, grant to Eligible Employees hereunder, one or more Incentive Stock Options, Nonqualified Stock Options, or both types of Stock Options. Each Stock Option shall be subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as the Committee may determine from time to time in its sole discretion, subject to the limitations set forth in the remainder of this Section 7. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of the Award of a Stock Option hereunder, including the Date of Grant thereof and whether such Stock Option is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonqualified Stock Option (or partly of each), and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Incentive Stock Options may be granted to a Non-Employee Director, or to an individual who is not an employee of a Participating Company on the Date of Grant.

 7.2 Exercise Price. Each Stock Option granted hereunder shall have a per-share exercise price as the Committee may determine on the Date of Grant, but not less than 100% of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the Date of Grant (or 110% of Fair Market Value in the case of a Ten Percent Stockholder).
- 7.3 Manner of Exercise; Payment of Exercise Price. Any Option granted hereunder shall be exercised by giving written notice of exercise to the Chief Financial Officer of the Company at the Company's principal executive office, which shall specify the number of shares of Common Stock to be purchased. The exercise price of a Stock Option shall be paid in cash or, in the sole discretion of the Committee, (a) by the delivery of shares of Common Stock of the Company then owned by the Participant, (b) in the case of Nonqualified Stock Options, by directing the Company to withhold shares otherwise deliverable upon exercise to satisfy the exercise price, or (c) by delivery of a copy of irrevocable instructions to a broker to deliver promptly to the Company the amount of sale or loan proceeds to pay the exercise price, as long as such transaction is not impermissible under Section 13(k) of the Exchange Act (Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002). To facilitate the foregoing, the Company may enter into agreements for coordinated procedures with one or more brokerage firms. The Committee may prescribe any other method of paying the exercise price that it determines to be consistent with applicable law and the purpose of the Plan.
- 7.4 Exercise Period and Vesting. Stock Options granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such time or times and subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as shall be determined by the Committee; *provided*, *however*, that no Stock Option shall be exercisable later than ten (10) years from the Date of Grant (5 years from the Date of Grant in the case of an Incentive Stock Options granted to a Ten-Percent Stockholder). Subject to the terms of the Severance Plan, when a Stock Option is no longer exercisable, it shall be deemed to have lapsed and terminated.

A-8

Table of Contents

Subject to the provisions of Section 7.5, which shall govern Awards of Stock Options to Non-Employee Directors, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement relating to such Stock Options, Stock Options shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:

- (i) *Vesting*. Each Stock Option shall vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year), commencing on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, and shall continue to be exercisable for a period of 10 years from the Date of Grant.
- (ii) Retirement, Death or Disability. Notwithstanding clause (i), if a Participant: (A) becomes Disabled, or (B) dies while employed by a Participating Company, such Participant s outstanding unexercised Stock Options, whether or not vested and/or exercisable on the date of the applicable event, shall become fully vested and exercisable, and may be exercised by such Participant, or his or her legal representative, estate, legatee(s) or permitted transferee(s), as applicable, for up to one year after the date of such Participant s Retirement, Disability or death, as applicable, or the remaining term of the Option, whichever period is shorter. Notwithstanding clause (i), if a Participant Retires, such Participant s outstanding unexercised Stock Options, to the extent vested and exercisable on the date of such Retirement, may be exercised by such Participant for up to one year after the date of such Participant s Retirement or the remaining term of the Option, whichever period is shorter.
- (iii) *Other Termination*. Notwithstanding clause (i), and subject to clause (iv), if a Participant s employment with a Participating Company terminates for any reason other than death, Disability or Retirement, such Participant s outstanding unexercised Options will be cancelled and deemed terminated as of the date of termination; *provided*, however, that if a Participant s employment is terminated by a Participating Company for reasons other than Cause, his or her outstanding unexercised Options, to the extent vested and exercisable on the date of termination, may be exercised within 90 days after such termination, or the remaining term of the Option, whichever period is shorter.
- (iv) If the Participant is also a Participant under the Severance Plan, and the terms of such Participant s Stock Option Award conflict with the terms of the Severance Plan (in a manner which adversely affect the rights of such Participant), such conflict shall be resolved in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.7(b) of the Severance Plan. 7.5 Grants to Non-Employee Directors.
- (i) Except as specified in this Section 7.5, Stock Options granted to Non-Employee Directors shall be treated for all purposes like any other Stock Option granted under the Plan.
- (ii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement relating to such Award, each Stock Option granted to a Non-Employee Director hereunder shall vest and become exercisable ratably over five years (20% per year), commencing on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, and shall continue to be exercisable for a period of 10 years from the Date of Grant.
- (iii) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement relating to such Award: (1) if a Non-Employee Director ceases to serve as a member of the Board for any reason other than such director s death or Disability, such Non-

A-9

Table of Contents

Employee Director s non-vested Stock Options shall immediately terminate, and such Non-Employee Director s vested Stock Options shall remain exercisable for 90 days after the applicable termination date, or the remaining term of the Stock Option, whichever period is shorter; and (2) in the event of the death or Disability of a Non-Employee Director while serving as a member of the Board, any of such Non-Employee Director s outstanding unexercised Options existing on the date such service terminated, whether or not vested and/or exercisable on the date such service was terminated, shall become fully vested and exercisable, and may be exercised by such Non-Employee Director s estate, legatee(s), legal representative or permitted transferee(s) for up to one year after such Non-Employee Director s death or final determination of Disability, as applicable, or the remaining term of the Stock Option, whichever period is shorter.

7.6 <u>Limitations on Incentive Stock Options</u>. The terms and conditions of any Award of Incentive Stock Options shall be subject to, and shall comply with, the applicable provisions of Sections 422 and 424 of the Code and any applicable rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, including the requirement that the aggregate Fair Market Value (determined as of the Date of Grant of the Stock Option) of the Common Stock with respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by a Participant during any calendar year (under all option plans of the Company and of any parent or subsidiary corporation, as defined in Sections 424(e) and (f) of the Code) shall not exceed one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000); *provided*, however, that if such \$100,000 limit is exceeded, the excess Incentive Stock Options shall be treated as Nonqualified Stock Options.

8. Stock Appreciation Rights.

8.1 Generally. The Committee may, from time to time in its sole discretion, grant Stock Appreciation Rights to Eligible Employees hereunder. Stock Appreciation Rights may be granted alone or in tandem with Stock Options. Each Stock Appreciation Right shall be subject to such terms and conditions, including vesting, as the Committee shall determine in its sole discretion; *provided*, however, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with a Stock Option, the Stock Appreciation Right shall become exercisable and shall expire in the same manner as the corresponding Stock Option, unless otherwise determined by the Committee, and *provided further*, that if a Stock Appreciation Right is granted in tandem with an Incentive Stock Option, such Stock Appreciation Right shall be exercisable only if the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on the date of exercise exceeds the exercise price of the related Incentive Stock Option. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of the Award of a Stock Appreciation Right, including the Date of Grant thereof, and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant.

8.2 Exercise Period. Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan shall be exercisable at such time or times as shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion; *provided*, *however*, that no Stock Appreciation Rights shall be exercisable later than ten (10) years after the Date of Grant; and *provided further*, that the time of exercise of any Stock Appreciation Right intended to be a 409A Award (as defined in Section 19.2 hereof) shall comply with applicable requirements of Code Section 409A. All Stock Appreciation Rights shall terminate at such

A-10

Table of Contents

earlier times and upon such conditions or circumstances determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

9. Restricted Stock Awards.

- 9.1 <u>Generally</u>. The Committee may, from time to time in its sole discretion, grant Restricted Stock Awards to Eligible Employees hereunder, with or without requiring cash or other payment therefor in whole or in part. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of a Restricted Stock Award, including the Date of Grant thereof, and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant.
- 9.2 <u>Payment of the Purchase Price</u>. If the Restricted Stock Award requires payment therefor, such payment may be made in any manner authorized by the Committee, including any manner permitted for the payment of the exercise price of a Stock Option hereunder.
- 9.3 <u>Terms</u>. Awards of Restricted Stock may be subject to such restrictions, terms and conditions as the Committee determines in its sole discretion, including, without limitation, vesting conditions; *provided*, *however*, that if a Participant also participates in the Severance Plan, and the terms of such Award conflict with the terms of the Severance Plan (in a manner which adversely affects the rights of such Participant), such conflict shall be resolved in accordance with Section 6.7(b) of the Severance Plan. The Committee may at any time, in its sole discretion, accelerate the time at which any or all restrictions will lapse or remove any or all of such restrictions with respect to any Award of Restricted Stock granted hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in the Award Agreement relating to such Award, the following terms shall apply to Awards of Restricted Stock hereunder:
- (i) except as provided in clauses (ii) and (iii) below, Awards of Restricted Stock hereunder shall vest ratably over five years (20% per year), beginning on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant, and upon vesting, shall not be subject to any further restrictions hereunder;
- (ii) except as provided in clause (iii) below, upon a Participant s termination of employment for any reason (not including an authorized leave of absence), any non-vested Restricted Stock shall be immediately forfeited and all rights of a Participant to such forfeited Restricted Stock shall terminate without payment of consideration by the Company, *provided*, *however*, that if a Participant also participates in the Severance Plan, and this provision conflicts with the terms of the Severance Plan (in a manner which adversely affects the rights of such Participant), such conflict shall be resolved in accordance with Section 6.7(b) of the Severance Plan;
- (iii) in the event that the employment of a Participant is terminated as a result of his or her death or Disability prior to the lapse of all or part of the restrictions on such Participant s Restricted Stock, all restrictions on the Participant s Restricted Stock shall lapse on the date of Participant s death or Disability, as applicable.
- 9.4 <u>Manner of Issuance</u>. Shares of Restricted Stock granted pursuant to an Award hereunder shall be issued in the name of the Participant as soon as reasonably practicable after the Award is granted; *provided* that prior to such issuance, the Participant has executed the applicable Award

A-11

Table of Contents

Agreement pertaining thereto, has delivered a duly signed stock power, endorsed in blank, relating to the Common Stock covered by such an Award, and, in the sole discretion of the Committee, has executed an escrow agreement and any other documents which the Committee may require as a condition to the issuance of such shares. At the sole discretion of the Committee, shares issued in connection with a Restricted Stock Award shall be deposited together with the stock powers with an escrow agent (which may be the Company) designated by the Committee, until such time as all restrictions with respect thereto lapse, unless such shares are earlier forfeited in accordance with the terms of such Award. The Committee may also require that the stock certificates evidencing such shares (or book entries) bear restrictive legends until the restrictions thereon shall have lapsed.

- 9.5 <u>Rights as a Stockholder</u>. The Participant shall have, with respect to the shares of Common Stock subject to a Restricted Stock Award, all of the rights of a holder of shares of Common Stock of the Company, including the right to vote the shares, except as otherwise provided in the Award Agreement relating to such Award.
- 9.6 <u>Transfer Restrictions</u>. None of the Restricted Stock awarded hereunder may be sold, assigned, transferred, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise encumbered or disposed of during the period in which the restrictions on such Restricted Stock are in effect.
- 9.7 <u>Section 83(b) Election</u>. Any Participant who makes an election under Section 83(b) of the Code, or any successor section thereto, shall deliver a copy of such election to the Company promptly after filing such election with the Internal Revenue Service.

10. Stock Units and Dividend Equivalent Rights.

10.1 Stock Units. The Committee may, from time to time in its sole discretion, grant Stock Units to Eligible Employees hereunder. Stock Units may be subject to such terms and conditions including, but not limited to, vesting, acceleration of vesting and forfeiture as the Committee determines in its sole discretion. The Committee shall designate Awards of Stock Units as 409A Awards or Non-409A Awards (each as defined in Section 19.2 hereof), and may include elective deferral features in its sole discretion. Shares of Common Stock issued pursuant to this Section 10.1 may be issued with or without other payments or such other consideration as may be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of the Award of Stock Units, including the Date of Grant thereof, and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant. Stock Units may be settled in the sole discretion of the Committee: (i) by the distribution to the Participant of shares of Common Stock equal to his or her Stock Units, (ii) by a lump sum payment to the Participant of an amount in cash equal to the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock which would otherwise be distributed to the Participant, or (iii) by a combination of cash and Common Stock.

10.2 <u>Dividend Equivalent Rights</u>. The Committee may from time to time in its sole discretion grant Dividend Equivalent Rights to Eligible Employees hereunder. Dividend Equivalent Rights may be granted in tandem with another Award or as a separate Award. The terms and conditions applicable to each Dividend Equivalent Right, including vesting, risks of forfeiture and other restrictions, shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. Amounts payable in

A-12

Table of Contents

respect of Dividend Equivalent Rights may be paid currently or withheld until the lapsing of any applicable restrictions thereon or until the vesting, exercise, payment, settlement or other lapse of restrictions on the Award to which the Dividend Equivalent Rights relate (the *Trigger Date**). Any amounts payable in respect of Dividend Equivalent Rights shall be paid to the applicable Participant within two and one-half months of the Trigger Date. In the event that the amounts payable in respect of Dividend Equivalent Rights are withheld, the Committee shall determine whether such withheld amounts are to be held in cash, reinvested in Common Stock or deemed (notionally) to be reinvested in Common Stock. If held in cash, the Committee, in its sole discretion, shall determine the rate of interest, if any, to be credited on such amount at the end of each year (or portion thereof). Dividend Equivalent Rights may be settled in cash, shares of Common Stock, or a combination thereof, in a single installment or multiple installments, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of the Award of Dividend Equivalent Rights, including the Date of Grant thereof, and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant.

11. Performance-Based Awards.

- 11.1 <u>Generally</u>. Any Awards granted under the Plan may be granted in a manner such that the Awards qualify for the performance-based compensation exemption of Section 162(m) of the Code (*Performance-Based Awards*). As determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, either the granting or vesting of such Performance-Based Awards shall be based on achievement of performance objectives determined in accordance with one or more of the performance criteria described below that apply to the individual Participant, one or more business units or the Company as a whole.
- 11.2 Performance Criteria. The performance criteria shall be as follows, individually or in combination: (i) net earnings; (ii) earnings per share; (iii) revenues; (iv) sales; (v) operating income; (vi) earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT); (vii) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA); (viii) segment profit, as defined in the Company s financial statements; (ix) achievement of working capital targets; (x) return on equity; (xi) return on capital or return on assets; (xii) expenses or expense ratios; (xiii) cash flow, free cash flow, cash flow return on investment, net cash provided by operations, or economic profit created; (xiv) market price per share; (xv) total return to stockholders, and (xvi) specific strategic or operational business criteria, including market penetration, geographic expansion, new concept development goals, new products, new projects or new ventures, customer satisfaction, staffing, training and development goals, goals relating to acquisitions, divestitures, affiliates and joint ventures. Performance criteria may be measured on a consolidated basis, by department, group or business unit, or for specified subsidiaries of the Company. The targeted level or levels of performance with respect to such performance criteria may be established at such levels and in such terms as the Committee may determine, in its sole discretion, including in absolute terms, as a ratio, as a goal relative to performance in prior periods, or as a goal compared to the performance of one or more comparable companies or an index covering multiple companies.
- 11.3 <u>Establishment of Performance Goals</u>. With respect to Performance-Based Awards, the Committee shall establish in writing: (i) the performance goals applicable to a specified performance period, and such performance goals shall state, in terms of an objective formula or

A-13

Table of Contents

standard, the method for computing the amount of compensation payable to the Participant if such performance goals are obtained, and (ii) the individual employees or class of employees to which such performance goals apply; provided, however, that such performance goals shall be established in writing no later than ninety (90) days after the commencement of the applicable performance period (but in no event after twenty-five percent (25%) of such performance period has elapsed). Performance periods may be of any length, as specified by the Committee. Performance criteria and achievement of performance goals shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles to the extent applicable.

- 11.4 <u>Certification of Performance</u>. No Performance-Based Awards shall be payable to or vest with respect to, as the case may be, any Participant for a given period until the Committee has certified in writing that the performance goals (and any other material terms) applicable to such period have been satisfied.
- 11.5 Modification of Performance-Based Awards. With respect to any Awards intended to qualify as Performance-Based Awards, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, within the time prescribed by Section 162(m) of the Code, adjust or modify the calculation of performance goals in order to prevent the dilution or enlargement of the rights of any Participant with respect to such Performance-Based Award: (a) in the event of, or in anticipation of, any unusual or extraordinary corporate item, transaction, event or development, (b) in recognition of, or in anticipation of, any other unusual or nonrecurring event affecting the Company or the financial statements of the Company, or (c) in response to, or in anticipation of, changes in applicable laws, regulations, accounting principles, or business conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to any Awards intended to qualify as Performance-Based Awards, after establishment of a performance goal, the Committee shall not revise such performance goal or increase the amount of compensation payable thereunder (as determined in accordance with Section 162(m) of the Code) upon the attainment of such performance goal; *provided* that the Committee may reduce or eliminate the number of shares of Common Stock or cash granted, vested or payable upon the attainment of such performance goal.
- 12. Awards of Non-Restricted Stock. The Committee may from time to time in its sole discretion grant Awards of Non-Restricted Stock to Eligible Employees hereunder. The Committee shall determine in its sole discretion the terms and conditions of such Awards. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, direct the Company to issue shares of Common Stock subject to restrictive legends and/or stop transfer instructions which are consistent with the terms and conditions of the Award of Non-Restricted Stock. The Committee shall promptly notify each Participant of the Award of Non-Restricted Stock, including the Date of Grant thereof, and an Award Agreement evidencing the terms and conditions of such Award shall promptly be executed and delivered by and on behalf of the Company and the Participant.
- **13. Foreign Laws.** The Committee may grant Awards to Eligible Employees who are subject to the tax and other laws of nations other than the United States, which Awards may have terms and conditions determined by the Committee to be necessary to comply with applicable foreign laws and local compensation customs and practices, and that may differ from those applicable to other Participants, *provided* that no modification pursuant to this Section 13 shall be made to increase the share limitations set forth in Section 6 hereof. The Committee may take any action which it deems advisable to obtain approval of such Awards by the appropriate

A-14

Table of Contents

foreign governmental entity; *provided*, *however*, that no such Awards may be granted pursuant to this Section 13 and no action may be taken which would result in a violation of the Code, Exchange Act or any other applicable law, or that would require prior stockholder approval (until such approval is obtained).

14. Dilution and Other Adjustments.

14.1 Adjustments.

- (i) Awards granted under the Plan and any Award Agreements, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock deliverable under all Awards stated in Section 6.1, and/or the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options may be granted to or measured with respect to any one person during any period stated in Section 6.1, shall be subject to adjustment or substitution, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, as to the number, price or kind of a share of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such Awards, and any and all other matters deemed appropriate by the Committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any Award hereunder, or as otherwise determined by the Committee to be equitable, in the event of changes in the outstanding Common Stock or in the capital structure of the Company by reason of a dissolution or liquidation of the Company, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, mergers, consolidations or combinations with or into any other entity if the Company is the surviving entity, stock or extraordinary dividends, stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock combinations, rights offerings, statutory share exchanges involving capital stock of the Company, reorganizations, recapitalizations, reclassifications, exchanges, spin-offs, dividends in kind, or other relevant changes in capitalization.
- (ii) Outstanding Awards and Award Agreements, and the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which Stock Options may be granted to or measured with respect to any one person during any period stated in Section 6.1, shall be subject to adjustment or substitution, as determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, as to the number, price or kind of a share of Common Stock or other consideration subject to such Awards, and any and all other matters deemed appropriate by the Committee, including, without limitation, accelerating the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any Award hereunder, or as otherwise determined by the Committee to be equitable, in the event of any change in applicable laws or any change in circumstances which results in or would result in any substantial dilution or enlargement of the rights granted to, or available for, Participants, or which otherwise warrants equitable adjustment in the sole discretion of the Committee because it interferes with the intended operation of the Plan. Any adjustment in Incentive Stock Options under this Section 14 shall be made only to the extent it does not constitute a modification within the meaning of Section 424(h)(3) of the Code, and only to the extent otherwise permitted by Sections 422 and 424 of the Code. Any adjustments under this Section 14 shall be made in a manner which does not adversely affect the exemption provided pursuant to Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act and which otherwise is permissible under Code Section 409A. Further, with respect to Awards intended to qualify as performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code, such adjustments or substitutions shall be made only to the extent that the Committee determines that such adjustments or substitutions may be made without causing the Company to be denied a tax deduction on account of Section 162(m) of the Code. The Company shall give each

A-15

Table of Contents

Participant notice of an adjustment hereunder and, upon notice, such adjustment shall be conclusive and binding for all purposes.

- 14.2 <u>Business Combinations</u>. In connection with a Business Combination, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may provide for: (i) the continuation of the Plan and/or the assumption of the Awards granted hereunder by a successor corporation (or a parent or subsidiary thereof), (ii) the substitution for such Awards of new awards covering the stock of a successor corporation (or a parent or subsidiary thereof), with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and exercise prices, (iii) upon 10 days advance notice from the Committee to the affected Participants, the acceleration of the vesting, settlement and/or exercise period pertaining to any Award hereunder, or (iv) upon 10 days advance notice from the Committee to the affected Participants, (x) the cancellation of any outstanding Awards that are then exercisable or vested and the payment to the holders thereof, in cash or stock, or any combination thereof, of the value of such Awards based upon the price per share of stock received or to be received by other stockholders of the Company in connection with the Business Combination, and (y) the cancellation of any Awards that are not then exercisable or vested. In the event of any continuation, assumption or substitution contemplated by the foregoing clauses, the Plan and/or such Awards shall continue in the manner and under the terms so provided.
- 14.3 <u>Severance Plan</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that any decision of the Committee under this Section 14 conflicts with the provisions of the Severance Plan in a manner which adversely affects the rights of any Participant thereunder, such conflict shall be resolved in accordance with the provisions of Section 6.7(b) of the Severance Plan with respect to such Severance Plan Participant.
- 14.4 <u>Carryover Restrictions</u>. If, by reason of a change in capitalization described in this Section 14, a Participant shall be entitled to new, additional or different shares of stock or securities of the Company or any other corporation in respect of his or her Award, in the event that the Plan continues, such new, additional or different shares shall thereupon be subject to all of the conditions, restrictions and performance criteria which were applicable to the shares of Common Stock subject to the Award, as the case may be, prior to such change in capitalization.
- **15. Nontransferability.** Each Award granted under the Plan to a Participant (other than Non-Restricted Stock Awards and Restricted Stock Awards with respect to which all restrictions have lapsed) shall not be transferable otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and shall be exercisable, during the Participant s lifetime, only by the Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee in its sole discretion may permit the transferability of an Award (other than an Incentive Stock Option) by a Participant to a member of the Participant s Immediate Family or trusts for the benefit of such persons, or partnerships, corporations, limited liability companies or other entities owned solely by such persons, including trusts for such persons, subject to any restriction included in the grant of the Award.
- **16. Other Provisions.** The grant of any Award under the Plan may also be subject to such other provisions (whether or not applicable to the Award granted to any other Participant) as the Committee in its sole discretion determines appropriate, including, without limitation, provisions for the forfeiture of, or restrictions on resale or other disposition of, Common Stock acquired under any form of Award, provisions for the acceleration of exercisability or vesting of Awards

A-16

Table of Contents

(subject to Section 19.1), performance conditions other than those imposed under Section 11, provisions to comply with federal and state securities laws, or conditions as to the Participant s employment in addition to those specifically provided for under the Plan.

17. Withholding. If a Participating Company is for any reason required to withhold any amount under federal, state or local tax law in connection with any Award (Withholding Taxes), the Participant or other recipient shall be required to pay such Participating Company the amount of any such Withholding Taxes. The applicable Participating Company shall have the right to require the payment of any such Withholding Taxes before any Common Stock is issued pursuant to any Award hereunder or any restrictions pertaining to any Award granted hereunder are removed. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, in lieu of all or any portion of a cash payment regarding such Withholding Taxes, permit a Participant to elect to have the Company withhold shares of Common Stock (or allow the return of shares of Common Stock) having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount (or portion thereof) required to be withheld.

18. Employment Rights. Nothing in the Plan or in any Award Agreement hereunder shall confer upon any Participant the right to continue in the employment or service of any Participating Company or affect any right which such Participating Company may have to terminate or modify the employment or retention of the Participant with or without Cause.

19. Tax Compliance.

19.1 Certain Limitations on Awards to Ensure Compliance with Section 409A. For purposes of the Plan, references to an Award term or event (including any authority or right of the Company or a Participant) being permitted under Section 409A shall mean, for a 409A Award, that the term or event will not cause the Participant to be liable for payment of interest or a tax penalty under Section 409A and, for a Non-409A Award, that the term or event will not cause the Award to be treated as subject to Section 409A. Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, the terms of any 409A Award and any Non-409A Award, including any authority of the Company and rights of the Participant with respect to the Award, that do not, in the Committee s view, comply with Section 409A, shall be automatically modified and limited to the extent necessary to conform with Section 409A. For this purpose, notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, the Company shall have no authority to accelerate distributions relating to 409A Awards that would not comply with Section 409A, any distribution subject to Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) (separation from service) to a key employee as defined under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) shall not occur earlier than the earliest time permitted under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i), any distribution triggered by a Participant s termination of employment and intended to qualify under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) shall be made only at such time as the Participant has had a separation from service within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i), and any authorization of payment of cash to settle a Non-409A Award shall apply only to the extent permitted under Section 409A for such Award. 19.2 Certain Terms Relating to Code Section 409A. "409A Awards" means Awards that are subject to Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder. Non-409A Awards means Awards other than 409A Awards (including those exempt as short-term deferrals under Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-1(b)(4) and any successor regulation). Although the Committee retains authority under the Plan to grant Awards on terms that will qualify those Awards as 409A

A-17

Table of Contents

Awards, all Awards hereunder are intended to be Non-409A Awards unless otherwise expressly specified by the Committee.

- 19.3 <u>Unfunded Plan</u>. Participants shall have no right, title, or interest whatsoever in or to any investments which the Company may make to aid it in meeting its obligations under the Plan. Nothing contained in the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant, beneficiary, legal representative or any other person. To the extent that any person acquires rights from the Company under the Plan, such rights shall be no greater than the rights of an unsecured general creditor of the Company. All payments to be made hereunder shall be paid from the general funds of the Company and no special or separate fund shall be established and no segregation of assets shall be made to assure payment of such amounts except as expressly set forth in the Plan. The Plan is not intended to be subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
- **20. No Fractional Shares.** No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award. The Committee shall determine whether cash, or Awards, or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of fractional shares or whether such fractional shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited or otherwise eliminated. In the absence of an alternate determination by the Committee, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to any Award shall be rounded down to the next whole number, without any payment in respect of eliminated fractional shares.
- **21.** Additional Limitations on Payment, Settlement or Exercise of an Award. Participants may be required to comply with any timing or other restrictions with respect to the payment, settlement or exercise of an Award, including a window-period limitation, as may be imposed in the sole discretion of the Committee.
- 22. Duration. Amendment and Termination.
- 22.1 Amendment, Modification and Termination of the Plan. Except as provided in this Section 22.1, the Committee may at any time: (i) amend, modify, terminate or suspend the Plan, and (ii) alter or amend any or all Award Agreements hereunder to the extent permitted by the Plan and applicable law. Amendments of the Plan are subject to approval of the stockholders of the Company only as required by applicable law, regulation or stock exchange requirement, or if the amendment has the effect of increasing the total number of shares available under the Plan, except as contemplated by Section 14. No termination, suspension, modification or amendment of the Plan or any Award Agreement hereunder shall impair or adversely affect any right acquired by any Participant or such Participant s permitted transferee under an Award granted before the date of termination, suspension, modification or amendment unless the consent of such Participant or transferee is obtained. It is conclusively presumed that any adjustment for changes in capitalization provided for in Section 14 hereof does not adversely affect any right of a Participant or other person under an Award.
- 22.2 <u>Duration of the Plan</u>. The Plan shall remain in effect until all stock subject to it shall be distributed or all Awards have expired or lapsed, whichever is latest to occur, or the Plan is terminated pursuant to Section 22.1 hereof. No Award shall be granted under the Plan after the

A-18

Table of Contents

fifth anniversary of the Plan Effective Date, but Awards outstanding at that time shall remain outstanding and governed by the terms of the Plan.

23. Other Benefit and Compensation Programs.

- 23.1 <u>Non-Exclusivity of Plan</u>. The adoption of the Plan by the shareholders of the Company shall not be construed as amending, modifying or rescinding any previously approved incentive arrangement or as creating any limitations on the power of the Board or the Committee, as applicable, to adopt such other incentive arrangements as it may deem desirable, including, without limitation, the granting of stock options otherwise than under the Plan, and such arrangements may be either applicable generally or only in specific cases.
- 23.2 Compensation Under Other Plans. Payments and other benefits received by a Participant pursuant to an Award shall not be deemed a part of a Participant s regular, recurring compensation for purposes of any termination, indemnity or severance pay laws and shall not be included in, nor have any effect on, the determination of benefits under any other employee benefit plan, contract or similar arrangement provided by any Participating Company, unless expressly so provided by such other plan, contract or arrangement or the Committee determines in its sole discretion that an Award or portion of an Award should be so included.

24. Compliance With Applicable Legal Requirements.

- 24.1 <u>Registration or Approval</u>. The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver shares distributable pursuant to the Plan unless such issuance and/or delivery complies with all applicable legal requirements including, without limitation, compliance with the provisions of applicable state securities laws, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), the Exchange Act, and the requirements of the exchanges, if any, on which the Common Stock may, at that time, be listed.
- 24.2 <u>Restrictions on Transfer</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan or any Award Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan is not covered by a then-current registration statement under the Securities Act, and is not otherwise exempt from such registration, such shares shall be restricted against transfer to the extent required by the Securities Act and Rule 144 or other applicable regulations thereunder. Any certificates (or book entries) evidencing any of such shares shall be appropriately amended or have an appropriate legend placed thereon to reflect their status as restricted securities as aforesaid.

25. Multiple Awards.

The Committee may grant more than one Award to an Eligible Employee during the term of the Plan and/or in any Plan Year, either in addition to, or in substitution for, one or more Awards previously granted to that Eligible Employee.

26. Stock Certificates. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, to the extent the Plan provides for the issuance of stock certificates to reflect the issuance of shares of Common Stock, such issuance may be effected on a non-certificated basis to the extent not prohibited by applicable law or the applicable rules of any stock exchange on which the Common Stock is then traded.

A-19

Table of Contents

- **27. Governing Law.** To the extent that federal laws of the United States do not otherwise control, the Plan, Awards granted hereunder, Award Agreements and all actions taken pursuant to the Plan shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey, without giving effect to conflicts of law principles thereof.
- **28. Severability.** In the event any provision of the Plan is held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of the Plan, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.
- **29. Successors and Assigns**. The Plan and all Award Agreements hereunder shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors (including by way of merger), assigns and heirs of the respective parties.
- **30. Effective Date.** The Plan has been adopted by the Board and will become effective as of the Plan Effective Date.

A-20

Table of Contents

APPENDIX B

RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC. 2009 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2009

1. Purpose of Plan

The purpose of the 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Plan), is to provide to Participants (as defined herein) an opportunity, through regular payroll savings, to acquire Common Stock (as defined herein) at a discount from its market price, and to thereby offer Participants a share in the growth of Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. (the Company). The Plan is intended to meet the requirements of an employee stock purchase plan within the meaning of Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time (the Code).

2. Certain Definitions

- 2.1 Account shall mean the account or accounts created under Section 5.1, to which shall be credited all amounts deducted from the Participants Compensation pursuant to a payroll deduction authorization.
 - 2.2 Board shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.
 - 2.3 Committee shall mean the Committee described in Section 11 to administer the Plan.
 - 2.4 Common Stock shall mean the Common Stock, \$0.10 stated value per share, of the Company.
- 2.5 Compensation shall mean, for any Plan Year, a Participant s basic salary and commissions earned in such Plan Year, exclusive of overtime, bonuses and any other special pay.
- 2.6 Disability shall mean a physical or mental incapacity of a Participant which renders such Participant totally and permanently incapable of performing his or her duties with a Participating Company, provided that a Participant s receipt of Social Security disability benefits shall be conclusive evidence of Disability hereunder.
- 2.7 Eligible Employee shall mean, for any Plan Year, any full-time employee of a Participating Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an Eligible Employee shall not include any employee: (i) whose customary employment is 20 hours or less per week or not more than five months in any Plan Year, or (ii) who, immediately after an Option is granted, owns (within the meaning of Section 424(d) of the Code) Common Stock possessing five percent or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of Common Stock of the Company or of any subsidiary of the Company.
- 2.8 Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock shall mean, on the date of determination: (i) if the Common Stock is then listed on either the New York Stock Exchange or another national securities exchange, the last sale price of a share of Common Stock reflected on the consolidated tape at the close of the New York Stock Exchange or such other exchange on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day, on the first preceding date on which a sale of Common Stock so occurred; (ii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on any such exchange, but is quoted on an over-the-counter market system then in use (OTC System), the last sale price of a share of Common Stock at the close on such OTC System on such date, or if there has been no sale on such day on such OTC System, then the average of the bid and asked prices for a share of Common Stock on the OTC System at the end of such day

Table of Contents

(provided, that if the Common Stock is then listed on: (A) more than one exchange, (B) more than one OTC system, or (C) at least one exchange and one OTC System, the principal market for such securities, as determined by the Committee in good faith, shall be used); and (iii) if the Common Stock is not then listed on a national securities exchange or an OTC System, the amount determined by the Committee (or in accordance with procedures approved by the Committee) in good faith to be the fair market value.

- 2.9 Option shall mean the option granted to a Participant pursuant to Section 4.
- 2.10 Option Price shall mean, for each Plan Year, unless otherwise determined by the Committee (but which will in no event be less than), the lesser of 85% of the Fair Market Value of the Common Stock on (i) the first trading day of such Plan Year or (ii) the last trading day of such Plan Year.
- 2.11 Participant shall mean any Eligible Employee who has become a Participant in the Plan as provided by Section 3 and whose participation has not been terminated as provided by Sections 7 through 9.
- 2.12 Participating Company shall mean the Company and any subsidiary corporation of the Company (within the meaning of Section 424(f) of the Code), which the Committee, in its discretion, authorizes to participate in the Plan.
 - 2.13 Plan Year shall mean the calendar year.

3. Participation

An Eligible Employee shall become a Participant as of the first day of any Plan Year by filing a payroll deduction authorization (and any other documentation that the Committee may require) for such Plan Year not later than the date set by the Committee.

4. Grant of Option and Purchase of Stock

- 4.1 An Option will be granted to each Participant as of the first trading day of each Plan Year to purchase from the Company the number of full shares of Common Stock that may be purchased at the Option Price with the aggregate amount that will be credited to such Participant in his or her Account during that Plan Year, provided that the Committee shall specify a maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by any Participant pursuant to such Option, and may specify an aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be purchased by all Participants in a Plan Year.
- 4.2 The Option of each Participant will be deemed to be fully and automatically exercised by such Participant on the last trading day of such Plan Year, if the Participant has notified the Committee that such Participant elects to exercise his or her Option by filing the appropriate form provided for that purpose not later than the date set by the Committee. If the Participant does not elect to exercise his or her Option, the total amount credited to such Participant in his or her Account will be returned to such Participant.
- 4.3 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Participant shall have a right to purchase Common Stock under the Plan which has an aggregate Fair Market Value in excess of \$25,000 in any Plan Year, determined on the first trading of such Plan Year.

5. Payroll Deductions

5.1 There will be deducted on each pay date from the Compensation paid to a Participant during each Plan Year such whole percentage of his Compensation (up to but not more than 10%) designated by the Participant on a payroll deduction authorization form. All amounts so deducted shall be placed in an Account in the Participant s name and shall be held as provided under the Plan.

B-2

Table of Contents

- 5.2 A Participant may elect once during a Plan Year, by filing the appropriate form provided for such purpose not later than the date set by the Committee, to reduce (but not increase) his payroll deduction for the remainder of the Plan Year.
- 5.3 A Participant may elect once during a Plan Year, by filing the appropriate form provided for such purpose not later than the date set by the Committee, to discontinue any payroll deduction for the remainder of the Plan Year. Upon discontinuance of contributions, unless the Participant elects a withdrawal pursuant to Section 7, the amount in his or her Account will remain therein and be subject to the terms hereof, including Section 4.2.
- 5.4 A Participant who was a Participant during the preceding Plan Year, and whose Option for that year was exercised, may elect (by filing the appropriate form provided for such purpose not later than the date set by the Committee), to not have any residual funds insufficient for the purchase of a full share of Common Stock returned to him and to have such residual funds credited to such Participant s Account for the current Plan Year.

6. Interest

The Participant will not receive any interest on the amounts held in such Participant s Account at any time.

7. Withdrawals

At any time during a Plan Year, a Participant may terminate his or her participation in the Plan by filing the appropriate form provided for that purpose not later than the date set by the Committee. In such event, all payroll deductions shall cease; the total amount credited to such Participant s Account shall be promptly returned to such Participant; and the Option granted to such Participant for such Plan Year shall terminate.

8. Termination of Employment, Death and Disability

The Option of a Participant whose employment is terminated for any reason other than retirement (including death and Disability) shall terminate upon such termination; and the total amount in his Account will be promptly paid to such Participant or, in the event of the death of such Participant, to the estate thereof.

9. Retirement

A Participant who retires after reaching his or her normal retirement date (as set forth on the date of such retirement in the Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. 401k Plan) shall not be affected by reason of such retirement, except that there will be no payroll deductions pursuant to the Plan after the effective date of such retirement.

10. Stock Certificates/Uncertificated Shares

- 10.1 As soon as practicable after actual or deemed exercise of an Option by a Participant, the Company will deliver to such Participant a certificate for the shares of Common Stock purchased (or evidence of book-entry issuance), which shares shall be registered in the name of the Participant on the books of the Company.
- 10.2 A Participant shall have no rights as a shareholder with respect to any shares covered by an Option until the date of the issuance of a stock certificate (or book entry recordation) to such Participant for such shares.

B-3

Table of Contents

10.3 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all references to shares of Common Stock in the Plan shall be deemed to refer to either shares represented by certificates or uncertificated shares, and no such reference shall be construed to require certificated shares or to grant additional or different rights or obligations as between the holders of certificated and uncertificated shares of the Company.

11. Administration of the Plan

- 11.1 The Plan shall be administered by a Committee comprised of two directors (or such greater number, as may be determined by the Board from time to time), each of whom, unless otherwise determined by the Board, is an outside director—within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, and is not a Participant. In the absence of a contrary appointment, Committee—shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board.
- 11.2 The Committee shall have the authority to interpret the Plan, and to adopt, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, and to make all other determinations and take all other actions necessary or advisable for the implementation and administration of the Plan.
- 11.3 Determinations and actions of the Committee on all matters relating to the Plan shall be in its sole discretion and shall be conclusive.

12. Amendment and Termination of the Plan

- 12.1 The Committee may, at any time, amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in any respect; provided, however, that no such termination or amendment shall adversely affect the rights of any Participant with respect to amounts previously credited to him or her in such Participant s Account.
 - 12.2 The Plan shall automatically terminate at the end of the 2013 Plan Year.

13. Non-Assignability

No Option shall be assignable or transferable except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution. Options shall be exercisable only by the Participants entitled thereto.

14. Dilution and other Adjustments

In the event of any change in the outstanding Common Stock as a result of a dissolution or liquidation of the Company, sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, merger or consolidation of the Company with or into any other corporation, statutory share exchange involving capital stock of the Company, reorganization, recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend, extraordinary dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, stock combination, rights offering, spin-off or other relevant change, the Committee may adjust the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which may be issued under the Plan, the Option Price of Options granted under the Plan, and any or all other matters deemed appropriate by the Committee, including, without limitation, making Options exercisable solely for the securities or other property received by the shareholders of the Company by reason of such transactions.

B-4

Table of Contents

15. Limitations on Issuance of Shares of Common Stock

- 15.1 Shares of Common Stock to be issued under the Plan shall be authorized but unissued, or treasury shares. The maximum number of shares of Common Stock which may be issued under the Plan shall be 200,000 shares.
- 15.2 No Participating Company shall be obligated to honor the exercise of any Option if such would constitute a violation of any applicable law or regulation.

16. Transferability

No right or interest of a Participant shall be assignable or transferable or subject to any lien, directly or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise. Any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge or other disposition of any right hereunder shall be null and void.

17. Limits on Liability

- 17.1 Any liability of the Company to any Participant with respect to any Option hereunder shall be based solely upon contractual obligations created by this Plan.
- 17.2 Except as may be required by law, neither the Company nor any member or former member of the Board or the Committee, nor any other person participating in any determination of any question under this Plan, or in the interpretation, administration or application of this Plan, shall have any liability to any party for any action taken, or not taken, in good faith under this Plan.
- 17.3 To the full extent permitted by law, each member and former member of the Committee and each person to whom the Committee delegates or has delegated authority under this Plan shall be entitled to indemnification by the Company against any claim, loss, liability, judgment, damage, cost and reasonable expense incurred by such member, former member or other person by reason of any action taken, failure to act or determination made in good faith under or with respect to this Plan.

18. Right to Terminate Employment

Nothing in this Plan shall confer upon any Participant who is an employee of any Participating Company the right to continue in the employment of any Participating Company or affect any right which such Participating Company may have to terminate or modify the employment of the Participant with or without cause.

19. Compliance with Applicable Legal Requirements

- 19.1 Registration or Approval. The Company shall not be required to issue or deliver a certificate for (or record any book entry issuance of) shares distributable pursuant to this Plan unless such issuance or recordation complies with all applicable legal requirements including, without limitation, compliance with the provisions of applicable state securities laws, the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act), the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the requirements of the exchanges, if any, on which the Company s shares of Common Stock may, at that time, be listed.
- 19.2 Restrictions on Transfer. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan, in the event that the disposition of shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to the Plan is not covered by a then-current registration statement under the Securities Act, and is not otherwise exempt from such registration, such shares shall be restricted against transfer to the extent required by the Securities Act and Rule 144 or other applicable regulations thereunder. The certificates evidencing any of such shares shall be

B-5

Table of Contents

appropriately amended or have an appropriate legend placed thereon to reflect their status as restricted securities as aforesaid.

20. Governing Law

To the extent that federal laws of the United States do not otherwise control, this Plan and all determinations made and actions taken pursuant to this Plan shall be governed by the laws of the state of New Jersey, without giving effect to conflicts of law principles thereof, and shall be construed accordingly.

21. Severability

In the event any provision of this Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of this Plan, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had not been included.

22. Adoption and Approval of the Plan

The Plan has been adopted by the Board on June 3, 2008, and, if duly approved by the Company s stockholders at the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, will be effective as of January 1, 2009.

B-6

Table of Contents

REVOCABLE PROXY RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC.

PLEASE MARK VOTES AS IN THIS EXAMPLE

THIS PROXY IS SOLICITED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Proxy for Annual Meeting of Shareholders, July 10, 2008

The undersigned, revoking all prior proxies, hereby appoints Bruce G. Crain and Raphael Benaroya, and each of them, as proxies with full power of substitution and resubstitution, and hereby authorizes them to represent and to vote as designated below the shares of Common Stock of Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. which the undersigned is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., to be held on Thursday, July 10, 2008 at 10:00 a.m. at Russ Berrie and Company, Inc., 111 Bauer Drive, Oakland, New Jersey, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

Please be sure to sign and date this Proxy in the box below.	Date			
sign. When signing as attorney, executor,	Co-holder (if any) sign above ne appears above. When shares are held by join administrator, trustee or guardian, please sign you full entity name by an authorized person, indicates the control of the c	your nam	e and indica	
1 Election of the directors to serve until the until their successors are elected and qu	the 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and palified.	For All o	Withhold All o	For All Except
Salibello, John Schaefer and Michael Zi	y to vote for any individual nominee, mark ided below.			
FOR	AGAINST	ABSTAIN		
o 3 Approval of the Russ Berrie and Compa 2009 Employee Stock Purchase Plan	o any, Inc.		0	
FOR	AGAINST	ABS	STAIN	
0	0		0	

Table of Contents

4. In their discretion, the proxies are authorized to vote upon all other matters which may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournments or postponements thereof.

The Board recommends a vote FOR each of the proposals set forth herein.

PLEASE CHECK BOX IF YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING. o

THIS PROXY WHEN PROPERLY SIGNED WILL BE VOTED AS DIRECTED HEREIN BY THE UNDERSIGNED. IF NO DIRECTION IS SPECIFIED, THIS PROXY WILL BE VOTED AS TO ALL SHARES OF THE UNDERSIGNED (i) FOR EACH OF THE PROPOSALS SET FORTH HEREIN; AND (ii) ACCORDING TO THE DISCRETION OF THE PROXY HOLDERS ON ANY OTHER MATTERS THAT MAY PROPERLY COME BEFORE THE MEETING OR ANY POSTPONEMENT OR ADJOURNMENT THEREOF.

Detach above card, sign, date and mail in postage paid envelope provided. RUSS BERRIE AND COMPANY, INC.

The above signed hereby acknowledges receipt, prior to the execution of this proxy, of the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the Proxy Statement furnished herewith with respect to the Russ Berrie and Company, Inc. 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

PLEASE MARK, SIGN, DATE AND RETURN THE PROXY CARD PROMPTLY, USING THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE

PROMPTLY, USING THE ENCLUSED ENVELOPE
IF YOUR ADDRESS HAS CHANGED, OR IF YOU HAVE ANY COMMENTS, PLEASE INDICATE IN THE
SPACE PROVIDED BELOW AND RETURN THIS PORTION WITH THE PROXY IN THE ENVELOPE
PROVIDED.